
2024 Regular Meetings 
January 16; February 20; March 19; April 16; May 21; June 18; July 16; August 20; September 17; October 15; 

November 19; and December 17 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008;  

 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

SPECIAL MEETING 
Via Teleconference 

    Wednesday, November 20th, 2024 at 6:00 PM 
https://leydenrocklife.com/ 

 
Brett Vernon, President Term to May 2027 
Scott J. Plummer, Secretary Term to May 2027 
Jeff Cunningham, Treasurer Term to May 2025 
Christian Ardita, Assistant Secretary Term to May 2025 
Jen Langhals, Assistant Secretary Term to May 2025 

 

Link:  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87069321837?pwd=4Mct7CeO9uh

mj2CM2NeOF4vwINEa3y.1 
Meeting ID: 870 6932 1837 

Passcode: 379467 
+1-720-707-2699 

 
NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order/Declaration of Quorum 
2. Director Conflict of Interest Disclosures 
3. Approval of Agenda 
4. Public Comment – Members of the public may express their views to the Board on matters that 

affect the District on items not otherwise on the agenda. Comments will be limited to three (3) 
minutes per person. 

5. Consent Agenda: 
a. Approval of Minutes from October 15th, 2024 Special Meeting (enclosure) 

b. Approval of Minutes from November 7th, 2024 Special Meeting (enclosure) 

c. Approval of Agreement with Lee Design Group for Design Review Services (enclosure) 
d. Approval of Agreement with Bedrock LLC for Removal of Sunshades at the Clubhouse 

(enclosure) 
e. Approval of Agreement with Peak One Pool for Pool Maintenance Services (enclosure) 
f. Approval of First Amendment to the Agreement with Weed Wranglers Inc. for Noxious 

Weed and Prairie Dog Control Services (enclosure) 
g. Approval of Second Amendment to the Agreement with Advance HOA for District 

Management Services (enclosure) 
h. Approval of Third Amendment to the Agreement with Mile High Pools LLC for Pool Gate 

Monitor Services (enclosure) 
i. Approval of Agreement with Pinnacle Consulting Group for District Accounting Services 

https://leydenrocklife.com/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87069321837?pwd=4Mct7CeO9uhmj2CM2NeOF4vwINEa3y.1
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87069321837?pwd=4Mct7CeO9uhmj2CM2NeOF4vwINEa3y.1


2024 Regular Meetings 
January 16; February 20; March 19; April 16; May 21; June 18; July 16; August 20; September 17; October 15; 

November 19; and December 17 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008; 

(enclosure) 
j. Approval of Agreement with Moon Hopper Inflatables LLC for Inflatable Rental Contract 

for November 16, 2024 (enclosure)
k. Approval of Agreement with Diann Smith d/b/a The Smithsonian for Live Musical 

Performance (enclosure)
l. Approval of Agreement with Amaezing Entertainment LLC for Photo Booth Services 

(enclosure)
m. Approval of Agreement with Broken Spoke LLC for Wagon Rides at Fall Fest (enclosure)
n. Approval of Agreement with Keesen Landscape for Landscape Maintenance Services 

(enclosure)
o. Approval of Agreement with Preservation Tree Care for Tree Maintenance Services 

(enclosure)
p. Approval of Agreement with Tashmo Ko., Co. d/b/a Serendipity Catering (enclosure)
q. Approval of Agreement with Republic Services/Allied Waste for 2025 (enclosure)
r. Approval of Agreement with Timberline Mechanical for Preventative Maintenance Labor 

(enclosure)
s. Approval of Agreement with Done & Dusted d/b/a Helping Hand for 2025 Cleaning 

Services (enclosure)
t. Consider Ratification of Requisition No. 19 Related to the District’s General Obligation 

(Limited Tax Convertible to Unlimited Tax) refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 
2021 (enclosure)

u. Consider Ratification of Requisition No. 20 Related to the District’s General Obligation 
(Limited Tax Convertible to Unlimited Tax) refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 
2021 (enclosure)

6. Legal Matters
a. Consider Approval of a Resolution Establishing Guidelines for the Processing and

Collection of Delinquent Fees and Covenant Enforcement Charges (enclosure)
b. Consider Approval of a Resolution Regarding Policies, Procedures and Penalties for the

Enforcement of the Governing Documents (enclosure)
7. Financial Matters

a. Consider Approval of Payables/Financials (enclosure)
b. Other Financial Matters

8. District Management Matters
a. District Manager’s Report (enclosure)
b. Discussion and Consider Approval of Recommendation for Changing Pet Waste Station

Vendor (enclosure)
i. Approval of Agreement with Pet Scoop for Pet Waste Services (enclosure)

c. Discussion and Consider Approval of the 2025 Sponsorship Program (enclosure)
d. Discussion and Consider Approval of Arvada Cert Training Class Request
e. Other Management Matters

9. Capital Projects Discussion
a. Discussion Regarding Trail Improvements Schedule
b. Consider Approval of Proposal from Kimley Horn and Valerian for Trail Planning and



2024 Regular Meetings 
January 16; February 20; March 19; April 16; May 21; June 18; July 16; August 20; September 17; October 15; 

November 19; and December 17 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008;  

 

City Approval (enclosure) 
c. Other Capital Project Matters 

10. Director’s Matters 
a. Other Director’s Matters 

11. Other Business 
 

12. Adjourn 



1237.0006 

 
 MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS OF 
   
 LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

 
 Held: Tuesday, October 15th, 2024, at 6:00 P.M. via 

teleconference and at 17685 W. 83rd Dr., Arvada, CO  
 
 
Attendance The special meeting of the Board of Directors of the Leyden Rock 

Metropolitan District was called and held as shown above and in 
accordance with the applicable statutes of the State of Colorado. The 
following directors, having confirmed their qualification to serve on 
the Board, were in attendance: 
 

                                                                 Brett Vernon 
Scott Plummer  
Christian Ardita 
Jen Langhals 
Jeff Cunningham 
 

 
 Also present: Megan J. Murphy, Esq., White Bear Ankele Tanaka & 

Waldron, District General Counsel; Katie Call, AdvanceHOA, 
District Management; Angie Sherman, Keesen Landscape; Chris 
Woodley, Mountain Media Production, Co., LLC; and members of 
the public.  
 

Call to Order  
 

It was noted that a quorum of the Board was present, and the 
meeting was called to order. 
 
 

Conflict of Interest 
Disclosures 
 

Ms. Murphy advised the Board that, pursuant to Colorado law, 
certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official action at 
the meeting. Ms. Murphy reported that disclosures for those 
directors with potential or existing conflicts of interest were filed 
with the Secretary of State’s Office and the Board at least 72 hours 
prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado law, and those 
disclosures were acknowledged by the Board. Ms. Murphy noted 
that a quorum was present and inquired into whether members of the 
Board had any additional disclosures of potential or existing 
conflicts of interest regarding any matters scheduled for discussion 
at the meeting. No additional disclosures were noted. 
 
 



1237.0006 

Agenda 
 

The Board reviewed the agenda. Following discussion, upon a motion 
duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved the agenda 
as amended.  
 

Public Comment 
 

Mr. Newton, who resides at 17008 W. 86th Avenue, noted his 
opposition to Jellyfish lighting in the neighborhood. Mr. Newton 
believes they would not be beneficial to the neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Ashman, who is with the Arvada Area Horseman’s Association, 
informed the Board about a potential train station on the northwest 
corner of Highway 72 & Indiana. Mr. Ashman noted an upcoming 
public hearing on the matter regarding the zoning site. The zoning site 
would require ultra high-density housing of at least 5 stories tall, 
required b HB1313.  
 

Consent Agenda Following a summary by Ms. Murphy, the items on the consent 
agenda were ratified, approved, or accepted in one motion duly made 
and seconded and unanimously carried: 
 

a. Approval of Minutes from September 17th, 2024 
Special Meeting  

b. Renewal of Property and Liability Schedule and 
Limits, Workers Compensation Coverage, and SDA 
Membership for 2025. 

 
Legal Matters 
 

 

Consider Adoption of 
2025 Annual 
Administrative Resolution 
 

Ms. Murphy presented the 2025 Annual Administrative Resolution to 
the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and 
seconded, the Board unanimously adopted the resolution.  

Consider Approval of 
Amended and Restated 
Public Records Request 
Policy  
 

Ms. Murphy presented the Amended and Restated Public Records 
Request Policy to the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion 
duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved the policy.  

Discussion Regarding 
Document Inventory and 
Make a Final 
Determination for 
Remediation of District 
Documents 
 

Ms. Murphy engaged in discussion with the Board and the Board 
determined to keep the current documents as posted on the District’s 
website.  

Discussion and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution 
Calling May 6, 2025 

Ms. Murphy presented the Resolution Calling May 6, 2025 Election to 
the Board. The Board engaged in discussion regarding SB233, 
HB1001, and a TABOR election. Following discussion, the Board 



1237.0006 

Election 
 

determined to defer this item to the November meeting.  

Discussion regarding 
Crime Coverage 
increasing to $100,000 
 

Ms. Murphy engaged in discussion with the Board regarding an 
increase in crime coverage to $100,000. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved the 
increase.  

Other Legal Matters 
 

None.  

Financial Matters 
 

 

Consider Approval of 
Payables/Financials  
 

Director Cunningham presented the Schedule of Cash Position and 
Claims in the amount of $52,098.80. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded the Board unanimously approved 
the schedule of cash position and claims.  
 

Discussion and Consider 
Approval of Proposals for 
Accounting Services 
 

Director Cunningham presented proposals from Pinnacle and 
AdvanceHOA to the Board for accounting services. Following 
discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board 
unanimously approved the proposal from Pinnacle subject to final 
review by Directors Vernon and Cunningham.  
 

Discussion and Consider 
Approval of Fourth 
Amended and Restated 
Resolution Concerning 
the Imposition of an 
Operations Fee 
 

Ms. Murphy presented the Fourth Amended and Restated Resolution 
Concerning the Imposition of an Operations Fee to the Board. 
Following discussion, the Board deferred this resolution.  

Conduct Public Hearing 
on 2024 Budget 
Amendment and 
Consider Adoption of 
Resolution Amending 
2024 Budget 
 

The public hearing on the 2024 Budget Amendment was opened. 
Ms. Murphy noted that the notice of public hearing was provided in 
accordance with Colorado Law. No written objections have been 
received prior to the meeting. There being no public comment, the 
hearing was closed. 

 
The Board reviewed the Resolution Amending the 2024 Budget. 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the 
Board unanimously adopted the resolution amending the General 
Fund to $2,100,000. 
 

Discussion Regarding 
Reserve Levels for All 
Budgets and Funds  
 

The Board engaged in discussion regarding an operations and 
maintenance reserve fund of two months worth of operating 
expenses. The Board requested the 2025 budget show: $280,000 in 
Operational Reserves, $80,000 in Replacement Reserves, and 
$360,000 left in Ending Fund Balance. The Board requested to move 
the reserve funding from the Special Revenue Fund to the General 
Fund in the amount of $68,100.  



1237.0006 

 
Conduct Public Hearing 
on 2025 Budget and 
Consider Adoption of 
Resolution Adopting 
2025 Budget and 
Appropriating Funds  
 

The public hearing was opened on the proposed 2025 Budget. Ms. 
Murphy noted that the notice of public hearing was provided in 
accordance with Colorado law. No written objections have been 
received prior to the meeting. Director Plummer noted that this is 
rotten and there is a lack of transparency regarding the budget 
hearing because it was not included in the Hogback Hearld.  
 
The Board reviewed the 2025 Budget Resolution. Following 
discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board 
adopted the resolution adopting the 2025 Budget, appropriating 
funds therefor as shown in the 2025 Budget, subject to receipt of 
final assessed valuation. Director Plummer voted against the 
adoption of the resolution.  
 

Other Financial Matters 
 

None.  
 

District Management 
Matters 
 

 

District Manager’s 
Report 
 

Ms. Call presented the report to the Board.  
 
 

Consider Approval of 
Renewal of Independent 
Contractor Agreement 
with Advantage Pest 
Management 
 

Ms. Call presented the Renewal of Independent Contractor Agreement 
with Advantage Pest Management to the Board. Following discussion, 
upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved 
the renewal.  

Discussion and Consider 
Approval on Landscape 
Proposed Filing 1 Trail 
Repair 
 

Ms. Call presented the Landscape Proposed Filing 1 Trail Repair to 
the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and 
seconded, the Board unanimously approved.  

Discussion and Consider 
Approval on Landscape 
Proposal Clubhouse Rose 
Maintenance  
 

Ms. Call presented the Landscape Proposal Clubhouse Rose 
Maintenance to the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion 
duly made and seconded, the Board approved the proposal. Director 
Cunningham voted against approval of the proposal.  

Discussion and Consider 
Approval for 
Architectural Open Space 
Gate Request  
 

Ms. Call presented the Architectural Open Space Gate Request to 
the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and 
seconded, the Board unanimously approved the request.  

Discussion and Consider 
Approval for Guideline 

Ms. Call presented the Guideline Update Lighting/Jellyfish Lights to 
the Board. Following discussion, the Board requested Ms. Call to 



1237.0006 

Update Lighting/Jellyfish 
Lights  

work with Ms. Smith.  

Discussion and Consider 
Approval for Guideline 
Update Railings 
 

Ms. Call presented the Guideline Update Railings to the Board. 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the 
Board approved the update and for Ms. Call to work with Ms. Smith. 
Director Plummer voted against the approving of the guideline 
update.  
 

Discussion for 2025 
Board Meeting Dates 
 

Ms. Call engaged in discussion with the Board regarding 2025 
meeting dates. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and 
seconded, the Board unanimously approved the same schedule as 
2024.  
 

Other Management 
Matters 
 
 

None.  

Capital Projects 
Discussion 
 

 

Consider Approval of 
Change Order with CCE  
 

Ms. Call presented the Change Order with CCE to the Board. Ms. 
Call noted permit and licenses fees that were not included. 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the 
Board unanimously approved the change order in the amount of 
$2,126.93. 
 

Other Capital Project 
Matters  
 

Director Vernon provided an update to the Board regarding The 
Architerra Group. Director Vernon noted plans to be submitted to 
the City of Arvada.  
 
Director Lenghals requested an update from Ms. Cooley regarding 
the overall project, deliverables, and dates.  
  

Director’s Matters 
 

 

Discussion Regarding 
Mountain Bike Trail 
Presentation to City 
Council 
 

Director Vernon noted communication from Mr. Brown regarding 
construction in Barbara Gulch including trails and the cell phone 
tower. Mr. Brown provided his presentation to the Arvada City 
Council on October 14th and is asking the District to join him in a 
joint request to construct trails within the District. 
 

Discussion Regarding 
Board Liaisons  

Director Vernon requested set rules regarding how the liaisons work 
with the District Manager and noted that Ms. Call needs to 
determine her capacity for District tasks.  
 



1237.0006 

Wi-Fi in the Clubhouse Director Vernon noted issues with the Wi-Fi in the clubhouse and 
noted it is being worked on.  

Other Director’s Matters None.  

Other Business None.  
 

Adjournment 
 

There being no further business to come before the Board and 
following discussion and upon motion duly made, seconded, and 
unanimously carried, the Board determined to adjourn the meeting. 
 
 
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the above-referenced meeting. 
 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Secretary for the Meeting 
 
The foregoing minutes were approved by the Board of Directors on 
the 19th day of November, 2024.  

 
 



1237.0006; 
1 

MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 

 
OF 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
 
Held:  Thursday, November 7th, 2024 at 6:00 p.m., via 
teleconference. 

 
Attendance The special meeting referenced above was called and held in 

accordance with the applicable statutes of the State of Colorado. 
The following directors, having confirmed their qualification to 
serve, were in attendance: 
 
Brett Vernon 
Scott J. Plummer *arrived where indicated 
Jeff Cunningham 
Christian Ardita 
Jen Langhals 
 

 Also present: Megan J. Murphy, Esq., White Bear Ankele Tanaka 
& Waldron; Katie Call, AdvanceHOA, District Management; 
Katie Cooley, Ascent Land Development; and members of the 
public. 

Call to Order  

 

It was noted that a quorum of the Board was present, and the 
meeting was called to order. 
 

Conflict of Interest 
Disclosures 

 

Ms. Murphy advised the Board that, pursuant to Colorado law, 
certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official action 
at the meeting. Ms. Murphy reported that disclosures for those 
directors with potential or existing conflicts of interest were filed 
with the Secretary of State’s Office and the Board at least 72 hours 
prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado law, and those 
disclosures were acknowledged by the Board. Ms. Murphy noted 
that a quorum was present and inquired into whether members of 
the Board had any additional disclosures of potential or existing 
conflicts of interest regarding any matters scheduled for discussion 
at the meeting. No additional disclosures were noted. 
 

Agenda 

 

The Board reviewed the agenda. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved 
the agenda as presented.  



1237.0006; 
2 

Public Comment 

 

Mr. Hill inquired about the Zoom link and meeting enclosures on 
the District’s website. Ms. Call confirmed the Zoom link and 
meeting enclosures were posted to the Home Page of the District 
website.  
 
 

Legal Matters  

Discussion regarding Letter 
from JMT Acquisition, LLC 
for Land Purchase Offer 

Ms. Murphy presented the letter from JMT Acquisition, LLC for 
Land Purchase Offer to the Board. Following discussion, the Board 
determined not to pursue this matter.  

Other Legal Matters 

*Director Plummer arrived 

None.  

District Management 
Matters 

None.  

Other Management Matters None.  

Capital Projects Discussion  

Discussion Regarding Trail 
Improvements Schedule 

Director Vernon presented the Trail Improvements Schedule from 
Architerra to the Board, noting that bids are scheduled to go out in 
June 2025. However, bids from Kimley-Korn and Valerian were 
already received. Director Vernon presented the estimated 
timelines from these bids, which were much faster than the 
timeline proposed by Architerra. Following discussion, the Board 
determined to review updated bids at the Board meeting on 
November 20th.  
 

Other Capital Project Matters Ms. Cooley provided an update to the Boards regarding the park 
plans with the City. Ms. Cooley noted progress with the City of 
Arvada and is optimistic about the City expediting the review. 
Once the City of Arvada reviews, the park project will be ready to 
go out for bid. Ms. Cooley noted it will take time to review the 
string of pearls packet from Xcel Energy.  
 
Director Vernon noted Ms. Cooley will provide a proposal for 
Project Management Services.  
 

Director’s Matters None. 

Other Director’s Matters Director Vernon noted electricity has been installed at the 
entrances and holiday lights will be installed in late November.  
 
Director Vernon requested easements from the Jefferson County 
Parkway Board for the cell phone tower trail projects.  



1237.0006; 
3 

 
The Board engaged in discussion regarding the next Board 
meeting. The Board requested to move the meeting to November 
20th at 6:00 p.m. 
 

Other Business  

Executive Session Upon motion of Director Vernon, seconded by Director Plummer, 
and upon an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the quorum 
present, the Board convened in executive session at 6:56 P.M. to 
determine positions relative to matters that may be subject to 
negotiations, developing strategy for negotiations, and instructing 
negotiations as it pertains to a resident request that the Board 
write to the City Council in support of a request to halt 
construction in Barbara Gulch.   
                              

Pursuant to § 24-6-402(2)(d.5)(II)(B), C.R.S., no record will be 
kept of the portion of this executive session that, in the opinion of 
the District’s attorney, constitutes privileged attorney-client 
communication pursuant to § 24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S. 

 

Also pursuant to § 24-6-402(4), C.R.S., the Board did not adopt 
any proposed policy, position, resolution, rule, regulation or take 
formal action during execution session. 

                                                

The Boards reconvened in regular session at 7:45 P.M.  

 
Adjourn There being no further business to come before the Boards, and 

following discussion and upon motion duly made, seconded, and 
unanimously carried, the Boards determined to adjourn the 
meeting.  
 
 
 
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the above-referenced meeting. 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Secretary for the Meeting 
 



1237.0006; 
4 

Theforegoing minutes were approved on the 20th day of November, 
2024.  

 
 
  



1237.0006; 
5 

ATTORNEY STATEMENT 

REGARDING PRIVILEGED ATTORNEY-CLIENT COMMUNICATION 

 

Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(d.5)(II)(B), C.R.S., I attest that, in my capacity as the attorney 
representing Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, I attended the executive session meeting Leyden 
Rock Metropolitan District convened at 6:50 p.m. on June 4th, 2024 for the sole purpose of 
discussing the purpose of receiving legal advice pursuant to §24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S. as it relates 
to vandalism at the Leyden Rock Clubhouse. I further attest it is my opinion that all of the executive 
session discussion constituted a privileged attorney-client communication as provided by Section 
24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S. and, based on that opinion, no further record, written or electronic, was 
kept or required to be kept pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(b), C.R.S. or Section 24-6-
402(2)(d.5)(II)(B), C.R.S. 

 

  ____________________________ 

Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 

 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

DESIGN REVIEW SERVICES 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including all exhibits attached 

hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 26th day of September, 2024, by and between 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political 

subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and LEE DESIGN GROUP, LLC a 

Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 

referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 

of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 

maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 

into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 

hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 

needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 

and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 

herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES

A. Services.  The Contractor shall provide all labor and materials necessary to

fulfill the duties and responsibilities (the “Services”) as described in Exhibit A (the “Scope of 

Services”) and in Article III of this Agreement.  In the case of conflict, terms in this Agreement 

superseded those in Exhibit A.  The Contractor can only obligate the District  as explicitly provided 

in this Agreement or as authorized by the District’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). 

B. Changes to Services.  A change in the Scope of Services shall not be

effective unless authorized through a written amendment to this Agreement signed by both Parties. 

If the Contractor proceeds without such written authorization, the Contractor shall be deemed to 

have waived any claim for additional compensation, including claims based on the theory of unjust 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 2 

enrichment, quantum meruit, or implied contract.  Except as expressly provided herein or as 

otherwise provided in writing by the District, no agent, employee, or representative of the District 

is authorized to modify any term of this Agreement. 

C. Additional Services.  The District may request that the Contractor provide

additional services not set forth in the Scope of Services.  The terms and conditions of such services 

shall be subject to agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant to a written service or 

work order or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 

shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 

compensable amount. 

D. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any

and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 

Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 

any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  The 

Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it becomes aware. 

The Contractor shall maintain public safety while also taking all reasonable steps to preserve all 

physical evidence and information that may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a 

potential claim.  The Contractor shall provide the District the opportunity to review and inspect 

such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 

injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 

whether in storage on or off site or under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of 

its subcontractors. 

II. TERM AND TERMINATION

A. Term.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 2025, and

continue until December 31, 2025 or until terminated as provided herein this Article II. 

B. Termination by Completion of Services. This Agreement shall 

automatically terminate should all Services contracted for be completed. 

C. Termination for Convenience.  This Agreement may be terminated for

convenience by either Party upon delivery of thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the non-

terminating party, provided that the terminating party has not failed to materially perform in 

accordance with the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement and is not otherwise in 

default of any of the terms of this Agreement. 

D. Termination for Cause. If a Party defaults of this Agreement, the non-

defaulting Party will notify the defaulting Party. The defaulting Party has ten (10) days from 

receiving the notice to cure the default. If the default cannot be cured within ten (10) days but the 

defaulting Party is actively pursuing a cure, a reasonable extension may be granted at the sole 

discretion of the non-defaulting Party. The nature of the default will be considered in determining 

whether and extension is granted. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 3 

1. If a default is not cured as outlined in Article II.D., the non-

defaulting party can terminate this Agreement for cause and enforce the defaulting party’s 

obligations through legal means. The non-defaulting party can terminate at any time after the 

failure to cure, by providing written notice to the defaulting party. This notice must include the 

cause for termination and the defaulting Party’s failure to cure. 

2. If a Party becomes bankrupt, assigns assets for creditor benefit, or

materially breaches this Agreement, the other Party is excused from further performance and the 

Agreement is automatically terminated for cause.  A Party is considered bankrupt from the 

bankruptcy petition filing date, regardless of the bankruptcy chapter. 

E. Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor will be

paid for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the termination date.  The Contractor will 

assist the District in transitioning all work and work product, with no additional charges for this 

transition. 

F. Automatic Renewal. This Agreement renews automatically each January 1

for an additional year unless (i) all Services have been completed and it terminates automatically; 

(ii) it is terminated for cause or convenience under Article II; or (iii) the District decides not to

fund this Agreement for the next year.

III. PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS AND RESPONSIBILITY

A. Preliminary Examination. The Contractor has assessed: (i) the nature and

location of the Services; (ii) the ground configuration for performing the Services; (iii) the 

necessary labor, materials, equipment, and facilities; (iv) the general and local conditions related 

to the Services; and (v) all other factors affecting the Services. The Contractor enters this 

Agreement based solely on these assessments, not of any representations not in this Agreement 

made by the District or its agents. 

B. Performance. The Contractor must provide Services under this Agreement

with the same level of care and skill typically exercised by professionals in the same field under 

similar circumstances.  The Contractor will perform the Services within the specified time and will 

minimize disruption to the District. The Contractor has or will acquire the necessary skill and 

experience to perform the Services to professional standards. If the Contractor's performance does 

not meet these standards, the Contractor will re-perform the Services at the District's request, 

without additional compensation.  

C. Timeliness.  The Contractor will use reasonable efforts to complete the

Services promptly.  If delays occur due to uncontrollable factors or expected changes in the scope 

or type of services, the contractor will notify the District promptly and negotiate an adjustment of 

time and/or compensation. The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the performance 

of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control, including delays caused by Acts 

of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act in a timely 

manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or disapprove of 

Contractor’s Services in a timely manner. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 4 

D. Compliance.  The Contractor will comply with all Laws while providing

Services. “Laws” include federal, state, county, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances; 

licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; hazardous waste storage, use, and disposal laws; 

safety and health regulations, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; Wage 

and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, immigration laws; and Colorado Department of 

Public Health and Environment rules and regulations. 

E. Monthly Status Report. At the District's request, the Contractor will provide

a narrative status report by the 25th of each month. This report will outline work progress, results, 

Services performed, and anticipated Services ("Monthly Report"). The District may waive or 

extend the report deadline if it's in its interest. 

F. Performance Obligations. The Contractor's responsibilities and obligations

under this Agreement are not affected by the presence of any District agent, consultant, 

subconsultant, or employee. District review, acceptance, or approval of the Services or documents 

does not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors, nor does it 

waive any rights under this Agreement. 

G. Subcontractors.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the

District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 

Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 

and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 

of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve or affect in any manner the 

Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor shall not 

subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 

that every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under this 

Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 

Agreement in Article VII.  Prior to commencing any Services, the Contractor shall provide 

evidence to the District of the subcontractor’s insurance coverage, which must meet or exceed the 

requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that all such subcontracts shall provide 

that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon termination of this 

Agreement, other than payment for Services rendered prior to the date of any such termination. 

IV. COMPENSATION

A. General.  Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement

shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A (the 

“Compensation Schedule”).  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor 

shall provide the District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request 

for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the 

Contractor until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit B-1. 

B. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th

of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

1. An itemized statement of the Services performed.



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 5 

2. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process

payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 

service or work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 

incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 

each month may be processed the following month. 

C. Timing for Payment.  The District will pay for the Services within thirty

(30) days of receipt of a satisfactory invoice and, if applicable, a detailed Monthly Report. If a

Board meeting cannot be scheduled in time to review an invoice, the Board authorizes payment as

long as it does not exceed the budgeted amount.

D. Reimbursable Expenses.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all

expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement 

or compensation except as provided in the Compensation Schedule, unless said reimbursement or 

compensation is approved in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Any 

request for reimbursement must be accompanied by receipts or other acceptable proof of 

expenditure.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will be reimbursable at the Contractor’s 

actual cost. 

V. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

A. General.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and shall make no

representation that it is a District employee for any purpose.  Notwithstanding any other provision 

of this Agreement, all employees or agents of the Contractor shall be, and remain at all times, 

employees or agents of the Contractor for all purposes.  The Contractor shall have full authority to 

select the means and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without detailed 

control or direction from the District.  The Contractor shall be responsible for supervising its own 

employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, and representatives. 

B. Insurance Coverage and Employment Benefits.  The District is not

obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any 

kind for the Contractor or its employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, or representatives, 

including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: local, state, or federal income, tax 

contributions, insurance contributions (e.g., Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”) taxes), 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 

errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 

or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 

and the safety of its employees, subcontractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 

furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or subcontractors of the Contractor and 

will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor 

acknowledges that the Contractor and its employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, 

and representatives are not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits, and are not entitled 

to unemployment insurance benefits unless unemployment compensation coverage is 

provided by the Contractor or some other entity other than the District.  The Contractor 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 6 

further acknowledges that it is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on any moneys 

earned or paid pursuant to this Agreement.  

C. Equal Opportunity.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 

executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 

Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 

violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

D. Confidentiality.  The Contractor must keep all information confidential that 

the District deems confidential or that could harm the District if disclosed. However, this does not 

include information that is public, provided by a third party not bound by confidentiality to the 

District, or independently developed by the Contractor without using the District's confidential 

information. If the District notifies the Contractor that certain information is confidential, the 

Contractor must agree to a confidentiality agreement. The Contractor must ensure that its 

employees, agents, or subcontractors with access to the District's confidential information 

understand and agree to these obligations. 

E. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 

Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor. 

“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 

number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 

identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-

103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 

transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 

the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain security procedures and practices that are in 

compliance with industry standards and best practices, and are appropriate to the nature of the 

Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the Contractor that are: (i) appropriate to the nature 

of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed 

to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from unauthorized access, use, modification, 

disclosure, or destruction. 

F. Conflicts.  The Contractor must inform the District of any conflicts of 

interest or situations that could impact its ability to provide unbiased and effective services to the 

District.  

G. Ownership of Documents.  All documents produced by the Contractor for 

this Agreement remain the property of the District. The Contractor must provide the District with 

these documents at the District's request and keep copies on file for two years after termination of 

this Agreement. 

H. Liens and Encumbrances.  The Contractor has no right or interest in any 

District assets, or any claim or lien with respect to them, arising out of this Agreement or the 

performance of the Services. The Contractor waives and releases any lien claims, and will provide 

indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied or used in 

connection with the Services. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 7 

I. Assignment.  The Contractor  cannot assign this Agreement or its duties, 

without the written consent of the District.  Any attempt to do so will be null and void. 

VI. INSURANCE  

A. General.  The Contractor must maintain insurance coverage as set forth in 

Exhibit C during the entire term of this Agreement. The Contractor must notify the District within 

ten (10) days if its insurance coverage is cancelled or materially changed. The District has the right 

to confirm all coverage, information, or representations at any time. 

B. Insurance Certificates.  Before starting any work under this Agreement, the 

Contractor must provide the District with a certificate evidencing the required insurance policies.  

The Contractor must also ensure that its subcontractors maintain the required insurance coverage 

for the duration of their work on the project.  If the required coverage expires, the Contractor must 

provide replacement certificate(s) to the District. 

C. Failure to Acquire or Maintain Insurance.  The Contractor's failure to 

acquire or maintain the required insurance does not release it from any obligations in this 

Agreement. The Contractor is responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

VII. INDEMNIFICATION  

A. District Indemnitees.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold 

harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and 

consultants (collectively, the “District Indemnitees,” and individually, a “District Indemnitee”), 

from all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the 

“Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, by the District Indemnitees 

arising from the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees' errors, 

negligence, misconduct, or any criminal or tortious act in connection with this Agreement and/or 

the Contractor’s performance.  The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District 

Indemnitees for the District's negligence. This indemnification obligation will not be limited by 

any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by the 

Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts, and 

may include special, consequential, or punitive damages. 

B. Relevant Claims.  In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of 

any Claims under this Article VII within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the 

existence of such Claim, the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own 

selection, and the Contractor shall pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel. 

C. Relevant Insurance Coverage.  Insurance coverage requirements specified 

in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of 

this indemnification obligation.  The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional 

insurance that it deems necessary with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including 

the indemnity obligations set forth in this Article VII.  This defense and indemnification obligation 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

VIII. GOVERNING LAW  



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 8 

A. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the

District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 

irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including 

but not limited to forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 

shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 

the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 

this Agreement is otherwise terminated. 

B. Choice of Law.  Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to

conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 

of Colorado. 

C. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being

joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 

as an admission of fault or liability.   

IX. MISCELLANEOUS

A. Notices.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must

be in writing, and shall be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier 

service, or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If sent by registered or 

certified mail, notice will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) 

actual receipt by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be 

sent; or (ii) three days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly 

addressed, with postage prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or 

sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, notice will be deemed to have been given 

and received on the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally 

recognized overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any 

party hereto may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this 

Article IX, designate additional persons to whom notice or communications will be given, and 

designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or communication 

will be given.  Such notice or communications will be given to the parties at their addresses set 

forth below: 

District: LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT  

c/o Advance HOA Management, Inc. 

PO Box 370390 

Denver, CO 80237  

Attention: Katie Call 

Phone: (303) 482-2213 x360

Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

Centennial, CO 80122 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 9 

Attention: Megan Murphy 

Phone: (303) 858-1800

E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 

Contractor: LEE DESIGN GROUP LLC 

1905 Country Club Rd. 

Fort Collins, CO 80524 

Attention: Rachel Lee 

Phone: 970-407-8641

Email: Rachel@leedesigngrp.com 

B. Audits.  The District may audit the Contractor’s necessary books and

records to substantiate invoices and payments under this Agreement, with reasonable notice. The 

Contractor must maintain these records during the Agreement's term and for 3 years after its 

termination, and make them accessible to the District upon request. 

C. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, which supersedes all prior negotiations

and agreements related to the Services, represents the complete understanding between the Parties. 

Any modifications must be in writing and signed by both Parties. 

D. Binding Agreement.  This Agreement is binding on the Parties' heirs,

executors, administrators, successors, and assigns. 

E. No Waiver.  A waiver of any provision in this Agreement doesn't imply a

waiver of any other provision, nor does it constitute a continuous waiver unless expressly stated. 

Waiving a default doesn't mean waiving any futures default. 

F. Good Faith of Parties.  During the Agreement's performance or when

considering any requests, the Parties agree to act in good faith and not unreasonably delay or 

withhold any required or requested approval, acceptance, consent, or time extension. 

G. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District doesn't intend to

create a multi-year financial obligation. The Contractor understands the District's obligations 

extend only to funds appropriated for this Agreement and won't constitute a mandatory charge in 

any subsequent fiscal year. This Agreement doesn't delegate governmental powers or create a lien 

on District funds. The District's obligations are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations. 

H. Governmental Immunity.  This Agreement doesn’t waive, limit, or modify

any governmental immunity available to the District, its officials, employees, contractors, agents, 

or any person acting on its behalf particularly under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, 

§§ 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S.

I. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement won't be interpreted more strictly

against one Party, acknowledging that both Parties contributed to its preparation. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 10 

J. Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is declared invalid, it won't affect

the rest of the Agreement. A similar and enforceable provision will replace any invalid provision. 

K. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Enforcement of this Agreement and all

related rights are reserved to the Parties. No third party can claim any rights under this Agreement. 

Any non-party receiving benefits under this Agreement is an incidental beneficiary. 

L. Open Records.  All material under this Agreement may be subject to the

Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., C.R.S. 

M. Certificate of Good Standing.  The Contractor represents it is in good

standing with the Colorado Secretary of State, a Certificate of Good Standing is, attached as 

Exhibit D. 

N. Warranty.  The Contractor hereby guarantees that all workmanship,

materials, and equipment provided for the Services will be of good quality and new, unless 

specified otherwise in this Agreement.  The Contractor also warrants that its work will comply 

with all requirements of this Agreement and all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations.  The District’s satisfaction and acceptance of the Services are required, but payment 

for completed Services does not constitute final acceptance or discharge the Contractor’s 

obligation to correct future defects.  These warranties complement, not replace, any other 

warranties under Colorado law. 

O. Tax Exempt Status.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and

use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 

invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish the Contractor with a 

copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the 

Colorado Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase 

materials tax free.  The Contractor and its subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due 

to failure to apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

P. Headings for Convenience Only.  The provision headings, captions, and

titles in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and are not intended to define, 

limit, or describe any provisions scope or intent. 

Q. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement can be executed in several

counterparts, all together constituting one instrument. Executed copies delivered by facsimile or 

PDF email are deemed original, binding upon the signatories, and hold the same force and effect 

as the original, including for court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Design Review 

Services with Lee Design Group, LLC, dated September 26, 2024

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 11 

Each Party, by the signature of its representative below, confirms that it has authorized said 

representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado 

Officer of the District 

ATTEST: 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

General Counsel for the District 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 12 

STATE OF COLORADO 

) 

) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2024, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of LEYDEN ROCK 

METROPOLITAN DISTRICT. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires: 

Notary Public 



Consultant’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Design 

Review Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated September 26, 
20241237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 13 

CONTRACTOR: 

LEE DESIGN GROUP, LLC, a Colorado 

limited liability company 

Printed Name 

Title 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2024, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of LEE DESIGN GROUP, 

LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires: 

Notary Public 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 A-1

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES & COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 B-1

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

Note: All required insurance must comply with Article VI of this Agreement. 

1. Standard workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance covering all

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy

amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services

will be performed.

2. Commercial general liability insurance with minimum limits of $2,000,000 per occurrence

for bodily injury and property damage; $2,000,000 aggregate for designated locations; and

$1,000,000 umbrella. This insurance shall cover contractual liability, personal injury,

broad form property damage, and all major divisions of coverage including:

1. premises operations;

2. personal injury liability without employment exclusion;

3. limited contractual;

4. broad form property damages, including completed operations;

5. medical payments;

6. products and completed operations;

7. independent consultants coverage; and

8. coverage includes construction consulting, including liability from construction

defects, design negligence, and safety regulation breaches.

This policy must cover indemnification obligations in this Agreement related to bodily 

injury or property damage. 

3. Comprehensive auto liability insurance covering all vehicles used in the Services,

with limits of not less than $1,000,000 for bodily injury, property damage, and

third-party liabilities. This policy must cover indemnification obligations in this

Agreement related to bodily injury or property damage.

4. If the Contractor's services involve handling of the District's money or property, or

if the Contractor's services involve access to sensitive information of the District

which, if misused, could result in financial loss to the District, Contractor shall

secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of the District, covering the

Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be responsible for the

provision of Services where such activities contemplate the responsibility for

money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District against any

fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, or

other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be

in an amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District.

5. Any other insurance including, but not limited to, workers' compensation insurance,

professional liability insurance, and cyber liability insurance, as commonly

required for the type of services.



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 C-2 

6. Professional liability insurance of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence, covering claims 

made by District due to the Contractor's negligence or failure to perform its 

professional duties. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1436 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant: Bedrock LLC 

Title of Agreement/Contract: Removal and of shade structures at the Clubhouse 

Agreement/Contract Date:  September 26, 2024 
 

 This Contract (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a 

quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-

referenced contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

 

 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective as of the date 

above. 

 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 

“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and 

knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time 

period specified in this Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 

disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all 

applicable federal, state, county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

 

 2. Compensation of Services. The District shall provide compensation for the Services provided 

under this Agreement in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 

Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled 

to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is 

approved in writing by the District in advance of such expenses being incurred. Exhibit A may take any form.  In 

the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the 

terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and 

all incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor shall promptly repair or, at 

the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the 

Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, repairs/claims does not 

include weather worn property damage. Weather worn property damage will be reported by the Contractor to 

the District but the Contractor will not compensate the District for this type of damage.  

 

 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor, and nothing herein 

shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the 

District.  The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits 

and the District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for 

the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall 

have full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this 

Agreement, without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 

employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

 

 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor guarantees and warrants that all workmanship, 

materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the Services 

(collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this 

Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement 

and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any 

governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct or 

replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement, at its sole expense, to the reasonable 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228 2 

satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all cases survive termination of 

this Agreement.   

  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and 

expense, during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage: (i) Standard worker’s 

compensation and employer’s liability insurance covering all employees of Contractor involved with the 

performance of the Services, with policy amounts and coverage in compliance with law; (ii) Commercial 

General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for 

bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 designated location, general aggregate; and 

$1,000,000 umbrella; (iii) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, 

and hired automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of liability of not 

less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property damage; and (iv) any other insurance 

commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All 

coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and 

not supplemental to any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District 

shall be considered excess.  The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability 

Insurance policies will be endorsed to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to 

purchase the required insurance shall not serve to release it from any obligations, nor shall the purchase of the 

required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of 

any deductibles on issued policies. 

 

7. Indemnification.  To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, 

from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, 

including legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, 

negligence, willful misconduct,  or any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 

subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for 

the District’s own negligence.  This indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation 

on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ 

compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration 

or termination of this Agreement.  To the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or 

hold Contractor harmless under the terms of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise 

only to the extent permitted by applicable law and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for 

such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause or for convenience upon ten 

(10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the District shall compensate the 

Contractor for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 

expenses due.  The District shall make this payment in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly 

understands and agrees that the decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion 

of the District’s governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated 

for the purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any 

ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228 3 

the District’s obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a 

current expense and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable 

constitutional or statutory limitations or requirements. 

 

 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 

otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 

its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 

and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 

seq., C.R.S. 

  

 12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 

include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 

solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 

during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  

 

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 

than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 

parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 

this Agreement. 

 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 

jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 

which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 

shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 

15.   Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, 

understandings, and commitments. 

 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 

which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 

deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the 

original for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

 

By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to 

authorize said representative to execute this Agreement.   

 

District: 

 

By:  ________________________________ 

  

Name: ______________________________ 

 

Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 

 

By:  ________________________________ 

  

Name: ______________________________ 

   

Title:  _______________________________ 

 

 



 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

POOL MAINTENANCE 

      

 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 

attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 26th day of September, 2024, by and 

between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, 

LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor 

are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 

of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating and 

maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents and users; 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 

into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 

hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 

needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 

and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 

herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 

perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 

reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 

the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 

services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 

A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 

disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may take 

any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any conflict 

between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms 

in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, express or 

implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate the District 

in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement (including 



1237.4200, 1211387 2 

Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the District 

through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 2025 and 

shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 

December 31, 2025.   

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 

provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 

of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 

to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 

Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 

shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 

compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 

services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 

and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 

Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 

any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 

becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 

evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 

claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 

inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 

injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 

whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 

subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 

location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 

performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 

necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 

and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 

Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 

examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 

thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  

The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 

and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 

standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 

of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 

Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 



1237.4200, 1211387 3 

District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 

compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 

complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 

delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 

type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 

a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 

between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 

sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 

while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 

or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 

and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 

substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 

business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 

including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 

laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 

shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-

consultant or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance or approval by the District of the 

Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 

of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 

it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 

arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 

the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 

describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 

description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 

performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 

Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 

and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 

be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 

reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 

any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 



1237.4200, 1211387 4 

services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 

District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 

Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 

until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 

of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 

payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 

service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 

incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 

each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 

within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 

required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 

for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 

to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 

to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 

of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 

scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 

Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 

the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 

exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  

Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 

officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 

and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 

or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 

to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 

detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 

employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 

District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 

employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 

contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 

local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 

errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 

or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 

and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 



1237.4200, 1211387 5 

furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 

will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 

not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 

unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 

other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 

on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 

subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-

discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 

discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with a 

worker without authorization and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to 

participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot 

Program) (as defined in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any a 

workers without authorization.  The Contractor affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with a worker 

without authorization who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated 

in this Agreement and will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined 

in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are 

newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated 

in this Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 

subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 

employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform the services contemplated in 

this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 

who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 

through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 

Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 

this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 

the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with a worker without 

authorization, the Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the District within three (3) days that 

the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with a 

worker without authorization. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 

days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 



1237.4200, 1211387 6 

contracting with the worker without authorization; except that the Contractor shall not terminate 

the contract with the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides 

information to establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with a 

worker without authorization. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 

of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 

Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-

102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 

§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the District may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days written 

notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable for 

actual and consequential damages to the District. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 

Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 

rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required for 

Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 

Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 

the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 

written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 

District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 

District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 

representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 

provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 

Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 

certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 

of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 

workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 

that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 

excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 

during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 

certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 

to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 

required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  

The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  



1237.4200, 1211387 7 

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 

given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 

performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 

in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 

becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 

which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 

reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 

shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 

provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 

confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 

the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 

Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 

agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 

the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 

access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 

agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 

Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  

“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 

number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 

identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-

103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 

transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 

the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 

are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 

Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 

unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 

Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 

to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 

of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 

Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 

drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 

remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 

invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 

the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 

Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 

copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 

years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 

provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 

interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 



1237.4200, 1211387 8 

Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 

for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 

materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 

any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 

this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 

materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 

prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 

Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 

all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 

time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 

will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 

by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 

Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 

“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 

lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 

or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 

act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or employees, in 

connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 

pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 

contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 

of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 

as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 

way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or benefits payable by or 

for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other employee benefit 

acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 

damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 

this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 

the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 

Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 

specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 

terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 

way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  

The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 

with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 

termination of this Agreement.   



1237.4200, 1211387 9 

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 

or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 

assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 

consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 

District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 

Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 

and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 

of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 

the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 

subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 

that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 

this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 

Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 

any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 

accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 

subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 

termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 

such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 

above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 

thirty (30) days prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 

thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 

time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 

Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 

the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 

paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 

reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 

either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 

creditors or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 

Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 

this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 

the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 

or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 

Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 

and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 

the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 

address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 

after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 

within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 

party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 

defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 

end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 



1237.4200, 1211387 10 

within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 

this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 

other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 

defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 

performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 

in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 

or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 

the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 

by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 

days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 

prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 

recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 

the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 

overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 

may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 

of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 

and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 

communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 

addresses set forth below: 

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 

c/o Advance HOA Management 

17865 W. 83rd Drive 

Arvada, CO 80007 

Attention: Katie Call 

Phone: (303) 423-0270 

Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  

 

  

With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

Centennial, CO  80122 

Attention: Megan J. Murphy 

Phone: (303) 858-1800 

E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com  

 

  

Contractor: PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, LLC 

1840 Commerce Street 

Boulder, CO 80301 

Attention: [_________________________] 

Phone: (970) 418-0767 

Email: [_________________________] 

 

mailto:mmurphy@wbapc.com


1237.4200, 1211387 11 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 

the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 

payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 

personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 

purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 

this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 

long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 

pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 

between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 

of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 

representations, agreements or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 

written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 

forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 

by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 

heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 

deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 

waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 

shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 

District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 

irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 

but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 

shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 

the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 

this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 

conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 

of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 

joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 

as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 

performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 

caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 

in a timely manner or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 

disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  



1237.4200, 1211387 12 

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 

considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 

that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 

unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 

required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 

not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 

whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 

this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 

the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal 

year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed or 

interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-fiscal 

year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory debt 

limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 

Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 

or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 

Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 

same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 

to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 

available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 

other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 

available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 

seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 

strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 

prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 

to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 

validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 

provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 

to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 

valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 

enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 

enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 

under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 



1237.4200, 1211387 13 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 

under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 

C.R.S.  

 

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 

warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 

accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 

otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 

will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 

codes, rules and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  

All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 

completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 

to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 

and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 

use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 

invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 

of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 

Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 

tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 

apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 

one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 

PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 

hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 

of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Maintenance 

Services with Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC, dated September 26, 2024 

 

1237.4200, 1211387 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 

above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 

necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado 

 

 

Officer of the District 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

 

 

General Counsel for the District 

 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Maintenance 

Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated September 26, 2024 

 

1237.4200, 1211387 15 

CONTRACTOR: 

PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, LLC, a Colorado 

limited liability company 

 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO )  

 ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2024, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   

  

  

  

 Notary Public 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 2 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 

Section 11 of this Agreement. 

 

1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 

amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 

will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 

$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 

designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 

include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 

and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 

including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 

b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 

c. limited contractual; 

d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 

e. medical payments; 

f. products and completed operations; 

g. independent consultants coverage; 

h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 

 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 

contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 

property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 

automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 

liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 

damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 

obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 

bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third party fidelity bond in favor of 

the District covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be 

responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 

responsibility for money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District 

against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, 



1237.4200, 1211387 C- 2 

or other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be in an 

amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 

pursuant to this Agreement. 

6. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



1237.4200, 1211387 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200, 1211387 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 



1 
1237.4200; 1271616 

FIRST AMENDMENT  

  TO  

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

(Noxious Weed and Prairie Dog Pest Control Services) 

_______________________________ 

 

 This FIRST AMENDMENT TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the 

“First Amendment”) is entered into the 26th of September 2024, by and between LEYDEN 

ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision 

of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and C.R. DOTTERER, INC. d/b/a WEED 

WRANGLERS, a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”). The District and the Contractor are 

referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”  

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the District and Contractor are parties to that certain Independent Contractor 

Agreement, dated November 20, 2023 (the “Agreement”). Capitalized terms used herein shall 

have the meanings given them in the Agreement. 

 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to further amend certain provisions regarding the Services 

and compensation for the Services as set forth in Exhibit A of the Agreement and to extend the 

Agreement’s termination date for one (1) year to December 31, 2025. 

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained 

herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 

hereby acknowledged, the Parties covenant and agree as follows: 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. Amendment to Compensation Schedule/Scope of Services. The Parties hereby 

amend those certain provisions regarding the Services and compensation for the Services, as 

such provisions are set forth in Exhibit A to the Agreement with the Services and the 

compensation provisions set forth in Addendum 1, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

this reference.   

 

1. Amendment to Term/Renewal. The Parties hereby amend and restate in its 

entirely Paragraph 2 of the Agreement as follows: “This Agreement shall be effective as of the 

dated date hereof and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to 

Section 18 hereof; or (ii) midnight on December 31, 2025. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 

terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to 

appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 

automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term.”  

2. Prior Provisions Effective. Except as specifically amended hereby, all the terms 

and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This First Amendment 

shall be effective on January 1, 2025. 

 



2 
1237.4200; 1271616 

3. Counterpart Execution. This First Amendment may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall 

constitute one and the same instrument. Executed copies of this First Amendment may be 

delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals 

and binding upon the signatories to this First Amendment. 

 

[Signature pages follow.] 

 

 

  



3 
1237.4200; 1271616 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Amendment as of the 

date set forth below. By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has 

taken all necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this First Amendment. 

 

        

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado 

 

 

 

      By: ___________________________________ 

             Officer of the District 

 

ATTEST: 

 

      

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

General Counsel to the District 

 

     

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

District’s Signature Page to First Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement for 

Noxious Weed Control Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, 

 dated September 26, 2024 

 



4 
1237.4200; 1271616 

 

 

C.R. DOTTERER, INC. d/b/a WEED 

WRANGLERS, a Colorado corporation 

 

              

            By:        

       Its:        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contractor’s Signature Page to First Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement for 

Noxious Weed Control Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated September 26, 

2024 



5 
1237.4200; 1271616 

ADDENDUM 1 

 



 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

 

 

 This SECOND AMENDMENT TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

(the “Second Amendment”) is entered into this 1st day of November, 2024, by and between 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political 

subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and ADVANCE HOA MANAGEMENT, 

INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are referred to 

herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into an Independent Contractor Agreement, dated May 11, 

2023, restated and amended by the First Amendment to the Independent Contractor Agreement, 

dated December 21, 2023 (collectively, the “Agreement”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Exhibit B of the Agreement sets forth the compensation and fee schedule; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 

herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

  

1.  Repeal and replace Exhibit B in its entirety with the following provisions:  

 

EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE  

 

The annual compensation for Services shall be as set forth below: 

 

Management 

Fee: 

$4,000.00 per month 

Staffing: Base salary plus 28% (includes taxes, insurance, benefits, etc.) 

 

The Contractor will consult the District’s Board of Directors annually for the 

purpose of reviewing the site management team (both full-time and part-time 

employees) yearly performance and bonus structure.  In consultation with the 

Contractor, the District’s Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, 

approve a year-end bonus for any Contractor exempt employee on the 

District’s site management team.  The District’s Board of Directors will 

provide the approved year-end bonus amounts in writing to the Contractor.  



The Contractor reserves the right to make all final decision regarding merit 

increases and performance bonuses with respect to Contractors funds. 

 

 

*Payroll reimbursed at each pay date, the 7th and 22nd of each month 

 

 

While this Agreement is in effect, Contractor may also charge District additional fees based 

on an “as used basis” based upon the below fee schedule.  

 

 

Postage At cost 

Photocopies $0.25 

Envelopes Reg letter $0.15; 6x9 $.025; 9x12 $0.30 

Coupon books (if applicable) $6 per book, including postage and envelopes 

Statements Paper Statement $1.25; eStatement $0.75 

Utility Billback Billing $2.50 per unit, if applicable 

Returned Check Fee $20 per occurrence (paid by District, applied to 

owner account) 

Collection Notices $20 each 

Transfer Account to Attorney $50 (paid by District, applied to owner account) 

Audit Facilitation $150 as applicable 

Special Projects, as approved by Board Pre-approved by Board and based on scope of 

project 

Resale Administration $300 (Paid by buyer or seller. Not a District 

charge) 

Excess Meeting Length $35 per hour over 3 hours. Meetings to be held 

Monday-Thursday. 

Additional Board/Committee Meeting 

Manager Attendance 

$0 per additional meeting (over two per month) 

Document Scanning/Record Storage No charge up to 10 boxes; $20 per each additional 

10 boxes 

Debit Card Reconciliation $20.00 per month  per debit card, if applicable  

Website and Maintenance No charge for Advance HOA site. 

District public site is direct expense of District. 

*Website Accessibility Administration $300.00 per month. 

District public site host billed directly to District. 

Computer, software, licensing No charge. 

IT Support Billed back as needed. 

Lockbox/Bank Fees No charge 

After Hours Emergencies No charge 

Staff Recruitment  Direct cost (job ads, screening) 

Additional trip charges/ Inspections $35 each if over four per month by compliance 

inspector 



Additional staff, if requested by the 

District 

$85/hour Senior Management, $65/hour Manager, 

$45/ hour Administrative  

 

*Website Accessibility Administration:  Maintain a District website to include posting of 

notices and other required District documents;   Coordinate with Accessibility Vendors to 

support the District's compliance with digital accessibility standards as per House Bill 21-

1110 and 8 CCR 1501-11; Serve as the primary contact for all accessibility-related 

inquiries and requests from the public; Monitor and respond to accessibility requests and 

reports of inaccessible ICT within a timely manner. Collaborate with District staff and 

external vendors to remediate non-conforming Active ICT.  Through a separate website 

provider, Contractor will provide, manage, update and maintain a website for the District. 

Contractor will invoice the District for reimbursement of the costs associated with the 

provision of the website.  Website service costs shall be included in the adopted budget.  

   

 

 

This Second Amendment shall be effective as of the dated date hereof. 

 

2. Prior Provisions Effective.  Except as specifically amended hereby, all the terms and 

provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

3. Counterpart Execution.  The Second Amendment may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one 

and the same instrument.  Executed copies of the Second Amendment may be delivered by 

facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and 

binding upon the signatories of this Second Amendment. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 

above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 

necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado 

 

 

President 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

Secretary 

 



 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

 

 

General Counsel for the District 

 



CONTRACTOR: 

ADVANCE HOA MANAGEMENT, INC., a 

Colorado corporation 

 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 



1 
1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1430 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO 
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

(Pool Gate Monitor)  
______________________________ 

 
 This THIRD AMENDMENT TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the 
“Third Amendment”) is entered into the 26th day of September 2024, by and between LEYDEN 
ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of 
the State of Colorado (the “District”), and MILE HIGH POOLS LLC, a Colorado limited liability 
company (the “Contractor”). The District and the Contractor are referred to herein as a “Party” 
and collectively as the “Parties.”   
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, the Parties entered into an Independent Contractor Agreement, dated April 6, 
2022, as amended by the First Amendment to Independent Contract Agreement, dated November 
15, 2022, and by the Second Amendment to Independent Contract Agreement, dated August 15, 
2023 (collectively, the “Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to extend the termination date of the Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows:  
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

1. Amendment to Term. The Parties hereby amend Paragraph 2 of the Agreement to 
authorize the District Manager to extend the Term of the Agreement beyond midnight on 
September 21, 2025, and the Contractor shall provide the Services as set forth in Exhibit A, below. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Term of the Agreement shall not extend beyond September 24, 
2025.  

 
2. Prior Provisions Effective. Except as specially amended hereby, all the terms and 

provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. Counterpart Execution. This Third Amendment may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument. Executed copies of this Third Amendment may be delivered by 
facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding 
upon the signatories to this Third Amendment. 

 
[Signature Pages Follow.] 

 
  



2 
1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1430 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Third Amendment on the date 
first above written. By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken 
all necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Third Amendment.  

 
 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
District’s Signature Page to Third Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool 

Gate Monitor with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, 
Dated September 26, 2024 



3 
1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1430 

 
 
MILE HIGH POOLS LLC, a Colorado 
limited liability company 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Third Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement for 
Pool Gate Monitor with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District,  

dated September 26, 2024 



4 
1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1430 

EXHIBIT A 

 





















LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

CONTRACT  

Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant:  Moon Hopper Inflatables LLC 

Title of Agreement/Contract:  Inflatable Slide Rental for November 16, 2024 

Agreement/Contract Date:  October 29, 2024 

This Contract (“Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 

contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective the date above. 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 
“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 

customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 

in the Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 

tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

2. Compensation of Services. Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement shall 
be provided in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Contractor shall 
be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any 
reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved 

in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Exhibit A may take any form.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body 

of this Agreement shall govern. 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 
incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor will promptly repair or, at the 

District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 

or its employees, agents, or equipment.  

4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and nothing herein shall 
constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  

The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 

District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 

Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 

full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 

without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 

subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and warrant 
that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the 

Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by 

this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this 

Agreement and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor hereby warrants 

the Work for a period of one (1) year from the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The 

Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement 

at its sole expense to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall 

in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, its 

successors and assigns. 

1237.4200



1237.4200 

2 

6. Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense,

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage:  (i) Commercial General Liability 

Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and 

property damage liability; $1,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury, and (ii) any other insurance commonly 

used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to 

any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  

The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed 

to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not 

serve to release it from any obligations; nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the 

Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

7. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, from and against any and all 

claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, including legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct,  or 

any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or 

employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the District’s own negligence.  This 

indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, 

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under worker’s compensation acts, disability acts, or 

other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  To 

the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold Contractor harmless under the terms 

of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to the extent permitted by applicable law 

and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

8. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party for cause or for convenience upon

fourteen (14) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 

paid for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 

expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business. 

9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement is subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 

and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of District’s 

governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of 

this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year 

beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the District’s 

obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense 

and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitations or requirements. 

11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or

otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 

its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 



1237.4200 

3 

and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 

seq., C.R.S. 

12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement

include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 

solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 

during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party

than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 

parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 

this Agreement. 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent

jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 

which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 

shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

15. Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 

and commitments. 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of

which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 

deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 

for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 

said representative to execute this Agreement.   

District: 

By:  ________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 

By:  ________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title:  _______________________________ 



1237.4200 

4 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule 



������� ������	
��� 
� ���
������ ������ ������������������������������ � ��� !  ��� !  
"" #$#�%��&�%'(�%)*+,-./�0123�������'��4�5�
��	���
������
���
��6�(�������7&(�5��������
	8���9�:�;<= �<�;>�����9 �������'��4�����8�����>�=:�?�=;��������(�����@��&�=   >#���
�'��
���%���9��6��6� �A� B9  ��
CDEFGHIJ ��K��� !  LMINIOP�QIRSPT�U�VPW XYZ[\]�K��>=!� LT̂PP�MPJRSPT_�̀a�NRb X][]]�K��>=!� L FGHIJ X\cZ[\]dRe�fI_NPeH�gPhij Xak[llMDP X\cZ[\]mnopqrs'��
�����
�9���6��6� �A� B9  ��#���
�#�����
�9���6��6� �A���9  	���
�	����t���9����4���
�	<��
�4�� uvons���
�����������
�9

wxyz{yz|}�ww~�x��� ������������������������zxz|������

����~yyy�~y�����y��������y�������y�����y���������y�������y���������y���������������yw w¡����y������������������������zxz|������ wy¢



��������	�
�����	���	����������������������������� ��� ��!"��"#$%�&"' ()������!"� *"#��� ��+,��"'��"%� ��"�-!�#"��"����"$)��!"�."%%""�/-,%� $"#0��+#""%�� %,*"#1�%"��!"� *"#��� �� 2���3�#"��"����"$�����2,#�!"#��+#""%��!����2��!"���"$��%���$�+"���!���!"4%!"�(�''#"�$&,#%"�5  ��6 **"#���2'���&'"%�2 #��!"�2,''�*#�-"�� �2�7��!"���$�+"����4 #��!"�2,''�#"*'�-"$"���1�',"� 2��!"#"��"����"$8��9"2 #"�%�+���+��!�%�- ��#�-�)�."%%""��+#""%��!���!"4%!"�!�%�#"����!"�"���#"�- ��#�-�)�!�%��+#""��� ��''�"#$%�����- ����� �%�!"#"��)�����!�%�!����''�:,"%�� �%�!"4%!"�$�3�!�1"���%("#"��� ��!"�."%%"";%�2,''�%���%2�-�� �����,��"#%������+8<=>?@=ABC�D=AEF?GHCIEBJ=HFKL��M ����#"%%�%*"-�2�"��&3�."%%""8�."%%""�+#���%�5  ��6 **"#���2'���&'"%��������%"$*' 3""%4- ��#�-� #%)��!"�#�+!��� �"��"#�%����*# *"#�3�2 #��!"��"'�1"#3�����#"�,#�� 2��!"�#"��"��":,�*$"������**# 7�$��"���$"%8�N''�*�3$"��%�$,%��&"�$��"������$"� 2��"'�1"#38��O �#"2,��%�(�''�&"�$��"��2�"#��!"�":,�*$"��!�%�&""���"'�1"#"�8�P #�Q,$*"#%)��!"�'"%%""��+#""%�� �*# 1��"� �"�"'"-�#�-�'� ,�'"��#��"�����RRS�1 '�%�(��!�TU�$*"#"%�-�*�-��3�*"#�$ � #�,����(��!���SU�2""�� 2�"�-!�,���8�O �"'"-�#�-�'�- #�%��#"�� �&"�,%"�8��2��!"�&' ("#�%� *% #��!"���#�*#"%%,#"��%�' ()�A=JG@=��''�,%"#%��$$"����"'3)������!"��-!"-V� ���!"�*# &'"$8��N�#��,&"%�����!"�#"�#� 2�!"�,����%! ,'��&"���"��%"-,#"'3�� ��!"�&' ("#� #���"�� 22�� �*#"1"�����#�2# $�"%-�*��+8��M!"�"'"-�#�-�'�- #��%! ,'��&"*',++"����� ���� ,�'"������&"��!"� �'3��!��+� *"#����+� ���!���"'"-�#�-�'�-�#-,��8��W�#-,���&#"�V"#%�%! ,'���'% �&"-!"-V"�8��W,%� $"#��%�%,&Q"-��� ���������� ��'�-!�#+"� 2�XTU8UU�2 #��''�%"#1�-"�-�''%��,"�� �"'"-�#�-��38Y=H=AE>��Z>=K�[GA��E[=��D=AEF?GHL���\���%�$,%��&"� *"#��"�� 1"#���%$  �!)�- $*���&'"�%,#2�-"�%,-!��%�+#�%%� #!�#��� *�%,#2�-"8�M!"�,����$�3�O]M�&"� *"#��"�� ��# ,+!�%,#2�-"%�%,-!��%�# -V%)�&#�-V)�+'�%%)� #���3�Q�++"� &Q"-�%8�\����-��� ��&"�$ 1"��&3�'"%%""��2�"#�*'�-"��&3�5  ��6 **"#���2'���&'"%��"$*' 3""%4- ��#�-� #%8��\���5\̂ M�9_�*# *"#'3���-! #"��*#� #�� �,%"8�\����(�''�&"���-! #"��������''3�&3�5  ��6 **"#���2'���&'"%�"$*' 3""%4- ��#�-� #%������!"���-! #%�5\̂ M�O]M�&"�#"$ 1"���,#��+�*"#� �� 2�,%"8�̀=@=A����"$*��� �#"' -��")��Q,%�� #�%"#1�-"���&' ("#8�̀=@=A�,%"��,#��+�!�+!�(���%)�+,%�3�(���%)��!,��"#%� #$%� #�'�+!�"���+8��M!"�,����-���,#�� 1"#����!�+!�(���%)�"1"���2���-! #"�)������!�%�- ,'��#"%,'�����%"1"#"���Q,#�"%�� ��!"�,%"#%8��<G�HGF�#"%,$"�,%",���'���1"#%"�("��!"#�- ����� �%�!�1"�-"�%"�8��>aEBK�2 '' (��!"�$��,2�-�,#"#%�+,��"'��"%�' -��"�� ���!"�,�����%"'28��bb?F?GHE>��E[=FB��Z>=KL���c=[GA=�=HF=A?Hd�Fe=�ZH?Ff�!�1"��!"�,%"#%�#"$ 1"��!"�#�%! "%)�"3"�+'�%%"%)�&"'�&,-V'"%�������3�%!�#*� &Q"-�%8��̀=@=A�*'�3)�Q,$*� #�"��"#���*�#���''3���2'��"�4�"2'��"��,���8�̀=@=A��'' (��!"�,%"#%�� -'�$&� #�*'�3� ���!"� ,�%��"� #���%��"�(�''%� 2��!"�,���)�- ',$�%)��"����+� #�#  2� 2�,���8���>aEBK�2 '' (��!"��,$&"# 2�#��"#%�����#,'"%�* %�"�� ���!"�,������%"'28��<G�HGF�*',+� #�,�*',+��!"�$ � #�#"*"��"�'3��%��!�%�(�''�-�,%"��!"�,���� �&,#��,*�����3 ,�(�''�&"�#"%* �%�&'"�2 #���3�#"%,'���+���$�+"8���>aEBK�!�1"������,'��*#"%"��)�(! �!�%�#"1�"("�����,��"#%����%�& �!��!�%�- ��#�-�������!"�#,'"%�* %�"�� ���!"�,������%"'2)�(! �-���%,*"#1�%"��!"�#��"#%8�̀=@=A�'' (��!"�,%"#%�� �&"�,�%,*"#1�%"����� #��# ,����!"�,���8�̀=@=A��'' (�$ #"�,%"#%��!����!"�$�7�$,$��,$&"#� 2,%"#%�*"#��+"�+# ,*��%��"%-#�&"��(��!����!�%�'"�%"����� ���!"�,������%"'28��O"1"#�*'�-"���! %"� #�(��"#� �� #���� �!"�,����,�'"%%��,�! #�g"��&3�5  ��6 **"#���2'���&'"%�8�<G�HGF��'' (�! #%"*'�3� �)���)� #��# ,����!"�,���8���>aEBK2 '' (��!"���#"-�� �%�2 #�,%"� ���!"�,������%"'28�����H>B�-!�'�#"�� 2��!"�%�$"��+"�+# ,*��#"�� �*'�3� ���!"�,��������!"%�$"���$"8�

hijkljkmn�hhopi�qr sttu�vtwwxy�z{y|x}�zyt~�kikm�sv~s�

���xojjj�oj��xy�j��ty�t��jqww��~�j�t���jr��yt�t�~j��u�t��j��x~���vxj�tu~xu~��{~�tt|jh�h��pq�jsttu�vtwwxy�z{y|x}�zyt~�kikm�sv~s� pj�



��� �����������������������	�
�������������������������������������� ���!�
	
"���������	� �������"���!� �"
#�$�
	%� &�#�� '�	�����!����(	 �(
��� )�(��
�#*� �'�!
)� 
"���(��#�	�����	%
	�+
,�
 ����
�#����(%
 -���� �!����$����"�� ��+"' ��#�
��
� ��'�	.�/01�2�3�4�51�����,��	 ��-�� ���+��
 ��	�+�&��'(%�
�&�"'	���	���+�	�#�	�&�!��#&�# ��6�&�(��!�		�&�!�
+�� �	 
�%&����� 
 �'�#�	%��'��	�
	�
�,�	�+��777��8���,��	 ��-�
�#���6���"9�(	��$����(
'����� +
���	�#
+
-��	��	%��'��	�
�#��������$���"�� �������"���!� �	%��!'��� ���
(�+��	�)
�'���!�	%�� ��	�#�'��	�
�#*� �
������#�
�:;<.==�(��
���-�!����!�	%��'��	���#�	� +���#���	�	��"���� +
���	�,�#
+
-�#.��������
- ��������	����� 
	��	%��'��	>�?����
�+
��� �(��	 
 ,�	��	%��(��	 
(	�
�#�	%�� '�����!�'�������
(%�'��	.��!����������� 
	���	%��'��	�>�?����
�+
��� �(��	 
 ,�	��	%��(��	 
(	�
�# '�����!�'�������
(%�'��	&�
�#�	%��'��	����#
+
-�#&��������
- ����	���
,�	%��(��	�� � ��
� �� �!'��� ���
(�+��	)
�'���!�
�,�#
+
-�#��@'��+��	�� �'��	.��������
- ����	%
	�	%���@'��+��	���
��#����!� �������A���$��'���
�#��
�#��@'��+��	������	�"����
��#&��'"B��	&+� 	-
-�#�� ����
�,��	%� �+
��� �#������#��!�",�������.��������!' 	%� �
- ����	��"����
"���!� �
�,�������!��
�#�@'��+��	�",� �
�����!�!� �&�	%�!	&�� �
�,��	%� �(
'��.C���C��������D��E�����������������
- ����	����#�+��!,�
�#�%��#����������� ���!�
	
"�����%
 +�����! �+�
�,
�#�
���(�
�+&�
(	����&��'�	�&�� �(��#��-�&�(��	�&��F������&�!���&�#
+
-���
�#���
"���	���&���(�'#��-&�"'	���	���+�	�#	�&� �
���
"���
		� ��,A��!����
�#�(��	�&�
 ����-�",� �
�����!���9' ,&�#
+
-�&�� �#�
	%�	���� ������ �� ��� 	,&���(����(	����$�	%�� � ��'�	��-�! �+�	%��'����!�	%����
��#��@'��+��	.�G%�����(�'#��&�"'	������	���+�	�#�	�&�	%�+
�'!
(	' �&�����(	���&�#���)� ,&�����������&�'��&���� 
	���&�� � �	' ���!�	%���@'��+��	.���������%� �",� ���
���
�#�%��#��%
 +��������������� ���!�
	
"�����! �+���9' ����� �#
+
-�����('  �#�
��
� ��'�	��!�	%��'����!�	%���
��#��@'��+��	.����������� ���!�
	
"�����(
���	&�'�#� �
�,�(� ('+�	
�(��&�"��%��#���
"���!� ���9' ����
��
 ��'�	��!���
�� �� �
	��'��&�H�#&��
	' �&�� ��	%� �(��#�	�����"�,��#��	��(��	 ���� �6��$��#-�.��������
����
- ���	����#�+��!,�
�#�%��#�%
 +��������������� ���!�
	
"�����! �+�
�,�����&�#
+
-�&�	%�!	�� �#��	 '(	�����!�	%��@'��+��	�#' ��-�	%��	� +��!�	%����
���
�#�
�,��F	��������	%� ��!.�I��J����������K���������������������� ���!�
	
"�����+
6������$
  
�	,��!�
�,�6��#&���	%� ��F� ����� ��+����#&�
�	��	%��(��#�	�����!�� ��� !� +
�(���!�
�,���
��#��@'��+��	�
�#��������
- ����	�����������L�(�
���'����!�	%��@'��+��	�
�#�(��	
(	����������� ���!�
	
"������!�
�,��!�	%����
����@'��+��	�#�)������
�,���#�(
	����#�!�(	�� �+� ��� �$� 6��-�(��#�	����.���������
- ����	��'���	%���@'��+��	�������������M�����N./���JOPQ������LP��R��������������	%���)��	�	%
	��������" �
(%���
�,��!�	%��	� +���!�	%�����
��&�	%
	��������$����
,�!� �
���(����@'��	�
��#
+
-���
�#�!' 	%� ���#�+��!,����������� ���!�
	
"�����!� �
���(��	����('  �#�",���������� ���!�
	
"�������('  �#������!� (��-�	%��	� +���!�	%����
���� ����#�!��#��-�
�,�(�
�+�� ��
$�'�	�
 ����-��'	��!	%����� 
	�����!��
�#��@'��+��	&���(�'#��-�	%��
+�'�	��!�
�,�9'#-+��	&�
		� ��,A��!����
�#�(��	�.���!����������� ��!�
	
"�����#�	� +����&�$�	%����	���$��#��( �	���&�	%
	��������%
��!
���#&����
�,�$
,&�	���"�� )��� �(�+��,�$�	%�	%�(��#�	������!�	%�����
��&����������� ���!�
	
"�����+
,��F� (����
�,��!�	%��!����$��-� �+�#���S��	� +��
	�����!�	%��
- ��+��	T� ���	� �� ��� 	,�
�#� �	
6��	%���@'��+��	T�#�(�
 ��
�,��'	�	
�#��-� ��	�
�#�(%
 -����++�#�
	��,�#'�
�#��
,
"���
�#����	�
	��$%
	�)� ���-
��� �(��#��-����(���
 ,�	�� �(�)� ��
�#��@'��+��	�� �+�����T�
�#*� 

UVWXYWXZ[�UU\]V�̂_ àab�caddef�ghfiej�gfak�XVXZl̀ck̀m

nome\WWWp\WqrefrWstafsauvŴddwvkvWxatvmW_otfarankWyobsazrW{|ekpvtceWpabkebkl}hkmaaiWU~U�x]̂{Ẁaab�caddef�ghfiej�gfak�XVXZl̀ck̀m ZW�



���������	��

�����������
������������������	����������������������������������	���������
����������������
���	��������������������
���������������������������������
��������� �!"#$"$#�% �$&%'�($�)*"!�+($),&+)�"-��'"$#�)*'�.'!!''-�+($)&+)�/',!($-�.'!!'','/,'!'$)&)"0'-�(,�()*',�"$1"0"12&.�&!!2%"$#�)*'�,(.'��3�.'!!''-�&+4$(5.'1#'�)*&)�"*&0'�+(%/.')'. �,'&1�&$1�2$1',!)&$1�)*"!�+($),&+)�&$1�&$ �&$1�&..�&++(%/&$"'1&11'$12%6!78�"�*&0'��''$�92.. �"$!),2+)'1�� �%::;�*:<<=>�";?@ABAC@=D�/',!($$'.�&!�&�),&"$'1(/',&)(,�9(,�)*'�&99(,%'$)"($'1�'E2"/%'$)�&$1�*&0'�*&1�&..�(9�% �E2'!)"($!&$!5','1�)(�% �!&)"!9&+)"($8��"�2$1',!)&$1�)*&)��"�&%�!(.' �,'!/($!"�.'�9(,�&1*',"$#�F�)*'�)',%!�!')�9(,)*�� �)*"!�,'$)&.�+($),&+)�&#,''%'$)�&$1�&$ �&$1�&..�&++(%/&$"'1&11'$12%6!78
��G�HIJFKLM NL�IF�IJOM PJFM�

QRSTUSTVW�QQXYR�Z[ \]]̂�_]̀ àb�cdbeaf�cb]g�TRTVh\_g\i

jkiaXSSSlXSmnabnSop]bo]qrSZ̀ s̀rgrSt]priS[kpb]n]jgSuk̂o]vnSwxaglrp_aSl]̂gâghydgi]]eSQzQ{tYZwS\]]̂�_]̀ àb�cdbeaf�cb]g�TRTVh\_g\i |S|



04/17/2024

RH Agency

7828 Vance Dr Suite 205

Arvada CO 80003

Ryan Harris

(303) 456-6800 (303) 467-0052

ryan@rhagencyinc.com

Moon Hopper Inflatables LLC

8842 Dunraven St

Arvada CO 80007

Secura Insurance. 22543

Master 23-24

A CP3373634 09/15/2023 09/15/2024

1,000,000

100,000

EXCLUDED

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

A

Certificate holder is an additional Insured for general liability as required by a written contract and as pertains to the operations of the insured.

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District

17685 W 83rd Dr

Arvada CO 80007

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,

EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB
$EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY







����������

	
��
�������
�����	������������������������������������� ���!���"#$��!���%&'����(��)*+,,�-.*/0�1232+�405�-.*/06/7,*+,6��#�'������8�������!������ �(��9*:5�;<6*=�>5?@7?.+,=5�7,�A=/735?��BC�������8�������!������ ������(��A=/735?��DC�������� 40*6�E7,/?+=/�FGHI?55.5,/JK�LM�NOPQ�RS�OTP�RQUVQQT�95W15,�X7=Y�;5/?7Z7[*/+,�)*6/?*=/C�+�\<+6*]N̂ TL_L̀Oa�_bc̀bcOULbT�OTP�̀baLUL_Oa�M̂RPLdLMLbT�be�UfQ�gUOUQ�be�hbabcOPb�FUfQ�GiLMUcL_UJK�OTP�UfQ�ORbdQ]?5@5?5,=51�=7,/?+=/7?C�̀cbdLPQcj�bc�bUfQc�_bTM̂aUOTU�FUfQ�GhbTUcO_UbcJKk��� l,/?71<=/*7,��405�)*6/?*=/�+,1�/05�E7,/?+=/7?�156*?5�/7�5,/5?�*,/7�/0*6�E7,/?+=/�/7�35�5@@5=/*:5�/05�1+/5�+37:5���� ��� -=7Z5�7@�-5?:*=56���405�E7,/?+=/7?�60+[[�Z5?@7?.�/05�65?:*=56�65/�@7?/0�*,�
mn#o#����p/05�G���"# �%JKq�FOK�LT�O�eLcMU]=[+66�.+,,5?C�/7�/05�6+/*6@+=/*7,�7@�/05�)*6/?*=/C�<6*,I�/05�15I?55�7@�6Y*[[�+,1�Y,7r[51I5�=<6/7.+?*[W�5.Z[7W51�3W�7/05?�Z?7@566*7,+[6�Z5?@7?.*,I�6*.*[+?�65?:*=56s�p3t�r*/0*,�/05�/*.5�Z5?*71�6Z5=*@*51�*,�/05�HI?55.5,/s�p=t�*,�6<=0�+�.+,,5?�+6�/7�.*,*.*u5�+,W�+,,7W+,=5C�*,/5?@5?5,=5C�7?�1*6?<Z/*7,�/7�/05�?56*15,/6C�/5,+,/6C�7==<Z+,/6C�+,1�*,:*/556�r*/0*,�/05�)*6/?*=/s�+,1�p1t�*,�=7.Z[*+,=5�r*/0�+[[�+ZZ[*=+3[5�@515?+[C�6/+/5C�=7<,/WC�+,1�[7=+[�7?�.<,*=*Z+[�6/+/</56C�7?1*,+,=56C�+,1�?5I<[+/*7,6����� ��� E7.Z5,6+/*7,�7@�-5?:*=56��E7.Z5,6+/*7,�@7?�/05�-5?:*=56�Z?7:*151�<,15?�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�60+[[�35�Z?7:*151�*,�+==7?1+,=5�r*/0�/05�=7.Z5,6+/*7,�6=051<[5�+//+=051�05?5/7�+6�
mn#o#������405�E7,/?+=/7?�60+[[�35�?56Z7,6*3[5�@7?�+[[�5vZ5,656�*/�*,=<?6�*,�Z5?@7?.+,=5�7@�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�+,1�60+[[�,7/�35�5,/*/[51�/7�+,W�?5*.3<?65.5,/�7?�=7.Z5,6+/*7,�5v=5Z/�+6�Z?7:*151�05?5*,C�<,[566�6+*1�?5*.3<?65.5,/�7?�=7.Z5,6+/*7,�*6�+ZZ?7:51�*,�r?*/*,I�3W�/05�)*6/?*=/�*,�+1:+,=5�7@�*,=<??*,I�6<=0�5vZ5,656��wv0*3*/�H�.+W�/+Y5�+,W�@7?.���l,�/05�5:5,/�7@�+,W�=7,@[*=/�35/r55,�/5?.6�65/�@7?/0�*,�/05�371W�7@�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�+,1�/5?.6�65/�@7?/0�*,�wv0*3*/�HC�/05�/5?.6�*,�/05�371W�7@�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�60+[[�I7:5?,��� ��� X5Z+*?62E[+*.6���405�E7,/?+=/7?�60+[[�,7/*@W�/05�)*6/?*=/�*..51*+/5[WC�*,�r?*/*,IC�7@�+,W�+,1�+[[�*,=*15,/62+==*15,/6�r0*=0�?56<[/�*,�*,x<?W�7?�Z?7Z5?/W�1+.+I5���405�E7,/?+=/7?�r*[[�Z?7.Z/[W�?5Z+*?�7?C�+/�/05�iLMUcL_UyM�b̀ULbTj�cQLNR̂cMQ�UfQ�iLMUcL_U�ebc�UfQ�cQ̀OLc�be�O,W�1+.+I5�/7�)*6/?*=/�Z?7Z5?/W�=+<651�3W�/05�E7,/?+=/7?�7?�*/6�5.Z[7W556C�+I5,/6C�7?�5\<*Z.5,/����� ��� l,15Z5,15,/�E7,/?+=/7?���405�E7,/?+=/7?�*6�+,�*,15Z5,15,/�=7,/?+=/7?�+,1�,7/0*,I�05?5*,�60+[[�=7,6/*/</5�7?�156*I,+/5�/05�E7,/?+=/7?�7?�+,W�7@�*/6�5.Z[7W556�7?�+I5,/6�+6�5.Z[7W556�7?�+I5,/6�7@�/05�)*6/?*=/���zfQ�hbTUcO_Ubc�LM�TbU�QTULUaQP�Ub�Vbc{QcMy�_bǸ QTMOULbT�RQTQeLUM�bc�̂T5.Z[7W.5,/�*,6<?+,=5�35,5@*/6�+,1�/05�)*6/?*=/�r*[[�,7/�Z?7:*15�+,W�*,6<?+,=5�=7:5?+I5�7?�5.Z[7W.5,/�35,5@*/6�7@�+,W�Y*,1�7?�/WZ5�/7�7?�@7?�/05�E7,/?+=/7?�7?�*/6�5.Z[7W556C�6<3]=7,6<[/+,/6C�=7,/?+=/7?6C�+I5,/6C�7?�?5Z?565,/+/*:56��405�E7,/?+=/7?�60+[[�0+:5�@<[[�Z7r5?�+,1�+</07?*/W�/7�65[5=/�/05�.5+,6C�.+,,5?C�+,1�.5/071�7@�Z5?@7?.*,I�*/6�1</*56�<,15?�/0*6�HI?55.5,/C�r*/07</�15/+*[51�=7,/?7[�7?�1*?5=/*7,�@?7.�/05�)*6/?*=/C�+,1�60+[[�35�?56Z7,6*3[5�@7?�6<Z5?:*6*,I�*/6�7r,�5.Z[7W556�7?�6<3=7,/?+=/7?6���405�)*6/?*=/�*6�=7,=5?,51�7,[W�r*/0�/05�?56<[/6�/7�35�73/+*,51���� D�� |+??+,/W�+,1�>5?.*/6��405�E7,/?+=/7?�60+[[�+,1�1756�3W�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�I<+?+,/55�+,1�r+??+,/�/0+/�+[[�r7?Y.+,60*ZC�.+/5?*+[6C�+,1�5\<*Z.5,/�@<?,*6051C�*,6/+[[51C�7?�Z5?@7?.51�@7?�/05�+==7.Z[*60.5,/�7@�/05�gQcdL_QM�F_baaQ_ULdQaSj�UfQ�G}��~JK�VLaa�RQ�be��bbP��̂OaLUS�OTP�TQVj�̂TaQMM�bUfQcVLMQ�cQ�̂LcQP�bc�̀QcNLUUQP�RS�/0*6�HI?55.5,/���405�E7,/?+=/7?�@<?/05?�r+??+,/6�/0+/�/05�|7?Y�r*[[�=7,@7?.�/7�+[[�?5\<*?5.5,/6�7@�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�+,1�/05�+ZZ[*=+3[5�3<*[1*,I�=715�+,1�+[[�7/05?�+ZZ[*=+3[5�[+r6C�7?1*,+,=56C�=7156C�?<[56C�+,1�?5I<[+/*7,6�7@�+,W�I7:5?,.5,/+[�+</07?*/*56�0+:*,I�x<?*61*=/*7,�7:5?�/05�|7?Y���405�E7,/?+=/7?�05?53W�r+??+,/6�/05�|7?Y�@7?�+�Z5?*71�7@�7,5�p�t�W5+?�@?7.�/05�1+/5�7@�=7.Z[5/*7,�+,1�*,*/*+[�+==5Z/+,=5�7@�/05�|7?Y���405�E7,/?+=/7?�r*[[�*..51*+/5[W�=7??5=/�7?�?5Z[+=5�+,W�|7?Y�/0+/�*6�15@5=/*:5�7?�,7/�=7,@7?.*,I�/7�/0*6�HI?55.5,/�OU�LUM�MbaQ�Q�̀QTMQ�Ub�UfQ�cQOMbTORaQ�MOULMeO_ULbT�be�UfQ�iLMUcL_Uk��zfQ�hbTUcO_UbcyM��̂OcOTUQQM�OTP�VOccOTULQM�MfOaa�*,�+[[�=+656�6<?:*:5�/5?.*,+/*7,�7@�/0*6�HI?55.5,/���40*6�r+??+,/W�60+[[�35�5,@7?=5+3[5�3W�/05�)*6/?*=/C�*/6�6<==5667?6�+,1�+66*I,6��



����������� ��

�� ��� 	��� 
������������������������������������� ��!!���"#$�����%�&�$���$�'����$� � �!���� ����%��()�� �'�%#�$�*��������$������&��+�����,*���&���'�����+�!!�-$�*�$� #��������.���*�/��0$1���&&���$�!�2�����!�3$�4$!$�5�6� #������-$���&$�$&#&�!$&$� ��+�!$�4$!$�5��+�����!�  ������7�'���'����)������#�������+���4�%$!5�$�8#�5���%�)��)���5�%�&�*��!$�4$!$�59�7�'���'����:�� ���!�;�,%.���$ $�*�6�8#�5'���%�0$$1���5�������$� #��������&&��!5�# �%�45����������� �+��� ��.$�� ��+������5)�����4��)��+��&�%�)#� #���������$ �,*���&������,!!���.���*��)��.$%�%�)#� #���������$ �,*���&���� ��!!�4��-�$������ �)�$&��5�)�!$�$� '����������$4#�$�*�-$�����%����� #))!�&����!������5���.���*�����������<$ ��$���&�5�����5'���%���5�$� #������&�$���$��%�45�����<$ ��$��� ��!!�4����� $%���%��(��  ���������&&���$�!�2�����!�3$�4$!$�5���%���&)����� $.��,#��&�4$!��3$�4$!$�5�6� #������)�!$�$� �-$!!�4����%�� �%������&������<$ ��$���� �����%%$�$���!�$� #��%�������������������=�>?������@���A����A����B�>��C�>����������A�??���� ��.�������!�� ��$��+��&���5��4!$*��$�� 9����� ��!!�����)#���� ���+�������"#$��%�$� #������ ��.�����!$&$�������������������?>�D>?>EF��GA������������� ��!!�4���� )�� $4!��+�������)�5&�����+���5�%�%#��$4!� ����$  #�%�)�!$�$� ������ 6�%�&�$+$���$�������������������� ��!!�%�+��%'�$�%�&�$+5'���%���!%����&!�  �����<$ ��$�����%�������+�$� �%$������ '��++$��� '����������� '��&)!�5�� '��*��� '���%���� #!���� '�+��&���%��*�$� ����5���%��!!��!�$& '�%�&��% '�!�  � '�!$�4$!$�$� '����$�� '�!�- #$� '�%�&�*� '���%��()�� � '�$��!#%$�*�!�*�!��()�� � ���%������E���=���H���>�>�I�C>���?E����>�C>���?E�����=�A�������������J>��>���H���I?>I����H�K>??=�?�&$ ���%#��'�������5���$&$��!��������$�# ���������&$  $����+���������������������5��+�$� � #4���������� '��++$��� '��*��� '�����J@?�E���F���GA��
��������>������D?>I��C���>�C�J�>=E�A��L>��>��=���A��L>��>�����K����I?>I����F��GA>��$�%�&�$+$���$����4!$*��$���-$!!�����4��!$&$��%�$����5�-�5�45���5�!$&$���$�����������&�#�������5)� ��+�%�&�*� '���&)�� ��$��'����D���=>��@�E�D?��DE����=���A��
����������C���K��M�������J@����>������H�C>��D>?>E����'�����������&)!�5���4���+$����� ���N#���$�%�&�$�5� ��!!� #�.$.�������()$���$���������&$���$����+���$ �,*���&��������������(���������<$ ��$���$ ����&�5�4���4!$*���%����$�%�&�$+5'�%�+��%'������!%���������������&!�  �#�%����������& ��+�����,*���&���'���5� #���$�%�&�$+$���$����4!$*��$��� ��!!���$ ����!5���������(�����)��&$���%�45��))!$��4!��!�-���%� ��!!�4��!$&$��%� �!�!5���� #& �!�-+#!!5��))��)�$���%�+��� #���)#�)� ��$�������%�����-$�����$ �,*���&�������� O�� ���&$���$�������$ �,*���&����&�5�4�����&$����%�45��$�����)���5�+�����# �����+������.��$�����#)�������0��1�%�5 ��)�$���-�$��������$����������������)���5����6+�����,*���&����$ ����&$����%'���������������� ��!!�4��)�$%�+����!!�N��.$�� � ��$ +�����$!5�)��+��&�%�)�$����������%� $*����%����&$���$���%���'�$��!#%$�*���$&4#� �4!���()�� � �%#����N�$%�)�5&���� ��!!�4��&�%��$���������&�!���#� ���+�4# $��  ��� P�� 2�.���$�*�3�-�Q�<$ )#�� �����$ �,*���&������%��!!��!�$& ����������.�� $� ���$ $�*��#���+������!��$�*������$ �,*���&���� ��!!�4��*�.����%���%���� ��#�%�$�������%�����-$�������!�-��+�����N������+���!���%�'�-$���#����*��%�������+!$����+�!�-�)�$��$)!� ������-�#!%��� #!��$�������))!$���$����+���5�!�-����������������!�-��+�����N������+���!���%����R��#��+����!!����$�� � ��!!�4��$������<$ ��$�����#���$����%�+���������#��5�$��-�$�������<$ ��$���$ �!�����%����� ���� N#48�������,��#�!�,))��)�$��$�����%�S#%*���������<$ ��$���%�� �����$����%�����45�������������&#!�$)!�T+$ ��!�5����%$��������$�%$�����%�4�����������+$����$�!��4!$*��$���-��� ��.����������4!$*��$�� ��+�����<$ ��$���#�%�����$ �,*���&����$ � #48����������#�!�4#%*��$�*���%��))��)�$��$�� '���%�����������������()��  !5�#�%�� ���% ���C��I�����A��A���C��>�>���KA�A�����������D�CI����C��@@��@�>���=��C��>��K>A>��A��C>����>����=�L>��>����*�.���$�*�4�%5'���%������4!$*��$�� ��+�����<$ ��$��� ��!!��(���%���!5����&��$� ��))��)�$���%�+�������)#�)� � ��+���$ �,*���&������%� ��!!�������� �$�#�����&��%����5�����*�'���"#$��&�������!$�4$!$�5�$����5��� #$�*�+$ ��!�5����4�5��%���������T�#������+$ ��!�5����������<$ ��$�����%������������#�%�� ���%���%�$����%����������<$ ��$��� ��4!$*��$������&�U��)�5&��� ���%�)�5��������&�#�� �%#��#�%�������,*���&���� ��!!���� �$�#������#�������()�� ����%� ��!!�����$����5�-�5�4����� ��#�%����4����%�4��$��������.���$����+���5��))!$��4!����� �$�#�$���!���� ���#���5�!$&$���$�� ������"#$��&��� ���� ���� 2�.���&����!�6&&#�$�5���V���$�*�$����$ �,*���&���� ��!!�4����� ��#�%����-�$.�'�!$&$�'���������-$ ��&�%$+5'�$��-��!�����$��)���'���5�*�.���&����!�$&&#�$�5������&�5�4���.�$!�4!��45�!�-��������<$ ��$��'�$� ��� )���$.���++$�$�! '��&)!�5�� '����������� '�����*��� '������5�������)�� ������$�*����4���!+��+�����<$ ��$���



����������� ��

	
���
��	�����	��������
��
�	�����
���	�����������	�	�	�����������������������	
�������������� �� �����!"�#!$���%�&�'��� �� ���� &������(��)*�+,-�-.+-/+�+,-�0*/+123+*145�1-6-78-5�9*1�2�:85+183+�7-92;<+�;/7-1�+,-�=>1--6-/+�
������	
����������	������	���	���
������������������
��������?������
��������	������	��
���	����������������������������	@������	������	���������������������	
����	�����������������������	���
�����������������7;18/>�+,-�:85+183+45�+,-/ �����
�����	����������� ���� A����	����B�����
����C���?������
����	���
��������
��������������������	�	
����
���	������	
�	�	
�������������������������������������	�����	�����	���	������
�����	����������
���������
����������	����������
��	�D
�@���������	���	����	�����	����
�������������	
�	����	
���	���	���������������	�	��
��������?������
���� ���� '����	�������E��	
�������
��������?������
��������	�������	
������������������
��F�������
���������������
�
�����	���������������
���	���
���	�����������	��������	
�����	

�������
��@������	������	
�
������������	
�����������E
�	����
��
���������������������
�
�����	����������
����������	���	����	��	�������	�����	���	����������?������
��	�������
����	��
�������������������	���
�	��������
�
�����	����������
������	������������
�����������������
������	����	����	
���
�����	�������G���� H�����	
��������C���?������
����
�������������
����	������
�����@��
������	�����@�������������������	������	�������������
��	
����	�������������	����������	�����@����
�
����	��
����
�����	
�
����	
���������
����� �I�� %��
����	���JK�����
���C���?������
���	������K�������
������	�����
����	������	������@�����	������������	
����
	�������	������@���������������	�����
��������
��	
�������	���
������
����JK���������������������	������������������	�����������	�����	�B�L�������
���	
������
�����������	����������������
	���	
���
�
�����
�������
	��������������	
����	����	������������������	
�������������������
	������	�������������
����
�������������������
���	����	��������������������
�����M��������
	������������������
�	��������@���	����	����	��������	�����	���	D�
�	���
�����	���	���
����	�����N���	���������
�	��������K����������?������
������OPQRSPTRU��M�V��WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW�� �A	��V�WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW��C���V��WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW� XYZRS[TRYSU��M�V��WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW�� �A	��V�WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW�� � �C���V��WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW������� ������



����������� ��

	
���������������������������������������� �!"#����







��������	
����
 ��������	
����
������������������������� �!"#$!�%&�'������()�*+)��,-�*�.(��� /01234256�718245�9:;4�<=>�<?<@�<<A?B�CDEF����3��*6*�8��*!,-�*�.(���



1237.4200 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant:  Amaezing Entertainment! LLC 

Title of Agreement/Contract:  Photo Booth Services on November 9, 2024 

Agreement/Contract Date:  October 28, 2024 
 

 This Contract (“Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 

contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

 

 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective the date above. 

 

 1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 

“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 

customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 

in the Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 

tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

 

 2. Compensation of Services. Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement shall 

be provided in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Contractor shall 

be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any 

reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved 

in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Exhibit A may take any form.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body 

of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 

incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor will promptly repair or, at the 

District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 

or its employees, agents, or equipment.  

 

 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and nothing herein shall 

constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  

The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 

District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 

Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 

full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 

without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 

subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

 

 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and warrant 

that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the 

Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by 

this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this 

Agreement and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor hereby warrants 

the Work for a period of one (1) year from the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The 

Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement 

at its sole expense to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall 

in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, its 

successors and assigns. 



1237.4200 

 
2 

 

  

  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage:  (i) Commercial General Liability 

Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and 

property damage liability; $1,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury, and (ii) any other insurance commonly 

used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to 

any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  

The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed 

to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not 

serve to release it from any obligations; nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the 

Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 

7. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, from and against any and all 

claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, including legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct,  or 

any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or 

employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the District’s own negligence.  This 

indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, 

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under worker’s compensation acts, disability acts, or 

other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  To 

the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold Contractor harmless under the terms 

of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to the extent permitted by applicable law 

and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party for cause or for convenience upon 

ten (10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 

for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable expenses 

due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement is subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 

and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of District’s 

governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of 

this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year 

beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the District’s 

obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense 

and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitations or requirements. 

 

 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 

otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 

its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 





1237.4200 

 
4 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 



Martin Maez (Amaezing Entertainment!) 

23927 E 3rd Pl 

Aurora, CO 80018 

720-308-8931

Bill To Invoice Date 10/28/2024

Advance HOA 

Leyden Rock Metro District 

Attn: Christine Ahern 

17685 West 83rd Drive 

Arvada, CO 80007

Description Amount

Photo Booth services 7-10pm on 11/9/24 750.00

Total $750.00

Terms & Conditions

Payment is due on or before 11/9/24

In
v
o

ic
e

 4
8









1237.4200 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant:  Broken Spoke LLC 

Title of Agreement/Contract:  Wagon Rides at Fall Fest, September 21, 2024 

Agreement/Contract Date:  September 18, 2024 
 

 This Contract (“Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 

contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

 

 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective the date above. 

 

 1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 

“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 

customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 

in the Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 

tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

 

 2. Compensation of Services. Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement shall 

be provided in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Contractor shall 

be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any 

reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved 

in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Exhibit A may take any form.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body 

of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 

incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor will promptly repair or, at the 

District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 

or its employees, agents, or equipment.  

 

 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and nothing herein shall 

constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  

The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 

District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 

Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 

full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 

without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 

subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

 

 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and warrant 

that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the 

Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by 

this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this 

Agreement and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor hereby warrants 

the Work for a period of one (1) year from the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The 

Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement 

at its sole expense to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall 

in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, its 

successors and assigns. 



1237.4200 

 
2 

 

  

  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage:  (i) Commercial General Liability 

Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and 

property damage liability; $1,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury, and (ii) any other insurance commonly 

used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to 

any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  

The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed 

to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not 

serve to release it from any obligations; nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the 

Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 

7. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, from and against any and all 

claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, including legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct,  or 

any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or 

employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the District’s own negligence.  This 

indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, 

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under worker’s compensation acts, disability acts, or 

other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  To 

the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold Contractor harmless under the terms 

of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to the extent permitted by applicable law 

and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party for cause or for convenience upon 

ten (10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 

for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable expenses 

due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement is subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 

and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of District’s 

governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of 

this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year 

beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the District’s 

obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense 

and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitations or requirements. 

 

 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 

otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 

its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 



1237.4200 

 
3 

and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 

seq., C.R.S. 

  

 12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 

include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 

solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 

during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  

 

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 

than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 

parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 

this Agreement. 

 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 

jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 

which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 

shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 

15.   Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 

and commitments. 

 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 

which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 

deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 

for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

 

By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 

said representative to execute this Agreement.   

 

District: 

 

By:  ________________________________ 

  

Name: ______________________________ 

 

Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 

 

By:  ________________________________ 

  

Name: ______________________________ 

   

Title:  _______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1237.4200 

 
4 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 



GENERAL SERVICE AGREEMENT

THIS GENERAL SERVICE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") dated this   21 of August, 2024

BETWEEN: Christine Ahern (the 'Customer')

OF: Layden Rock Fall festival

ADDRESS: 17685 W. 83rd Arvada , CO 80007

AND: JOHN C. McDONALD (the 'the 'Service Provider')

OF: Broken Spoke, LLC  24200 East Alameda Avenue  Aurora, Colorado  80018

The Customer wishes to be provided with the Services (defined below) by the Service Provider and the 
Service Provider agrees to provide the Services to the Customer on the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.

1.1 Services
The Service Provider shall provide the following services ("Services") to the Customer in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement:

1 HORSE DRAWN WAGON(s) FROM 11:00 to 2:00 on

September 21, 2024

1.2 Fees
As consideration for the provision of the Services by the Service Provider, the fees for the provision of the 
Services is $1400. ('Fees').

1.3 Payment
The Customer agrees to pay the Fees to the Service Provider on or before the event date or date of 
service. The Service Provider shall invoice the Customer for the Services that it has provided to the 
Customer before the event or date of service. The Customer shall pay such invoices upon receipt from the 
Service Provider. Any charges payable under this Agreement are exclusive of any applicable taxes and 
such shall be payable by the Customer to the Service Provider in addition to all other charges payable 
hereunder.

1.4 Deposit

To reserve the Customer's event date, the Service Provider requires No Deposit.
1.5 Warranty

The Service Provider represents and warrants that it will perform the Services with reasonable skill and 
care.

1.6 Limitation of Liability
Subject to the Customer's obligation to pay the Fees to the Service Provider, either party's liability arising 
directly out of its obligations under this Agreement and every applicable part of it shall be limited in 
aggregate to the Fees. The Service Provider assumes no liability due to the quality of items or services 
purchased for the Customer.

1.7 Term and Termination



This Agreement shall be effective on the date hereof and shall continue until the date of the event unless 
terminated sooner. If the Customer terminates this agreement for any reason more than 7 days before the 
scheduled event, the Customer will forfeit the deposit paid to the Service Provider and the Customer shall 
reimburse the Service Provider for all outstanding out-of-pocket expenses. If the Customer terminates this 
agreement for any reason within 7 days of the scheduled event, the full fee is payable to the Service 
Provider and the Customer shall reimburse the Service Provider for all outstanding out-of-pocket expenses.

1.8 Relationship of the Parties
The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Services performed by the Service Provider, its employees, 
sub-contractors, or agents shall be as an independent contractor and that nothing in this Agreement shall 
be deemed to constitute a partnership, joint venture, or otherwise between the parties.

1.9 Miscellaneous
The failure of either party to enforce its rights under this Agreement at any time for any period shall not be 
construed as a waiver of such rights.  If any part, term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal or 
unenforceable neither the validity nor enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement shall be affected. 
This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the Parties relating to the event and 
supersedes all prior representations, negotiations or understandings with respect to the event.

NOTICE
UNDER COLORADO LAW AN EQUINE PROFESSIONAL IS NOT LIABLE FOR AN INJURY TO OR DEATH OF A 

PARTICIPANT IN EQUINE ACTIVITIES RESULTING FROM THE INHERENT RISK OF EQUINE ACTIVITIES 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13-21-119 COLORADO REVISED STATUTES.

Agreed by the Parties hereto:

Customer's Signature Service Provider's Signature

SIGNED by: Christine Ahern SIGNED by: JOHN C. McDONALD

FOR: Layden Rock Fall festival FOR: BROKEN SPOKE, LLC



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

9/18/2024

Rocky Mountain Insurance Specialists

2175 S. Jasmine St. 

Ste. 109

Denver CO 80222

Kenia Campos

(303) 758-1850 (303) 758-0182

kenia@trustrmis.com

Broken Spoke LLC

24200 E ALAMEDA AVE

AURORA CO 80018-1510

PENN STAR INS CO 10673

A

✘
✘

✘

PAV0493303 09/01/2024 09/01/2025

1,000,000

100,000

5,000,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

INCLUDED

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 

8360 E. Ventura BLVD 

Suite L-100 

Scottsdale AZ 85258





1 
1237.4200: 
 

FIRST ADDENDUM  
TO  

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(Solid Waste Services) 

_______________________________ 
 

 This FIRST ADDENDUM TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the 
“First Addendum”) is entered into the 20th day of November, 2024, by and between LEYDEN 
ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision 
of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and KEESEN LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT, INC., 
a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”). The District and the Contractor are referred to herein 
as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 1 and the Contractor entered into an 
Independent Contractor Agreement, effective November 20, 2023, for landscape maintenance 
services, as subsequently amended from time to time (the “Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement includes a Scope of Services within Exhibit A; and 
 

WHER EAS, the Parties desire to replace the Scope of Services in Exhibit A with the 
Scope of Services in Addendum 1 attached hereto; 
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement includes a Compensation Schedule within Exhibit B; and 
 

WHER EAS, the Parties desire to replace the Compensation Schedule in Exhibit A with 
the Compensation Schedule in Addendum 2 attached hereto. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained 
herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties covenant and agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

1. Change in Scope of Services. The Parties hereby amend and restate in its entirety 
the Scope of Services in Exhibit A of the Agreement with the Scope of Services in Addendum 1 
attached hereto. 

 
2. Change in Compensation Schedule.  The Parties hereby amend and restate in its 

entirety the Compensation Schedule in Exhibit B of the Agreement with the Compensation 
Schedule in Addendum 2 attached hereto.  
 

3. Renewal. The Parties hereby renew the Agreement for fiscal year 2025. This First 
Addendum shall be effective on January 1, 2025 and shall terminate at midnight on December 
31, 2025. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to subsection (i), or unless 



2 
1237.4200: 
 

the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, 
this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional 
one (1) year term. 

 
4. Prior Provisions Effective. Except as specifically amended hereby, all the terms 

and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  
 

5. Counterpart Execution. This First Addendum may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. Executed copies of this First Addendum may be 
delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals 
and binding upon the signatories to this First Addendum. 

 
[Signature pages follow.]  



3 
1237.4200: 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Addendum as of the 
date set forth below. By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has 
taken all necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this First Addendum. 
 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Colorado 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
       Officer of the District 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
General Counsel to the District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
District’s Signature Page to First Addendum to Independent Contractor Agreement for 

Landscape Maintenance Services with Keesen Landscape Management, Inc. with Leyden 
Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2024  



4 
1237.4200: 
 

KEESEN LANDSCAPE 
MANAGEMENT, INC., a Colorado 
corporation 
 
 
 

               
             By:        
        Its:        
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Contractor’s Signature Page to First Addendum to Independent Contractor Agreement for 
Landscape Maintenance Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 

20, 2024 



5 
1237.4200: 
 

 
ADDENDUM 1 



6 
1237.4200: 
 



7 
1237.4200: 
 



8 
1237.4200: 
 



9 
1237.4200: 
 



10 
1237.4200: 
 



11 
1237.4200: 
 

 
 
 



12 
1237.4200: 
 

ADDENDUM 2 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



1237.4200 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
2025 TREE CARE SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2024, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and PRESERVATION TREE 
CARE, INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 2025 
hereof and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; 
or (ii) midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant 
to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this 
Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 
of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



1237.4200 3 

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit B 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



1237.4200 4 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



1237.4200 5 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



1237.4200 6 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



1237.4200 7 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



1237.4200 8 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200 9 

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Preservation Tree Care, Inc. 

2309 W. Oxford Avenue 
Sheridan, CO 80110 
Attention: Tyler Desmet 
Phone: (720) 818 - 6316 

mailto:katie.call@advancehoa.com


1237.4200 10 

Email: 
customercare@preservationtreecare.net 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



1237.4200 11 

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



1237.4200 12 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY AND PERMITS.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement 
guarantee and warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or 
performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good 
quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further 
warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  All materials are subject to the 
satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the completed Work will not constitute 
final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor to correct defects at a later date.  
Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

a. The Contractor hereby warrants the Work for a period of one (1) year from 
the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct 
or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement at its sole expense to 
the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all 
cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, 
its successors and assigns. 

b. Prior to final payment for any Services involving Work, and at any time 
thereafter but before the final inspection, as set forth below, the Contractor and the District shall, 
at the request of the District, conduct an inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining 
whether any Work is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The 
Contractor’s fees and costs associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit B and shall not be billed separately to the District.  In the event the 
Contractor neglects to include the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit B, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  
After completion of the inspection, the District will provide the Contractor with written notice of 
any Work requiring corrective action.  The Contractor agrees to correct or replace the defective 
Work within a reasonable time, as agreed to by the Parties, but in no event later than thirty (30) 
calendar days from the date of notice from the District, unless otherwise agreed to by the District. 

c. The Contractor agrees that if warranty issues appear before payment has 
been made under this Agreement, the District may withhold payment until such warranty issues 
are resolved to the District’s satisfaction.  If repair or replacement of any warranty or defective 
Work is not made by the Contractor promptly upon request by the District as set forth in this 
Agreement, in addition to any other remedy, the District may withhold any payment the District 
may owe to the Contractor, including payments under other contracts or agreements related or 
unrelated to the Work and Services. 



1237.4200 13 

d. The Contractor shall promptly notify the District of any Work, whether by 
the Contractor, its subcontractors or any third parties, which the Contractor believes to be defective 
or not conforming with this Agreement. 

e. The Contractor shall, at its expense, obtain all permits, licenses, and other 
consents required from all governmental authorities, utility companies, and appropriate parties 
under any restrictive covenants in connection with the Work.  The Contractor shall comply with 
all the terms and conditions of all permits, licenses, and consents. 

f. At or around eleven (11) months, but no more than one (1) year, after the 
completion and acceptance of the Work, the Contractor and the District shall, at the request of the 
District, conduct a final inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining whether any Work 
is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The Contractor’s fees and costs 
associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation schedule set forth in Exhibit 
B and shall not be billed separately to the District.  In the event the Contractor neglects to include 
the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation schedule set forth in Exhibit 
B, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  After completion of the final 
inspection, the District will provide the Contractor with written notice of any Work requiring 
corrective action.  In the event the Contractor does not correct or replace the defective Work within 
thirty (30) calendar days from the date of notice from the District, or within such other reasonable 
time as agreed to by the Parties, the District may correct or replace the defective Work and the 
Contractor shall reimburse the District for the related costs and fees.  

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow] 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for 2025 Tree Care Services 
with Preservation Tree Care, Inc., dated November 20, 2024 

 
1237.4200 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
President 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for 2025 Tree Care 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2024 

 
1237.4200 15 

CONTRACTOR: 
PRESERVATION TREE CARE, INC., a 
Colorado corporation 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of November, 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Preservation Tree Care, Inc. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



1237.4200 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 

 
 
 



1237.4200 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

 
CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



1237.4200 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of 
the District, covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be 
responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 
responsibility for money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District 
against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, 



1237.4200 C-2 

or other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be in an 
amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

6. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



1237.4200 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 
 



����������	
���
��������������������	

������	����	�� ��!��" #�	�"$ �"� 	��� �#� 		�%&'	()	�(*+,%-+(,.!,(/01',.�(*234+%*+5		6789:;	<;=	>;�	?@A@7	BCDCE?FGFHI	>7HCDFEJ	 0+4'	()	#K,''&'*+.�(*+,%-+5		>7HCDFEJ	BCDLFMC8	NO	�;LC:ACD	P=	����	#K,''&'*+.�(*+,%-+	�%+'5		�;LC:ACD	�=	����	69F8	>;EHD7MH	QRSJDCC:CEHTU	VW	XYZ[	\]	ŶZ	\[_̀[[̂	aCI?CE	b;Mc	dCHD;G;eFH7E	fF8HDFMH=	7	gh78F�XîVjVkYl	jmnkmnY_Vm̂	ŶZ	kmlV_VjYl	Wi\ZVoVWVm̂	mp	_q[	r_Y_[	mp	smlmnYZm	Q_q[	RtVW_nVj_TU	ŶZ	_q[	Y\mo[�DCuCDCEMC?	M;EHD7MH;D=	knmoVZ[nv	mn	m_q[n	jm̂Wil_Ŷ_	Q_q[	Rsm̂_nYj_mnTUw	xEHD;?hMHF;E�	69C	fF8HDFMH	7E?	H9C	>;EHD7MH;D	?C8FDC	H;	CEHCD	FEH;	H9F8	>;EHD7MH	H;	AC	CuuCMHFLC	H9C	?7HC	7A;LC�	�� BM;GC	;u	BCDLFMC8�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	897ee	GCDu;D:	H9C	8CDLFMC8	8CH	u;DH9	FE	�yz0{0+	#	|H9CR$',/0-'2TU}	QYU	V̂	Y	pVnW_�Me788	:7EECD=	H;	H9C	87HF8u7MHF;E	;u	H9C	fF8HDFMH=	h8FEJ	H9C	?CJDCC	;u	8cFee	7E?	cE;~eC?JC	Mh8H;:7DFeI	C:Ge;IC?	AI	;H9CD	GD;uC88F;E7e8	GCDu;D:FEJ	8F:Fe7D	8CDLFMC8�	|A�	~FH9FE	H9C	HF:C	GCDF;?	8GCMFuFC?	FE	H9C	SJDCC:CEH�	|M�	FE	8hM9	7	:7EECD	78	H;	:FEF:F�C	7EI	7EE;I7EMC=	FEHCDuCDCEMC=	;D	?F8DhGHF;E	H;	H9C	DC8F?CEH8=	HCE7EH8=	;MMhG7EH8=	7E?	FELFHCC8	~FH9FE	H9C	fF8HDFMH�	7E?	|?�	FE	M;:GeF7EMC	~FH9	7ee	7GGeFM7AeC	uC?CD7e=	8H7HC=	M;hEHI=	7E?	e;M7e	;D	:hEFMFG7e	8H7HhHC8=	;D?FE7EMC8=	7E?	DCJhe7HF;E8�		�� >;:GCE87HF;E	;u	BCDLFMC8�	>;:GCE87HF;E	u;D	H9C	BCDLFMC8	GD;LF?C?	hE?CD	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	897eeAC	GD;LF?C?	FE	7MM;D?7EMC	~FH9	H9C	M;:GCE87HF;E	8M9C?heC	7HH7M9C?	9CDCH;	78	�yz0{0+	#�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	897ee	AC	DC8G;E8FAeC	u;D	7ee	C�GCE8C8	FH	FEMhD8	FE	GCDu;D:7EMC	;u	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	7E?	897ee	E;H	AC	CEHFHeC?	H;	7EI	DCF:AhD8C:CEH	;D	M;:GCE87HF;E	C�MCGH	78	GD;LF?C?	9CDCFE=	hEeC88	87F?	DCF:AhD8C:CEH	;D	M;:GCE87HF;E	F8	7GGD;LC?	FE	~DFHFEJ	AI	H9C	fF8HDFMH	FE	7?L7EMC	;u	FEMhDDFEJ	8hM9	C�GCE8C8�	��9FAFH	S	:7I	H7cC	7EI	u;D:�		xE	H9C	CLCEH	;u	7EI	M;EueFMH	ACH~CCE	HCD:8	8CH	u;DH9	FE	H9C	A;?I	;u	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	7E?	HCD:8	8CH	u;DH9	FE	��9FAFH	S=	H9C	HCD:8	FE	H9C	A;?I	;u	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	897ee	J;LCDE�	�� bCG7FD8@>e7F:8�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	897ee	E;HFuI	H9C	fF8HDFMH	F::C?F7HCeI=	FE	~DFHFEJ=	;u	7EI	7E?	7eeFEMF?CEH8@7MMF?CEH8	~9FM9	DC8heH	FE	FE�hDI	;D	GD;GCDHI	?7:7JC�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	~Fee	GD;:GHeI	DCG7FD	;D=	7H	H9C	tVW_nVj_�W	mk_Vm̂v	n[VX\inW[	_q[	tVW_nVj_	pmn	_q[	n[kYVn	mp	YEI	?7:7JC	H;	fF8HDFMH	GD;GCDHI	M7h8C?	AI	H9C	>;EHD7MH;D	;D	FH8	C:Ge;ICC8=	7JCEH8=	;D	CghFG:CEH�		�� xE?CGCE?CEH	>;EHD7MH;D�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	F8	7E	FE?CGCE?CEH	M;EHD7MH;D	7E?	E;H9FEJ	9CDCFE	897eeM;E8HFHhHC	;D	?C8FJE7HC	H9C	>;EHD7MH;D	;D	7EI	;u	FH8	C:Ge;ICC8	;D	7JCEH8	78	C:Ge;ICC8	;D	7JCEH8	;u	H9C	fF8HDFMH�		�q[	sm̂_nYj_mn	VW	̂m_	[̂_V_l[Z	_m	̀mn�[nW�	jmXk[̂WY_Vm̂	\[̂[pV_W	mn	î[Xklm]X[̂_	V̂WinŶj[	\[̂[pV_W	ŶZ	_q[	fF8HDFMH	~Fee	E;H	GD;LF?C	7EI	FE8hD7EMC	M;LCD7JC	;D	C:Ge;I:CEH	ACECuFH8	;u	7EI	cFE?	;D	HIGC	H;	;D	u;D	H9C	>;EHD7MH;D	;D	FH8	C:Ge;ICC8=	8hA�M;E8heH7EH8=	M;EHD7MH;D8=	7JCEH8=	;D	DCGDC8CEH7HFLC8�	69C	>;EHD7MH;D	897ee	97LC	uhee	G;~CD	7E?	7hH9;DFHI	H;	8CeCMH	H9C	:C7E8=	:7EECD=	7E?	:CH9;?	;u	GCDu;D:FEJ	FH8	?hHFC8	hE?CD	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH=	~FH9;hH	?CH7FeC?	M;EHD;e	;D	?FDCMHF;E	uD;:	H9C	fF8HDFMH=	7E?	897ee	AC	DC8G;E8FAeC	u;D	8hGCDLF8FEJ	FH8	;~E	C:Ge;ICC8	;D	8hAM;EHD7MH;D8�		69C	fF8HDFMH	F8	M;EMCDEC?	;EeI	~FH9	H9C	DC8heH8	H;	AC	;AH7FEC?�	�� �7DD7EHI	7E?	
CD:FH8�	69C	>;EHD7MH;D	897ee	7E?	?;C8	AI	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	Jh7D7EHCC	7E?	~7DD7EHH97H	7ee	~;Dc:7E89FG=	:7HCDF7e8=	7E?	CghFG:CEH	uhDEF89C?=	FE8H7eeC?=	;D	GCDu;D:C?	u;D	H9C	7MM;:GeF89:CEH	;u	H9C	r[noVj[W	Qjmll[j_Vo[l]v	_q[	R�(,�TU	̀Vll	\[	mp	�mmZ	�iYlV_]	ŶZ	̂[̀v	îl[WW	m_q[ǹVW[	n[�iVn[Z	mn	k[nXV__[Z	\]	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	uhDH9CD	~7DD7EH8	H97H	H9C	�;Dc	~Fee	M;Eu;D:	H;	7ee	DCghFDC:CEH8	;u	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	7E?	H9C	7GGeFM7AeC	AhFe?FEJ	M;?C	7E?	7ee	;H9CD	7GGeFM7AeC	e7~8=	;D?FE7EMC8=	M;?C8=	DheC8=	7E?	DCJhe7HF;E8	;u	7EI	J;LCDE:CEH7e	7hH9;DFHFC8	97LFEJ	�hDF8?FMHF;E	;LCD	H9C	�;Dc�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	9CDCAI	~7DD7EH8	H9C	�;Dc	u;D	7	GCDF;?	;u	;EC	|��	IC7D	uD;:	H9C	?7HC	;u	M;:GeCHF;E	7E?	FEFHF7e	7MMCGH7EMC	;u	H9C	�;Dc�		69C	>;EHD7MH;D	~Fee	F::C?F7HCeI	M;DDCMH	;D	DCGe7MC	7EI	�;Dc	H97H	F8	?CuCMHFLC	;D	E;H	M;Eu;D:FEJ	H;	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH	Y_	V_W	Wml[	[�k[̂W[	_m	_q[	n[YWm̂Y\l[	WY_VWpYj_Vm̂	mp	_q[	tVW_nVj_w		�q[	sm̂_nYj_mn�W	�iYnŶ_[[W	ŶZ	̀YnnŶ_V[W	WqYll	FE	7ee	M78C8	8hDLFLC	HCD:FE7HF;E	;u	H9F8	SJDCC:CEH�		69F8	~7DD7EHI	897ee	AC	CEu;DMC7AeC	AI	H9C	fF8HDFMH=	FH8	8hMMC88;D8	7E?	788FJE8�	



����������	�
���
��������������������� ��

�� ��� ���� ���������������� ����!���"#$�%&'()*+(&)�,#*--�*+./0)$�*'1�2*0'(*0'3�*(�0(,�,&-$�+&,(�*'1�$45$',$3�1/)0'6�(#$�$'(0)$�($)2�&7�(#$�86)$$2$'(3�(#$�7&--&90'6�0',/)*'+$�+&:$)*6$;��<0=�%&22$)+0*-�>$'$)*-�?0*@0-0(A�B',/)*'+$�90(#�20'02/2�-020(,�&7�-0*@0-0(A�&7�'&(�-$,,�(#*'�C�3���3����5$)�&++/))$'+$�7&)�@&10-A�0'D/)A�*'1�5)&5$)(A�1*2*6$�-0*@0-0(A	�C�3���3����
$),&'*-�E�81:$)(0,0'6�B'D/)A3�*'1�<00=�*'A�&(#$)�0',/)*'+$�+&22&'-A�/,$1�@A�+&'()*+(&),�7&)�,$):0+$,�&7�(#$�(A5$�(&�@$�5$)7&)2$1�5/),/*'(�(&�(#0,�86)$$2$'(���8--�+&:$)*6$�5)&:01$1�5/),/*'(�(&�(#0,�86)$$2$'(�,#*--�@$�9)0(($'�*,�5)02*)A�5&-0+0$,3�'&(�+&'()0@/(0'6�90(#�*'1�'&(�,/55-$2$'(*-�(&�*'A�+&:$)*6$�(#*(�(#$�F0,()0+(�2*A�+*))A3�*'1�*'A�0',/)*'+$�2*0'(*0'$1�@A�(#$�F0,()0+(�,#*--�@$�+&',01$)$1�$4+$,,���"#$�%&22$)+0*-�>$'$)*-�?0*@0-0(A�*'1�%&25)$#$',0:$�8/(&2&@0-$�?0*@0-0(A�B',/)*'+$�5&-0+0$,�90--�@$�$'1&),$1�(&�'*2$�(#$�F0,()0+(�*,�*'�*110(0&'*-�0',/)$1��"#$�%&'()*+(&)���G�HI �!����J ��K��!��K!��!L H�!M�H�� ����!��K�II�����,$):$�(&�)$-$*,$�0(�7)&2�*'A�&@-06*(0&',	�'&)�,#*--�(#$�5/)+#*,$�&7�(#$�)$./0)$1�0',/)*'+$�,$):$�(&�-020(�(#$�%&'()*+(&)���IH�NHIH�OP��QK!�%&'()*+(&)�,#*--�@$�)$,5&',0@-$�7&)�(#$�5*A2$'(�&7�*'A�1$1/+(0@-$,�&'�0,,/$1�5&-0+0$,������ B'1$2'070+*(0&'���"#$�%&'()*+(&)�,#*--�1$7$'13�0'1$2'07A3�*'1�#&-1�#*)2-$,,�(#$�F0,()0+(�*'1�$*+#�&7�0(,�10)$+(&),3�&770+$),3�+&'()*+(&),3�$25-&A$$,3�*6$'(,3�*'1�+&',/-(*'(,3�7)&2�*'1�*6*0',(�*'A�*'1�*--�+-*02,3�1$2*'1,3�-&,,$,3�-0*@0-0(0$,3�*+(0&',3�-*9,/0(,3�1*2*6$,3�*'1�$45$',$,3�0'+-/10'6�-$6*-�$45$',$,�*'1�������!O���G!!�R���H�H�S�MH�!��IO����H�MH�!��IO�� ���G��K!�!����������TH��H���R��!SIHS!��!R�UHIIG I�20,+&'1/+(3��&)�*'A�+)020'*-�&)�(&)(0&/,�*+(�&)�&20,,0&'�&7�(#$�%&'()*+(&)�&)�*'A�&7�0(,�,/@+&'()*+(&),3�&770+$),3�*6$'(,3�&)�$25-&A$$,����"#$�%&'()*+(&)�0,������NIHS��!M����H�M!T�HGO��K!�VH���H���G����K!�VH���H������U���!SIHS!��!P��QKH��0'1$2'070+*(0&'�&@-06*(0&'�90--�'&(�@$�-020($1�0'�*'A�9*A�@A�*'A�-020(*(0&'�&'�(#$�*2&/'(�&)�(A5$,�&7�1*2*6$,3�+&25$',*(0&'3����N!�!GH���J�O�NI!�NO����G����K!������������ �M!��U��W!������TJ!����H�������R�MH��NHIH�O�����3�&)�&(#$)�$25-&A$$�@$'$70(�*+(,���X/+#�0'1$2'0(A�,#*--�,/):0:$�(#$�$450)*(0&'�&)�($)20'*(0&'�&7�(#0,�86)$$2$'(���"&�(#$�$4($'(�(#$�F0,()0+(�0,�&)�2*A�@$�&@-06*($1�(&�0'1$2'07A3�1$7$'13�&)�#&-1�%&'()*+(&)�#*)2-$,,�/'1$)�(#$�($)2,�&7�(#$�86)$$2$'(3�*'A�,/+#�0'1$2'070+*(0&'�&@-06*(0&'�,#*--�*)0,$�&'-A�(&�(#$�$4($'(�5$)20(($1�@A�*55-0+*@-$�-*9�*'1�,#*--�@$�-020($1�,&-$-A�(&�,/2,�-*97/--A�*55)&5)0*($1�7&)�,/+#�5/)5&,$�0'�*++&)1*'+$�90(#�(#0,�86)$$2$'(����� ��� "$)20'*(0&'���"#0,�86)$$2$'(�2*A�@$�($)20'*($1�@A�$0(#$)�5*)(A�7&)�+*/,$�&)�7&)�+&':$'0$'+$�/5&'�7&/)($$'�<��=�1*A,��5)0&)�9)0(($'�'&(0+$�(&�(#$�&(#$)�5*)(A����B7�(#$�86)$$2$'(�0,�($)20'*($13�(#$�%&'()*+(&)�,#*--�@$�5*01�7&)�*--�X$):0+$,�,*(0,7*+(&)0-A�5$)7&)2$1�5)0&)�(&�(#$�1$,06'*($1�($)20'*(0&'�1*($3�0'+-/10'6�)$02@/),*@-$�$45$',$,�1/$���X*01�5*A2$'(�,#*--�@$�2*1$�0'�(#$�'&)2*-�+&/),$�&7�@/,0'$,,��� Y�� >&:$)'0'6�?*9�Z�F0,5/($,���"#0,�86)$$2$'(�*'1�*--�+-*02,�&)�+&'()&:$),0$,�*)0,0'6�&/(�&7�&)�)$-*(0'6�(&�(#0,�86)$$2$'(�,#*--�@$�6&:$)'$1�*'1�+&',()/$1�0'�*++&)1*'+$�90(#�(#$�-*9�&7�(#$�X(*($�&7�%&-&)*1&3�90(#&/(�)$6*)1�(&�+&'7-0+(�&7�-*9�5)0'+05-$,�(#*(�9&/-1�)$,/-(�0'�(#$�*55-0+*(0&'�&7�*'A�-*9�&(#$)�(#*'�(#$�-*9�&7�(#$�X(*($�&7�%&-&)*1&���[$'/$�7&)�*--�*+(0&',�,#*--�@$�0'�(#$�F0,()0+(�%&/)(�0'�*'1�7&)�(#$�+&/'(A�0'�9#0+#�(#$�F0,()0+(�0,�-&+*($1����� ���� X/@D$+(�(&�8''/*-�855)&5)0*(0&'�*'1�\/16$(���"#$�F0,()0+(�1&$,�'&(�0'($'1�#$)$@A�(&�+)$*($�*�2/-(05-$�70,+*-�A$*)�10)$+(�&)�0'10)$+(�1$@(�&)�&(#$)�70'*'+0*-�&@-06*(0&'�9#*(,&$:$)���"#$�&@-06*(0&',�&7�(#$�F0,()0+(�/'1$)�(#0,�86)$$2$'(�0,�,/@D$+(�(&�*''/*-�@/16$(0'6�*'1�*55)&5)0*(0&',3�*'1�(#$�%&'()*+(&)�$45)$,,-A�/'1$),(*'1,���M��S�!!���K����K!��M!�H�H���UK!�K!������������N MS!����M��JJ��J�H��!�G �M��H��UH�KH���K!�MH���!�H����G�VH���H�����6&:$)'0'6�@&1A3�*'1�(#$�&@-06*(0&',�&7�(#$�F0,()0+(�,#*--�$4($'1�&'-A�(&�2&'0$,�*55)&5)0*($1�7&)�(#$�5/)5&,$,�&7�(#0,�86)$$2$'(�*'1�,#*--�'&(�+&',(0(/($�*�2*'1*(&)A�+#*)6$3�)$./0)$2$'(�&)�-0*@0-0(A�0'�*'A�$',/0'6�70,+*-�A$*)�@$A&'1�(#$�(#$'�+/))$'(�70,+*-�A$*)���"#$�F0,()0+(�*'1�%&'()*+(&)�/'1$),(*'1�*'1�0'($'1�(#*(�(#$�F0,()0+(�,�&@-06*(0&'�(&�2*]$�5*A2$'(,�*'1�5*A�&(#$)�*2&/'(,�1/$�/'1$)�(#$�86)$$2$'(�,#*--�+&',(0(/($�*�+/))$'(�$45$',$�*'1�,#*--�'&(�0'�*'A�9*A�@$�+&',()/$1�(&�@$�*�1$@(�0'�+&'()*:$'(0&'�&7�*'A�*55-0+*@-$�+&',(0(/(0&'*-�&)�,(*(/(&)A�-020(*(0&',�&)�)$./0)$2$'(,���� ���� >&:$)'2$'(*-�B22/'0(A����&(#0'6�0'�(#0,�86)$$2$'(�,#*--�@$�+&',()/$1�(&�9*0:$3�-020(3�&)�&(#$)90,$�2&107A3�0'�9#&-$�&)�0'�5*)(3�*'A�6&:$)'2$'(*-�022/'0(A�(#*(�2*A�@$�*:*0-*@-$�@A�-*9�(&�(#$�F0,()0+(3�0(,�)$,5$+(0:$�&770+0*-,3�$25-&A$$,3�+&'()*+(&),3�&)�*6$'(,3�&)�*'A�&(#$)�5$),&'�*+(0'6�&'�@$#*-7�&7�(#$�F0,()0+(�



����������	�
���
��������������������� ��

��������������� ����!"#$��%$��� ��%%����&��''"��$��"���#�� �( $��"��)$�*�+���������+������"��)$�,,������������-.�/-0���1�2�3��� �� ���� 2$%$��$+4��56�789�9:79;7�789�<6;7=>?76=@A�=9B9CD9A�E6=�>�FDA7=D?7�C9E>GH7�G;C9=�789�IJ=99B9;7���� ��$���&���!)���"����$ $���$��%"���+��"�($�"%$���$����$���)$�K!�$$%$����+��)����$ $����"��+)�  �($� �%��$��+" $ &��"�+�%+� �L'�  &�����"�����$��'"��+��)�����"+$�����+)�  �'���)$��($� �%��$���"��%"���+��"�($�"%$���$�CG=D;J�789�FDA7=D?7@A�789;�����$���'�+�� ��$��"����� ���� �$!"����$��
�"#�+�"�+���M)�+�K!�$$%$���+)�  ��"��($��"�+���$��%"�$�+����� &��!���+��"�$�����&��)����!���+���)$�"�)$��%$�$ &�(&�#����$�"'��)$�'�����)������%�&�)�#$�($$����$���$��(&��"��+$ �'"��"�$�"'��)$������$+�����($��!���N�"L $�!$���)���$��)�����&�)�+��"����(��$��+�(+������  &�����%��$���  &��"��)$���$������"��"'��)�+�K!�$$%$����� ���� 3$#$��(� ��&���O'���&��"���"��"'��)�+�K!�$$%$����+��$� ��$��(&���&��"����"'��"%�$�$���P���+�����"���"�($�#"���"����$�'"��$�( $��+��)��$��+�"��+)�  ��"���''$����)$�#� ����&�"'���&��$%�����!��"���"���L)��)�+)�  ��$%�������'�  �'"��$�����$''$�����O��������"������ �$��"'�+��)�#"���"����$�'"��$�( $���"#�+�"����)$�$�+)�  ����"%�����  &�($����$���+������"'��)�+�K!�$$%$�������"#�+�"��+�%� �������$�%+��"�+��)��  $!� ����#� ����"����$�'"��$�( $���"#�+�"��+"��)����)$��$+� ���!��$'"�%$����"#�+�"���+� $!� ��#� ��������$�'"��$�( $��������� Q�+�$  ��$"�+����M)�+�K!�$$%$����"�+�����$+��)$�$����$��!�$$%$���($�L$$���)$������$+�L��)��$+�$����"��)$�%���$�+�����$++$��)$�$��������+)�  �+��$�+$�$��  ����"��"�� �"��L����$���$!"�����"�+�����$�+������!+�������"%%��%$��+��� ���� 1"���$������RS$����"����M)�+�K!�$$%$���%�&�($�$S$���$�����+$#$�� ��"���$�����+��$��)�"'�L)��)�%�&�($��$$%$�����"��!��� ��(����  �"'�L)��)��"!$�)$��+)�  ��"�+�����$�"�$������)$�+�%$���+���%$�����RS$���$���"��$+�)$�$"'�%�&�($��$ �#$�$��(&�'��+�%� $�"��$%�� �"'���
*T��"��%$�����������"���$�$�����+)�  �($��$$%$��"��!��� +�����(�����!���"���)$�+�!���"��$+�)$�$�"������+)�  �)�#$��)$�'�  �'"��$�����$''$���"'��)$�"��!��� �'"���  �����"+$+����� ����!��)$��� $+�"'�$#��$��$���� ���( $��"��"������"�$$���!+���U&��)$�+�!�����$�"'���+��$��$+$�����#$�($ "L��$��)�����&��''��%+��)������)�+���N$���  ��$�$++��&�����"���"����)"��V$�+�����$��$+$�����#$��"�$S$���$��)�+�K!�$$%$�������WXYZ[X\Z]��U&̂��________________________________�� ���%$̂�______________________________��M�� $̂��______________________________� àbZ[c\Za[]��U&̂��________________________________�� ���%$̂�______________________________�� � �M�� $̂��_______________________________�������������
def�gehi�jklm�no�pqpr�sstru�vwxyz{|�}{~�����������������������������������������



����������	�
���
��������������������� ��

������������� !��"��!#$%�!&'(�) !*&+,%�*���-!./0!���� ������



����������	
�����������
�
������
������������
��
����� !���"
#�#$%&�$#&&#'��"
#�#$�&�$����(
)*+,-./*0.
1*22
(
3456
789�!��:����
�!��������;�
<��
=����>����
?�;$@ABCDABE
FGAH IJBKL
MDLBH ��NON����
P
���Q���	REEABSSH @TGKBH ����"
���P�&%P�&&�IUDVWH ;!��:����$�!���X�����;�!��$;�>@AGCGSDW
YH ����� Z[BSL
\G[KLH ��]Q����B̂AJV_B
̂L̀WBH a__DSVGKH  ���	D̂WBSCBASGKH b�����

 �Q���������X:���������	����$;�>cBK[BH ��	���
d�;�
��Qe!�Q:���&�%
�
�#��
b�����������
��
����� fDSL
\TDKgBH ��N%N����%"#�
 =
����������	
������
h�>�N���Pi� h��������
h�>�����
���
 ������
 Q���:�:h�>�����" �"��
 =
j����
�����O"��
 =
j����
j����"#�
 =
����������	
���
�Q�(
k.*5l
mnn.8op./
).q-
(r9*/s-8./o.
t2*88./�
�������
��
�::�����
:��;���
;Q���
>���:�
�����:�
�::�����
;!��:�:�
�����
��Q��:
���
�::�����
�Q�:$r9.//lu440
vw4x.0
1..y
1/o+x.8
v2o0./����
���:���
;!���	����
:>����
e���
e��:���
������
���!;���>���z��
���
�����
���
]]{
:�Q;�$)oqo
|uos.
1*x.0
t48*84.+h�����
���!
��Q�
����>�
�!���:
���
���������
�>����
]�;��
��Q>e��:m-89.q8os
}.~.8*/o*q
�wn*q*0*��;�����P:�z��
j>������������
���!
���:�
�����14-/�4q
r9osx.q
vx.u./+ ���� ����N%N���� ������
b���"



��������	
���
�����������
��������������
�����������
������������������������������ �!�"#$%%&�'�()��**��������+��
����+�++������
�,������
,,���
�����������	
����'�($�"���-�.�$"�
+�����)������������,��	���	
������*�����	�//
��,,
���
��,��
����
,�
	��0.%�12����.���"�32"(4�5678�9:;<=>?@�A�B:?C>�D�EFGH:>AI;::J���K����)�����������
��L������+�
�����L������������
��M��������NOPQP��R�� S�����+���� T����U���� J��
,VW X�Y�
Z��[++���/���L����X J�) \]̂�_̀ \a�̀̀ �̂WWP�� \a�̀̀ �̂WW)�����
,K�Z��
��R�� S�����+���� T����U���� J��
,���Z���VW [���	��U���� J�) \a�b̀ \̀W�WW[++,��c�������������
,���,�	���c�����
����,�/��� U���VW d���e�U���U��� J�) \W�̀W \bW�WWK�Z��
�� \fW�WW)�����
,g���
,hi�;:>HCF@�;:jG:@H:k�lm�nF=:>Ho�pF=:>H�qC@�F=>:>�ri;�Hq:�=@FC>k�C>k�lC;�@:HAGsot�����d�Z������R�� S�����+���� T����U���� J��
,VW u��eU�������aWWv���	+���
�,�� J�) \a�f̀ \fW�WWw���x yFCH:@z�{H:>@=F@z�hCs|=>@�C>k�pGs@�ri;�}<:;m�EG:@H t�����d�Z������ \fW�WW)�����
,L����,,
�����~�nCsHC=>��CF|AHq;iG?q�=@�>iH�>::k:k��Fi?=@H=n@��=FF�l:�HC|:>�i<:;�Hq:�sqi>:z�G>F:@@�C>�=>As:;@i>��::H=>?�=@�;:jG:@H:ko)�
**���R�� S�����+���� T����U���� J��
,�̀���b K
������ J \Vb�WW \VbW�WW�̀���a �
��������
+�
�� J \̀W�WW \b̀W�WW)�
**��� \�fW�WW)�����
,��
����x \b�]�̂�WW\]]_��WbWv�[	������
��Z��P��xabv�g���
,�S
	
����
�Z��x \W�WWf�*bU
��ŴWaauZ�����xaa�̀�bWbVU������S
��x



��������� 	
�����	
����
���������������������������������� 	
��
���
��������� 	������������ !���"��������� 	
��
���
#����$��%��� �����������	��&��������%�'��"��(��������)�)

&*"����#����$��%���+*!������!�����,"�"�-��'����"�.����'"$/��'����!��0"'"���1�����'�����!�����1�!/�1"�-���0�.�2����������-"�.����!�"���2�!��1�����-��'��'���1�!��,!"��0�"�!���-��,��0�1�������"�!���0������",�����'!������0���-����!2"$��,��1�������-��!��/,�����-�����!��0"'"���'!�2"0�0������!��'����!��-��/������2����1�������3��������-�!����!0!�����!��/,�����������2���0���!��2���������!����.",����$/������!���''�!��!���#�����,��������0��-�����"�����!������1��"�"�"��������$��0���!��0"'"���"���-����-���$�!���������-��1�!�0��%��2�!�#"/���-�!"�.�"���!�"�.������������"������"��2�!��-"�.�1��0���,!���-�1�1��!�����!����"���������-���"/���1��'�������-����!�����,�!�'��'�������-�!���4�����$��0���!��0"'"�����$������-����!���������!��,��-��%��2�!�������"����!�2���"�����!���!�5��!�.!����4�5�������-����.�"��,�!������,��-����-�!�!��������-���1�!�����.!����+��!!��4��#�!��'��6��$��"2��%"!�$��!%��2�!�#"/���-�!"�.������7$87�891��!���0�9'�!���!��,�%��2�!�#�$�$��+:�-�2��-�0��-���''�!���"������1�!/�1"�-�����!����$���!�!��"��0",,�!������������2�!��-��'������2�!������!����0;9;6��,��-���$��'�!��������!��0"'"��<�=��0��0�1����-����!���-������<<<<��-�"!�'!�,���"��������,,��$������!��!2"$�����0������'!�������"�����!����$�'�"����<�%"0�:�����"����-����-��,��0�"�������������0��"$"���>�%�!"�.���!�"��1��/���������!��0"'"���1�����!������$���!�!���0�'!�'�!�0�������,�!�����2�!�0����,��-��1��/�7�!��/,��������$-�����0����$-�����0�0"���!8��(��?"�.����1����2�!��"!�0��,��-��,��0�����-���1�!��2�!��$!���"2��"���-�"!���������$�"�������!��0"'"���"�����"/�����!���'"$���$���!�!����0�:�-".-���!�$�����0��-���,�!�(@@��,����!�$���!"�.���0��+A(@4��-"�.����%BC"!/���0�D�6��"���@@� ��,���.�E��62����F���)�)

&�!"���0�%����



���������	���
����������������������������������� �!�"#�$�%�&���'��(�)�*�+,-���.�/�/012�0/22/3�!.�/�/0+2)0**�+�-��4�����"-���"�#��5��6("�7�����8���'�9�50:;<=>;<?�@A;B CD<EF�G>F<B ��HIH*�*+�J����K����L??;<MMB :NAE<B ����.��*�J�21J+22)CD<EF�OPFQ<B R�7�4SK������T����R�U�#0I�-CV>PQB 5-��4����0�-���W��#��5�-��05�8XAEF;>YF�ZB )���� [\<MF�XA\EFB +�TK  ��]<;DPY<�]F̂Q<B _YY>MPAEB ,����]>Q<M=<;MAEB �̀������,�K���������W4���������� ���05�8CD<EF�OAF>QB a*'I*/0�* :<;�:<;MAEB a�/0�)b<E\<B $������c�5%���Kd-�K4���2)1���)/���̀��#�"�#���'��(�)���� e>MF�XN>Ef<B ��H1H*�*+1./��,7�������������"���#��g�8�H���Jh� g������#��g�8������ ���,��������,K���4�4ij�k��l �.���,7�m#���������I.���,7�m#����m����./��,7�������������"���(K�n�	����og-��p"�8���4�����#��3��p�q���p"�8���3��pr��4���4��������5�����������K4���� ��'������  4��4���d��������8���4��������5�4�4�4K5-��4���8���4�����#����4%4'�&��%����&��-��������5�8�����4'���4-�&�4-���'����4������������4K���5�'���5%���������������� �����K���#���'�4����#�4��4'�4-������� ��� ���'����#�����8�������� ��8���K���#���'���50g-��"�8���3����4�����������K���������4�4Kds�5�����4�����������5�����!���&40�t���K�����4���#�������-��5�����u4��45������0 �� +,���)����m#����v.��H1H*�*+,�������̀���.



���������	
���������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���!�������������"#$�������%���������!��&���������������������������!�����&��������'��(�����)������������*+�&�����,-�.��������������-/�����������&�������� ��������,0�������1��!������1������������!����&� ���/��2!�������&�.��������%�1��������.������������������&�����������%��&���������&������!������������������������������������������!!��� �����&��������!���� ����2!������3��!�����������-��������-1����������"�����%��������� �����%���-�!!��� ����!�4��56���������-�!�����&����&� ��1����.�������������!������7�����������������������!����������28��	
9,�/:�;�������������������������������<=>�?�@AB��>C0������������������������!���!��������������%� ��,!�����%�������������������.'�����������& ��/���������������%�����������������.����������*+�&������!����&� ��D����������������!������������%�����������&������������!�����������"�����%����.��%��������������%����!��������&��%��������������%�����1���������%�%�����������&��%�1�&��������������������������!�����������1������&��%�1����2���&� ����!���%��!��������������������&�������%��%����1��!���������E	����������������!��&������%������1��&����������.������������������������������!��&����%���������������������.����'��%�� ���%��&��.����������������������"�����������"�������� ���&���%&�����������������������������!���������%�������&������,���&�����������������1���%� ������ ��%��� ��1����/�����������������������������&����%������&�������������!����������!�����.�������%���������%���������&����������������!� �,	/�������!����&� ��F!�������������6&��������������������������������������&���������&������������!��&����%����������&����&� ��&������%���!!�������&���%�����@B�G>HHB?����&������������������&� ���!�������������.&���� �1��������&������������!����������5�!5���'��������������������&��������I���������������1�������������������!��!�J	���!��&��� ����������������� ���������!����� ��1�.�������&��%������&��������������!����������'�.����������������������.��&���!���.'���!��������������������������������������������&�����������%�������������1���������%��������������������&��5��.��� E�!	K�%+

99# ���LM99F	FJ
J*K������;��M



����������	���
�������������
�������	�����������
������	�������������
���	���������������
�����������������������������������������������	�	��
������	��
��������
������	���������
���
������	�
	����������������
������	����������
�����������	�������
�
����������
���	����
�����	������	����������	����� ������������
��������������	����
�
������	�
��������
��������������!
���
���	�!�����
����������������	�����	�����	��������"�����#������
����
����������������
��������������� �����������������
�	��
������$�	���
!
�������	
���%&'()&*+,����	�	������������������	���!������	��!���
�
�
�����	��������������������
������������!�	�������	�
������	�	� ����	���	���	����	���������������!�
�
�������������������
����������
�������
�����	�������������	�	�	�
���������-(./01+23,�42+*5(6����	�	���
�����������7������8�!�	������	������
�����
����
���������	������������
���
�
������������������!�	���	��������	�	����������	�������������������������!	��
�����������������������
����	��9������������������	
���������	��
����������������
������	��!���
�
�
������$�	���
!
�������	
����8�����7������8�!�	������	������
��������	������!�	�
���������������������	����������	��������	��������
����!��������������	���
��������
����
����������
�������� ��������������������!�����
���	
� �����
������	���������������	�	�����
�����������	�������	�����������������������	����������������
����	���
�
������������
�����������	���������������� ���!����:���������������������
���	����	�����	�� ����������!����	������������������
�����	����������
�	��������		
� ����������	���
�����������	����$�����;���!	��
�
������	�	���	�������
�
��������
���	��
����������	������
�������	�����
��������
�����	���������������	��	���
��������������!������
���!	�!�	������	�������!����������	����������
	�������������������	��<2=(3&*&.�>1?��
����	��������������������	���������������	����
����	������
�������������������$������������	�����������	���	����	���
���	
�
�����������	�	����
��������
�����	�����	������	�������	�������������������������	�
�	��
���
����	������
�������@���������������	
����	�
�	��
�������
��
������������������!���������	��	����	�����������	�
�	���	A�B������������	���
��������	�����
�����	
��
�
������	����C*.&1+/3(6D E��F:���GHHII������J�IIKLKMHMN:	
�����8����



����������	��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���������
����
������������	���������������� !"#$�%&'"�����������	�(�������)**+�,�(-
��.��/�01�2�3--�0�(4�5+6*74������8+89:;*98;;8<�.�8+897;5966+7
=>?=@ABCDEEFFGHCIJ�KLFFMNMOEOP@QRIJCS�TAJCL





����������	
������
�	��	�	�
��	����	���	��	��	����	��

���� ����������� ����  !�

"�#��$%� $#���$���&%' (�)"*#�% +�,$-��./'+�,$-��.-�%01/'%2&�������%��'�����%����'�����%� �����%����'�����%��$�'�����%����'�����%��%�'�����%��(�'
"#��$3���&�%� "#��$3�%(( "#��$3�%)"�3"%�#(��������$% ��&���+&&,��,3333/+&&,��,3333/

���#&#���%���������3
�&��%��������%)$%������� #�4%���$#&"%�����#�����%&"�#3%��5���������3

�%�$��"��#��#(�#"%����#���,��#$���#���,�!%*�$�%���+�$#���676-��88919.:;<��=>;?@A��BC=8D<=-�>;E�F=�;11;BC=8�9G�>.?=�AH;B=�9A�?=ID9?=8/
���*#��J%���%"�%�%�����!%

	�K�����	�	 L����M	�
���	�
	�����NO���	 ��� L��	��N	N�P	Q�RSSTUUVWSVX�	��	���P�WY�RWV�ZVU[RWX L�	�N�����\�������]��� LM	�̂���MM�	M�
	�����
������	N��	�_ M	�	�����MM�	M�
	 L���O����� �� �����
N�O���������MM]	
��
K	�_ L�����	��N��M�	�����
 LP	Q�QSS̀aVWbX������
� ���������]����P�VU�ZVU[RWX L�c�	� NK	���	� ���������]����P�VU�QSS̀aVWbXL��
�N����� ��
�NK��	� ���O�c�	� ����	�
������M	 L��
�N����� ��
�N����� P�VU�QSS̀aVWbX L��� 	�K�����	�	����NO���	 �MM�	M�
	 L�	� �	
	�
���L �	� �
KON
�
�
	 	�	d�d�	�K����	�
	d�d���N	�N	�O�	��	�����		L�e�YV[f�aV[SÙgV�TWaVU 	d�d���N	�N	�O�����������
�	N���
���������	��
���N�gVhRi

�����%�+�/��((#����j�$#!%��j% ���$�k
$#&&%�$����j%�%������������3

3�,�� ��,��+&;:8;1.?E�9:��*/

�*#������3�#(��*%���#!%��%�$���%��"#��$�%���%�$��$%��%���%(#�%�*%����%)"�����#��������%�����*%�%#(-�����#��$%��� �������%����%��!%�%�������$$#����$%� ��*��*%�"#��$3�"�#!���#��l


K�N���N��
���	�
�����
K�
��
K	�������	N��������N����	����N
	����	��c�K��	��		���NN�	��
��
K	���N��	�����	������	�����
K	��������	���������
	�d������
c�
KN
�����M��������	m���	�	�
f��
	������������
����������������
��
�����
K	������	�
�c�
K��	N�	
�
��cK�K�
K�N	�
����
	��������	���NN�	�������������	�
���f��
K	����N����	��������	�������
K	�������	N���	N���	���K	�	����N�N��]	
�
������
K	�
	��Nf	���N���N���������
���N����N�K������	Nd�����
N�NK�c������K��	��		���	��	��������������Nd

�*����$%���(�$��%����������%����������&���%���#(����(#�&���#���#��3�����$#�(%����#���j*����"#���*%�$%���(�$��%�*#��%�l��*��$%���(�$��%���#%����#����((��&���!%�3��#����%j���!%�3���&%��-��%)�%����#������%����*%��$#!%��j%���((#��%����3��*%�"#��$�%��%�# l�����*����$%���(�$��%��#(���������$%���#%����#���$#�������%�����$#����$����%� %%����*%�������j������%�+�/-����*#��J%��%"�%�%�����!%�#��"�#��$%�-������*%�$%���(�$��%�*#��%�l�&"#�����'�����G��1C=��B=?19G9B;1=�C.<8=?�9A�;:�������#���������%�-�1C=�H.<9BE+9=A/�>DA1�C;n=�������#���������%��H?.n9A9.:A�.?�F=�=:8.?A=8l�G������#j���#������� ��!%�-��ADFo=B1��1.��1C=��1=?>A�;:8�B.:8919.:A�.G�1C=�H.<9BE-�B=?1;9:�H.<9B9=A�>;E�?=ID9?=�;:�=:8.?A=>=:1l����A1;1=>=:1�.:1C9A�B=?19G9B;1=�8.=A�:.1�B.:G=?�?9pC1A�1.�1C=�B=?19G9B;1=�C.<8=?�9:�<9=D�.G�ADBC�=:8.?A=>=:1+A/l
$#!%��j%� $%���(�$��%���&�%�' �%!���#����&�%�'

$%���(�$��%�*#��%� $��$%�����#�
q�6rss2t76u��$#���$#�"#����#�l���<<�?9pC1A�?=A=?n=8l�$#���tu�+t76v,7w/

$%���(�$��%�#(���������3��������$% ���%�+&&,��,3333/

L
LLLL

�C=��$#���:;>=�;:8�<.p.�;?=�?=p9A1=?=8�>;?@A�.G��$#��

66,x,t7tx
+yt7/�ww72yr7r +w7w/�yrr276uvtrxur�;AC>.�4.-�$.l�8F;'��=?=:89H91E�$;1=?9:py667� l�$.<G;0��n=l�;@=z..8-�$#�s7t6x x66r7

� 6-777-777) wx����$v66w x,6,t7tx x,6,t7tu 6-777-777u-7776-777-777t-777-777t-777-777%&"�#3%%��%�%(� t-777-7776-777-777� wx�%$�$vtrs x,6,t7tx x,6,t7tu u-777-777� wx����$v66w x,6,t7tx x,6,t7tu u-777-77767-777� x6uxsuy x,6,t7tx x,6,t7tu 6-777-7776-777-7776-777-777� �9ID.?��9;F9<91E wx����$v66w x,6,t7tx �9>91 6-777-777�A�?=ID9?=8�FE�z?911=:�B.:1?;B1�.?�z?911=:�;p?==>=:1-�1C=�$=?19G9B;1=�*.<8=?�9A�9:B<D8=8�;A��88919.:;<��:AD?=8�G.?�.:p.9:p�.H=?;19.:A�D:8=?�j=:=?;<��9;F9<91El
�=E8=:��.B@�&=1?.H.<91;:��9A1?9B16yvsu� �sw?8��?�?n;8;-�$#�s777y

�%�%$��276 %����
$$�j6uu��:n=?:=AA��?9n=� =A1%:p<=z..8-�$#�s766t �9;:;��.o;A�9;:;l�.o;A{1C9:@BB9plB.>�z9:�$91E�(9?=��:AD?;:B=�$.>H;:E"9::;B.<��AAD?;:B=

)x,6,t7tu

) )))) ) )



1 
1237.4200 
 

FIRST ADDENDUM  
TO  

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(Solid Waste Services) 

_______________________________ 
 

 This FIRST ADDENDUM TO INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the 
“First Addendum”) is entered into the 20th day of November, 2024, by and between LEYDEN 
ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision 
of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and ALLIED WASTE TRANSPORTATION, INC. 
d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF DENVER, a Delaware corporation (the “Contractor”). The 
District and the Contractor are referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 1 and the Contractor entered into an 
Independent Contractor Agreement, effective November 20, 2024, for trash removal and 
recycling services, as subsequently amended from time to time (the “Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 1 assigned its rights and obligations 
under the Agreement to Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 10 effective January 1, 2017; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 10 changed its name to Leyden 
Rock Metropolitan District pursuant to a Court Order recorded February 2, 2018 at Reception 
No. 2018010607 with the Jefferson County Clerk and Recorder; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement includes a Compensation/Payment Schedule within Exhibit 
A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to replace the Compensation/Payment Schedule in Exhibit 
A with the Compensation/Payment Schedule in Addendum 1 attached hereto. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained 
herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties covenant and agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

1. Change in Compensation/Payment Schedule.  The Parties hereby amend and 
restate in its entirety the Compensation/Payment Schedule in Exhibit A of the Agreement with 
the Compensation/Payment Schedule in Addendum 1 attached hereto.  
 

2. Renewal. The Parties hereby renew the Agreement for fiscal year 2025. This First 
Addendum shall be effective on January 1, 2025 and shall terminate at midnight on December 
31, 2025. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to subsection (i), or unless 



2 
1237.4200 
 

the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, 
this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional 
one (1) year term. 

 
3. Prior Provisions Effective. Except as specifically amended hereby, all the terms 

and provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  
 

4. Counterpart Execution. This First Addendum may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. Executed copies of this First Addendum may be 
delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals 
and binding upon the signatories to this First Addendum. 

 
[Signature pages follow.]  



3 
1237.4200 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Addendum as of the 
date set forth below. By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has 
taken all necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this First Addendum. 
 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Colorado 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
       Officer of the District 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
General Counsel to the District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
District’s Signature Page to First Addendum to Independent Contractor Agreement for Solid 

Waste Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2024  



4 
1237.4200 
 

ALLIED WASTE TRANSPORTATION, 
INC. d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF 
DENVER, a Delaware corporation 
 
 
 

               
             By:        
        Its:        
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Contractor’s Signature Page to First Addendum to Independent Contractor Agreement for 

Solid Waste Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2024 
  



5 
1237.4200 
 

 
 

ADDENDUM 1 

 
 
 

 
 



1237.4200 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant: Timberline Mechanical Systems, LLC  
Title of Agreement/Contract: HVAC System Maintenance  
Agreement/Contract Date:  November 20, 2024 
 
 This Contract (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-
municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 
contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 
 
 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective as of the date 
above. 
 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 
“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 
customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 
in this Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 
tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 
county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  
 
 2. Compensation of Services. The District shall provide compensation for the Services provided 
under this Agreement in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled 
to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is 
approved in writing by the District in advance of such expenses being incurred. Exhibit A may take any form.  In 
the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the 
terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 
incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor shall promptly repair or, at the 
District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 
or its employees, agents, or equipment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, repairs/claims does not include weather 
worn property damage. Weather worn property damage will be reported by the Contractor to the District but the 
Contractor will not compensate the District for this type of damage.  
 
 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor, and nothing herein shall 
constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  
The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 
District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 
Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 
full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 
subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 
 
 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor guarantees and warrants that all workmanship, materials, 
and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the 
“Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The 
Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that 
is defective or not conforming to this Agreement, at its sole expense, to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  
The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.   



1237.4200 2 

  
6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage: (i) Standard worker’s compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance covering all employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the 
Services, with policy amounts and coverage in compliance with law; (ii) Commercial General Liability Insurance 
with minimum limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property 
damage liability; $2,000,000 designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella; (iii) 
Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles used in 
connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined 
single limit bodily injury and property damage; and (iv) any other insurance commonly used by contractors for 
services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that 
the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The Commercial 
General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name the 
District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve to 
release it from any obligations, nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s 
liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 
7. Indemnification.  To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, 
from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, 
including legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, 
negligence, willful misconduct,  or any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the 
District’s own negligence.  This indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on 
the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement.  To the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold 
Contractor harmless under the terms of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to 
the extent permitted by applicable law and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose 
in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause or for convenience upon ten 
(10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the District shall compensate the 
Contractor for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  The District shall make this payment in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 
State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 
located.   
 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 
multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 
under this Agreement are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 
and agrees that the decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of the 
District’s governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the 
purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the 
District’s obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current 
expense and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or 
statutory limitations or requirements. 



1237.4200 3 

 
 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 
otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 
its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 
and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S. 
  
 12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 
include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 
solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 
during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  
 

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 
than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 
parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 
this Agreement. 
 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 
which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 
shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 
15.   Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 
and commitments. 
 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 
which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 
deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 
for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 
 
By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 
said representative to execute this Agreement.   
 

District: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
 
Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
   
Title:  _______________________________ 

 
 



 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 



1237.4200 5 



1237.4200 6 

 



1237.4200 7 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

CLEANING SERVICES 

      

 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including all exhibits attached 

hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 26th day of September 2024, by and between 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and political 

subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and THE HELPING HAND, LTD., a 

Colorado limited lability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 

referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 

of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 

maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 

into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 

hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 

needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 

and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 

herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

A. Services.  The Contractor shall provide all labor and materials necessary to 

fulfill the duties and responsibilities (the “Services”) as described in Exhibit A (the “Scope of 

Services”) and in Article III of this Agreement.  In the case of conflict, terms in this Agreement 

superseded those in Exhibit A.  The Contractor can only obligate the District  as explicitly provided 

in this Agreement or as authorized by the District’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). 

B. Changes to Services.  A change in the Scope of Services shall not be 

effective unless authorized through a written amendment to this Agreement signed by both Parties.  

If the Contractor proceeds without such written authorization, the Contractor shall be deemed to 

have waived any claim for additional compensation, including claims based on the theory of unjust 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 2 

enrichment, quantum meruit, or implied contract.  Except as expressly provided herein or as 

otherwise provided in writing by the District, no agent, employee, or representative of the District 

is authorized to modify any term of this Agreement. 

C. Additional Services.  The District may request that the Contractor provide 

additional services not set forth in the Scope of Services.  The terms and conditions of such services 

shall be subject to agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant to a written service or 

work order or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 

shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 

compensable amount. 

D. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 

and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 

Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 

any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  The 

Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it becomes aware.  

The Contractor shall maintain public safety while also taking all reasonable steps to preserve all 

physical evidence and information that may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a 

potential claim.  The Contractor shall provide the District the opportunity to review and inspect 

such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 

responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 

connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 

injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 

whether in storage on or off site or under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of 

its subcontractors. 

II. TERM AND TERMINATION 

A. Term.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 2025 and continue 

until December 31, 2025 or until terminated as provided herein this Article II.  

B. Termination by Completion of Services.  This Agreement shall 

automatically terminate should all Services contracted for be completed. 

C. Termination for Convenience.  This Agreement may be terminated for 

convenience by either Party upon delivery of thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the non-

terminating party, provided that the terminating party has not failed to materially perform in 

accordance with the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement and is not otherwise in 

default of any of the terms of this Agreement. 

D. Termination for Cause. If a Party defaults of this Agreement, the non-

defaulting Party will notify the defaulting Party. The defaulting Party has ten (10) days from 

receiving the notice to cure the default. If the default cannot be cured within ten (10) days but the 

defaulting Party is actively pursuing a cure, a reasonable extension may be granted at the sole 

discretion of the non-defaulting Party. The nature of the default will be considered in determining 

whether and extension is granted. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 3 

1. If a default is not cured as outlined in Article II.D., the non-

defaulting party can terminate this Agreement for cause and enforce the defaulting party’s 

obligations through legal means. The non-defaulting party can terminate at any time after the 

failure to cure, by providing written notice to the defaulting party. This notice must include the 

cause for termination and the defaulting Party’s failure to cure. 

2. If a Party becomes bankrupt, assigns assets for creditor benefit, or 

materially breaches this Agreement, the other Party is excused from further performance and the 

Agreement is automatically terminated for cause.  A Party is considered bankrupt from the 

bankruptcy petition filing date, regardless of the bankruptcy chapter. 

E. Upon Termination. If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor will be 

paid for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the termination date.  The Contractor will 

assist the District in transitioning all work and work product, with no additional charges for this 

transition. 

F. Automatic Renewal. This Agreement renews automatically each January 1 

for an additional year unless (i) all Services have been completed and it terminates automatically; 

(ii) it is terminated for cause or convenience under Article II; or (iii) the District decides not to 

fund this Agreement for the next year. 

III. PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS AND RESPONSIBILITY 

A. Preliminary Examination. The Contractor has assessed: (i) the nature and 

location of the Services; (ii) the ground configuration for performing the Services; (iii) the 

necessary labor, materials, equipment, and facilities; (iv) the general and local conditions related 

to the Services; and (v) all other factors affecting the Services. The Contractor enters this 

Agreement based solely on these assessments, not of any representations not in this Agreement 

made by the District or its agents. 

B. Performance. The Contractor must provide Services under this Agreement 

with the same level of care and skill typically exercised by professionals in the same field under 

similar circumstances.  The Contractor will perform the Services within the specified time and will 

minimize disruption to the District. The Contractor has or will acquire the necessary skill and 

experience to perform the Services to professional standards. If the Contractor's performance does 

not meet these standards, the Contractor will re-perform the Services at the District's request, 

without additional compensation.  

C. Timeliness.  The Contractor will use reasonable efforts to complete the 

Services promptly.  If delays occur due to uncontrollable factors or expected changes in the scope 

or type of services, the contractor will notify the District promptly and negotiate an adjustment of 

time and/or compensation. The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the performance 

of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control, including delays caused by Acts 

of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act in a timely 

manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or disapprove of 

Contractor’s Services in a timely manner. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 4 

D. Compliance.  The Contractor will comply with all Laws while providing 

Services. “Laws” include federal, state, county, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances; 

licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; hazardous waste storage, use, and disposal laws; 

safety and health regulations, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; Wage 

and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, immigration laws; and Colorado Department of 

Public Health and Environment rules and regulations. 

E. Monthly Status Report. At the District's request, the Contractor will provide 

a narrative status report by the 25th of each month. This report will outline work progress, results, 

Services performed, and anticipated Services ("Monthly Report"). The District may waive or 

extend the report deadline if it's in its interest. 

F. Performance Obligations. The Contractor's responsibilities and obligations 

under this Agreement are not affected by the presence of any District agent, consultant, 

subconsultant, or employee. District review, acceptance, or approval of the Services or documents 

does not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors, nor does it 

waive any rights under this Agreement. 

G. Subcontractors.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 

District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 

Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 

and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 

of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve or affect in any manner the 

Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor shall not 

subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 

that every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under this 

Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 

Agreement in Article VII.  Prior to commencing any Services, the Contractor shall provide 

evidence to the District of the subcontractor’s insurance coverage, which must meet or exceed the 

requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor agrees that all such subcontracts shall provide 

that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon termination of this 

Agreement, other than payment for Services rendered prior to the date of any such termination. 

IV. COMPENSATION 

A. General.  Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement 

shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A (the 

“Compensation Schedule”).  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor 

shall provide the District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request 

for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the 

Contractor until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit B. 

B. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 

of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

1. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 5 

2. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 

payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 

service or work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 

incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 

each month may be processed the following month. 

C. Timing for Payment.  The District will pay for the Services within thirty 

(30) days of receipt of a satisfactory invoice and, if applicable, a detailed Monthly Report. If a 

Board meeting cannot be scheduled in time to review an invoice, the Board authorizes payment as 

long as it does not exceed the budgeted amount. 

D. Reimbursable Expenses.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all 

expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement 

or compensation except as provided in the Compensation Schedule, unless said reimbursement or 

compensation is approved in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Any 

request for reimbursement must be accompanied by receipts or other acceptable proof of 

expenditure.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will be reimbursable at the Contractor’s 

actual cost. 

V. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

A. General.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and shall make no 

representation that it is a District employee for any purpose.  Notwithstanding any other provision 

of this Agreement, all employees or agents of the Contractor shall be, and remain at all times, 

employees or agents of the Contractor for all purposes.  The Contractor shall have full authority to 

select the means and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without detailed 

control or direction from the District.  The Contractor shall be responsible for supervising its own 

employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, and representatives. 

B. Insurance Coverage and Employment Benefits.  The District is not 

obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any 

kind for the Contractor or its employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, or representatives, 

including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: local, state, or federal income, tax 

contributions, insurance contributions (e.g., Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”) taxes), 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 

errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 

or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 

and the safety of its employees, subcontractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 

furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or subcontractors of the Contractor and 

will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor 

acknowledges that the Contractor and its employees, subconsultants, subcontractors, agents, 

and representatives are not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits, and are not entitled 

to unemployment insurance benefits unless unemployment compensation coverage is 

provided by the Contractor or some other entity other than the District.  The Contractor 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 6 

further acknowledges that it is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on any moneys 

earned or paid pursuant to this Agreement.  

C. Equal Opportunity.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 

executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 

Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 

violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

D. Confidentiality.  The Contractor must keep all information confidential that 

the District deems confidential or that could harm the District if disclosed. However, this does not 

include information that is public, provided by a third party not bound by confidentiality to the 

District, or independently developed by the Contractor without using the District's confidential 

information. If the District notifies the Contractor that certain information is confidential, the 

Contractor must agree to a confidentiality agreement. The Contractor must ensure that its 

employees, agents, or subcontractors with access to the District's confidential information 

understand and agree to these obligations. 

E. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 

Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor. 

“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 

number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 

identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-

103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 

transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 

the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain security procedures and practices that are in 

compliance with industry standards and best practices, and are appropriate to the nature of the 

Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the Contractor that are: (i) appropriate to the nature 

of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed 

to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from unauthorized access, use, modification, 

disclosure, or destruction. 

F. Conflicts.  The Contractor must inform the District of any conflicts of 

interest or situations that could impact its ability to provide unbiased and effective services to the 

District.  

G. Ownership of Documents.  All documents produced by the Contractor for 

this Agreement remain the property of the District. The Contractor must provide the District with 

these documents at the District's request and keep copies on file for two years after termination of 

this Agreement. 

H. Liens and Encumbrances.  The Contractor has no right or interest in any 

District assets, or any claim or lien with respect to them, arising out of this Agreement or the 

performance of the Services. The Contractor waives and releases any lien claims, and will provide 

indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied or used in 

connection with the Services. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 7 

I. Assignment.  The Contractor cannot assign this Agreement or its duties, 

without the written consent of the District.  Any attempt to do so will be null and void. 

VI. INSURANCE  

A. General.  The Contractor must maintain insurance coverage as set forth in 

Exhibit C during the entire term of this Agreement. The Contractor must notify the District within 

ten (10) days if its insurance coverage is cancelled or materially changed. The District has the right 

to confirm all coverage, information, or representations at any time. 

B. Insurance Certificates.  Before starting any work under this Agreement, the 

Contractor must provide the District with a certificate evidencing the required insurance policies.  

The Contractor must also ensure that its subcontractors maintain the required insurance coverage 

for the duration of their work on the project.  If the required coverage expires, the Contractor must 

provide replacement certificate(s) to the District. 

C. Failure to Acquire or Maintain Insurance.  The Contractor's failure to 

acquire or maintain the required insurance does not release it from any obligations in this 

Agreement. The Contractor is responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

VII. INDEMNIFICATION  

A. District Indemnitees.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold 

harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and 

consultants (collectively, the “District Indemnitees,” and individually, a “District Indemnitee”), 

from all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the 

“Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, by the District Indemnitees 

arising from the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees' errors, 

negligence, misconduct, or any criminal or tortious act in connection with this Agreement and/or 

the Contractor’s performance.  The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District 

Indemnitees for the District's negligence. This indemnification obligation will not be limited by 

any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by the 

Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts, and 

may include special, consequential, or punitive damages. 

B. Relevant Claims.  In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of 

any Claims under this Article VII within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the 

existence of such Claim, the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own 

selection, and the Contractor shall pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel. 

C. Relevant Insurance Coverage.  Insurance coverage requirements specified 

in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of 

this indemnification obligation.  The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional 

insurance that it deems necessary with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including 

the indemnity obligations set forth in this Article VII.  This defense and indemnification obligation 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

VIII. GOVERNING LAW  



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 8 

A. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 

District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 

irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including 

but not limited to forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 

shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 

the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 

this Agreement is otherwise terminated. 

B. Choice of Law.  Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 

conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 

of Colorado. 

C. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 

joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 

as an admission of fault or liability.   

IX. MISCELLANEOUS 

A. Notices.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must 

be in writing, and shall be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier 

service, or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If sent by registered or 

certified mail, notice will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) 

actual receipt by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be 

sent; or (ii) three days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly 

addressed, with postage prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or 

sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, notice will be deemed to have been given 

and received on the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally 

recognized overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any 

party hereto may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this 

Article IX, designate additional persons to whom notice or communications will be given, and 

designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or communication 

will be given.  Such notice or communications will be given to the parties at their addresses set 

forth below: 

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 

c/o Advance HOA Management, Inc.  

PO Box 370390 

Denver, CO 80237  

Attention: Katie Call 

Phone: (303) 482-2213 x360 

Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

  

With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

Centennial, CO 80122 

Attention: Megan Murphy 

Phone: (303) 858-1800 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 9 

E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 

 

  

Contractor: The Helping Hand, Ltd. 

16682 W. 86th Drive 

Arvada, CO 80007 

Attention: Laura A. Dean 

Phone: (307) 399-0071 

Email: thehelpinghand.ld@gmail.com 

 

B. Audits.  The District may audit the Contractor’s necessary books and 

records to substantiate invoices and payments under this Agreement, with reasonable notice. The 

Contractor must maintain these records during the Agreement's term and for 3 years after its 

termination, and make them accessible to the District upon request. 

C. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, which supersedes all prior negotiations 

and agreements related to the Services, represents the complete understanding between the Parties. 

Any modifications must be in writing and signed by both Parties. 

D. Binding Agreement.  This Agreement is binding on the Parties' heirs, 

executors, administrators, successors, and assigns. 

E. No Waiver.  A waiver of any provision in this Agreement doesn't imply a 

waiver of any other provision, nor does it constitute a continuous waiver unless expressly stated. 

Waiving a default doesn't mean waiving any futures default. 

F. Good Faith of Parties.  During the Agreement's performance or when 

considering any requests, the Parties agree to act in good faith and not unreasonably delay or 

withhold any required or requested approval, acceptance, consent, or time extension. 

G. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District doesn't intend to 

create a multi-year financial obligation. The Contractor understands the District's obligations 

extend only to funds appropriated for this Agreement and won't constitute a mandatory charge in 

any subsequent fiscal year. This Agreement doesn't delegate governmental powers or create a lien 

on District funds. The District's obligations are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations. 

H. Governmental Immunity.  This Agreement doesn’t waive, limit, or modify 

any governmental immunity available to the District, its officials, employees, contractors, agents, 

or any person acting on its behalf particularly under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, 

§§ 24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S.  

I. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement won't be interpreted more strictly 

against one Party, acknowledging that both Parties contributed to its preparation. 

J. Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is declared invalid, it won't affect 

the rest of the Agreement. A similar and enforceable provision will replace any invalid provision. 

mailto:thehelpinghand.ld@gmail.com


1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 10 

K. No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Enforcement of this Agreement and all 

related rights are reserved to the Parties. No third party can claim any rights under this Agreement. 

Any non-party receiving benefits under this Agreement is an incidental beneficiary. 

L. Open Records.  All material under this Agreement may be subject to the 

Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., C.R.S. 

M. Certificate of Good Standing.  The Contractor represents it is in good 

standing with the Colorado Secretary of State, a Certificate of Good Standing is, attached as 

Exhibit D. 

N. Warranty.  The Contractor hereby guarantees that all workmanship, 

materials, and equipment provided for the Services will be of good quality and new, unless 

specified otherwise in this Agreement.  The Contractor also warrants that its work will comply 

with all requirements of this Agreement and all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations.  The District’s satisfaction and acceptance of the Services are required, but payment 

for completed Services does not constitute final acceptance or discharge the Contractor’s 

obligation to correct future defects.  These warranties complement, not replace, any other 

warranties under Colorado law. 

O. Tax Exempt Status.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 

use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 

invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish the Contractor with a 

copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the 

Colorado Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase 

materials tax free.  The Contractor and its subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due 

to failure to apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

P. Headings for Convenience Only.  The provision headings, captions, and 

titles in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only and are not intended to define, 

limit, or describe any provisions scope or intent. 

Q. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement can be executed in several 

counterparts, all together constituting one instrument. Executed copies delivered by facsimile or 

PDF email are deemed original, binding upon the signatories, and hold the same force and effect 

as the original, including for court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Cleaning Services with 

the Helping Hand, Ltd., dated September 26, 2024 

 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 11 

Each Party, by the signature of its representative below, confirms that it has authorized said 

representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 

DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 

political subdivision of the State of Colorado 

 

 

Officer of the District 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 

 

 

General Counsel for the District 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO )  

 ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2024, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of LEYDEN ROCK 

METROPOLITAN DISTRICT. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   

  

  

  

 Notary Public 

 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Cleaning Services with 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated September 26, 2024 

 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 12 

CONTRACTOR: 

THE HELPING HAND, LTD., a Colorado 

limited lability company 

 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO )  

 ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2024, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of THE HELPING HAND, 

LTD.  

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   

  

  

  

 Notary Public 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 B-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES & COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

Note: All required insurance must comply with Article VI of this Agreement. 

 

1. Standard workers’ compensation and employer’s liability insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 

amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 

will be performed. 

2. Commercial general liability insurance with minimum limits of $2,000,000 per occurrence 

for bodily injury and property damage; $2,000,000 aggregate for designated locations; and 

$1,000,000 umbrella. This insurance shall cover contractual liability, personal injury, 

broad form property damage, and all major divisions of coverage including:  

1. premises operations; 

2. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 

3. limited contractual; 

4. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 

5. medical payments; 

6. products and completed operations; 

7. independent consultants coverage; and 

8. coverage includes construction consulting, including liability from construction 

defects, design negligence, and safety regulation breaches. 

 

This policy must cover indemnification obligations in this Agreement related to bodily 

injury or property damage. 

3. Comprehensive auto liability insurance covering all vehicles used in the Services, 

with limits of not less than $1,000,000 for bodily injury, property damage, and 

third-party liabilities. This policy must cover indemnification obligations in this 

Agreement related to bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If the Contractor's services involve handling of the District's money or property, or 

if the Contractor's services involve access to sensitive information of the District 

which, if misused, could result in financial loss to the District, Contractor shall 

secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of the District, covering the 

Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be responsible for the 

provision of Services where such activities contemplate the responsibility for 

money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District against any 

fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, or 

other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be 

in an amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance including, but not limited to, workers' compensation insurance, 

professional liability insurance, and cyber liability insurance, as commonly 

required for the type of services. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



991237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1439 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 



EXHIBIT B 
TO 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 
(Form of Project Fund Requisition) 

 
Requisition No. 19 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 
DATED OCTOBER 22, 2021 

GENERAL OBLIGATION (LIMITED TAX CONVERTIBLE TO UNLIMITED TAX) 
REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2021 

 
The undersigned District Representative (capitalized terms used herein shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto by the above Indenture) hereby makes a requisition from the Project 
Fund held by UMB Bank, n.a., as Trustee under the Indenture, and in support thereof states: 
 

1. The amount to be paid or reimbursed pursuant hereto is $11,687.07. 
 

2. The name and address of the person, firm, or corporation to whom payment is due 
or has been made is as follows: 
 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
 
3. Payment is due to the above person for (describe nature of the obligation): 

 
Payment of capital invoices 
 
4. The amount to be paid or reimbursed pursuant hereto shall be transmitted by the 

Trustee as follows (wire transfer or other transmission instructions): 
 

See previously provided wire instructions 
 

5. The above payment obligations have been or will be properly incurred, is or will be a proper 
charge against the Project Fund and have not been the basis of any previous withdrawal. The 
disbursement requested herein will be used solely for the payment of Project Costs. 
 
6. With respect to this requested disbursement, the District (i) certifies it has reviewed any wire 
instructions set forth in this requisition to confirm such wire instructions are accurate, (ii) to the 
extent permitted by law and without waiting any rights or privileges under the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, as may be amended, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Trustee from and against any and all claim, demand, loss, liability, or expense sustained, 
including but not limited to attorney fees, and expenses resulting directly or indirectly as a result 
of making the disbursement in accordance with this requisition, and (iii) agrees they will not seek 
recourse from the Trustee as a result of losses incurred by it for making the disbursement in 
accordance with this requisition.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: F36C7DB9-8682-406A-A52C-5BC4F009E190



          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 9th day of October, 2024. 
 

_____________________________________ 
District Representative 

DocuSign Envelope ID: F36C7DB9-8682-406A-A52C-5BC4F009E190



Bond Requisition Number Invoice number Vendor Name Date Invoice Amount Date Paid

Requisition No. 1 Total 2,641,085.68           01/04/23

Requisition No. 2 Total 237,457.05               01/06/23

Requisition No. 3 Total 124,750.00               01/12/23

Requisition No. 4 Total 47,807.79                 01/25/23

Requisition No. 5 Total 8,347.49                   02/22/23

Requisition No. 6 Total 7,498.75                   03/17/23

Requisition No. 7 Total 84,504.79                 06/08/23

Requisition No. 8 Total 110,682.19               06/30/23

Requisition No. 9 Total 54,211.10                 08/31/23

Requisition No. 10 Total 56,513.29                 09/28/23

Requisition No. 11 Total 53,930.50                 11/13/23

Requisition No. 12 Total 4,736.15                   12/14/23

Requisition No. 13 Total 47,360.23                 01/11/24

Requisition No. 14 Total 12,734.95                 02/13/24

Requisition No. 15 Total 158,021.85               03/11/24

Requisition No. 16 Total 62,256.65                 05/15/24

Requisition No. 17 Total 61,727.60                 05/30/24

Requisition No. 18 Total 54,002.70                 09/05/24

Requisition No. 19 7967 The Architerra Group, Inc. 09/10/24 11,687.07                

Requisition No. 10 Total 11,687.07                

Total Requisitioned 3,839,315.83$        

Leyden Rock Metro District

Requisition Summary

DocuSign Envelope ID: F36C7DB9-8682-406A-A52C-5BC4F009E190



9/10/2024

INVOICE # 7967

BILL TO:

Ms. Megan J. Murphy
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave
Ste 2000
Centennial, CO 80122

PROJECT 2309/Leyden Rock Master Planning

Contract Amount

$452,892.35

Contract Remaining

$301,672.48

10/10/2024

Percent Complete

33%

P.O. #

DUE DATE

THE ARCHITERRA GROUP, INC
5881 S. Deframe St
Littleton, CO 80127
303.948.0766

DATE

DESCRIPTION TOTAL

DESCRIPTION:
Prepared preliminary City submittal - community parcels, coordinated with subconsultants, and misc.
coordination.

LABOR:
L Dominguez - 52.75 hrs @ $115/hr 6,066.25
J St. George-Schreder - 62 hrs @ $85/hr 5,270.00
     Labor Subtotal 11,336.25

EXPENSES:
96 miles @ $.67/mile 64.32
382 sq ft @ $.75/sq ft Color Plotting - Plain Paper 286.50
     Expenses Subtotal 350.82

The Architerra Group, Inc. thanks you for your business.  Please
indicate the invoice number on your check.

$11,687.07

DocuSign Envelope ID: F36C7DB9-8682-406A-A52C-5BC4F009E190



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: F36C7DB98682406AA52C5BC4F009E190 Status: Completed

Subject: Complete with Docusign: 2021 Project Fund Requisition No. 19.pdf

Client Name: LRMD

Client Number: 011

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 4 Signatures: 1 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 5 Initials: 0 CLA Operations

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-08:00) Pacific Time (US & Canada)

220 S 6th St Ste 300

Minneapolis, MN  55402-1418

Holly.Hayes@claconnect.com

IP Address: 47.186.212.78  

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             10/9/2024 2:30:34 PM

Holder: CLA Operations

             Holly.Hayes@claconnect.com

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Brett Vernon

brett.vernon@leydenrocklife.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 71.33.131.246

Sent: 10/9/2024 2:35:11 PM

Viewed: 10/14/2024 12:23:50 PM 

Signed: 10/14/2024 12:24:09 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 10/14/2024 12:23:50 PM
      ID: 18e21dbd-354e-49b1-8241-0d112792e96f

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp
Allison L. Williams

allison.l.williams@claconnect.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 10/9/2024 2:35:11 PM

Viewed: 10/14/2024 12:29:44 PM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 10/9/2024 2:35:11 PM

Certified Delivered Security Checked 10/14/2024 12:23:50 PM

Signing Complete Security Checked 10/14/2024 12:24:09 PM

Completed Security Checked 10/14/2024 12:24:09 PM



Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE  

From time to time, CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (we, us or Company) may be required by law to 

provide to you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the terms and 

conditions for providing to you such notices and disclosures electronically through the DocuSign 

system. Please read the information below carefully and thoroughly, and if you can access this 

information electronically to your satisfaction and agree to this Electronic Record and Signature 

Disclosure (ERSD), please confirm your agreement by selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to 

use electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign 

system. 

 

Getting paper copies  

At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available 

electronically to you by us. You will have the ability to download and print documents we send 

to you through the DocuSign system during and immediately after the signing session and, if you 

elect to create a DocuSign account, you may access the documents for a limited period of time 

(usually 30 days) after such documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to 

send you paper copies of any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a 

$0.00 per-page fee. You may request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the 

procedure described below. 

 

Withdrawing your consent  

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time 

change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures 

only in paper format. How you must inform us of your decision to receive future notices and 

disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and disclosures 

electronically is described below. 

 

Consequences of changing your mind  

If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the 

speed at which we can complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to 

you because we will need first to send the required notices or disclosures to you in paper format, 

and then wait until we receive back from you your acknowledgment of your receipt of such 

paper notices or disclosures. Further, you will no longer be able to use the DocuSign system to 

receive required notices and consents electronically from us or to sign electronically documents 

from us. 

 

All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically  

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 2/12/2019 6:04:21 AM
Parties agreed to: Brett Vernon



Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide 

electronically to you through the DocuSign system all required notices, disclosures, 

authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of you 

inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required 

notices and disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given 

us. Thus, you can receive all the disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through 

the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with this process, please let us know as 

described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the 

consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures 

electronically from us. 

 

How to contact CliftonLarsonAllen LLP:  

You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically, 

to request paper copies of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to 

receive notices and disclosures electronically as follows: 

To contact us by email send messages to: BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com 

 

To advise CliftonLarsonAllen LLP of your new email address  

To let us know of a change in your email address where we should send notices and disclosures 

electronically to you, you must send an email message to us 

at BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request you must state: your 

previous email address, your new email address.  We do not require any other information from 

you to change your email address.  

If you created a DocuSign account, you may update it with your new email address through your 

account preferences.  

 

To request paper copies from CliftonLarsonAllen LLP  

To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided 

by us to you electronically, you must send us an email 

to BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request you must state your 

email address, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at 

that time, if any. 

 

To withdraw your consent with CliftonLarsonAllen LLP  

To inform us that you no longer wish to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic 

format you may: 



i. decline to sign a document from within your signing session, and on the subsequent page, 

select the check-box indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may; 

ii. send us an email to BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request 

you must state your email, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We do not need 

any other information from you to withdraw consent..  The consequences of your withdrawing 

consent for online documents will be that transactions may take a longer time to process.. 

 

Required hardware and software  

The minimum system requirements for using the DocuSign system may change over time. The 

current system requirements are found here: https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-

signing-system-requirements.  

 

Acknowledging your access and consent to receive and sign documents electronically  

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to 

other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please confirm that you have 

read this ERSD, and (i) that you are able to print on paper or electronically save this ERSD for 

your future reference and access; or (ii) that you are able to email this ERSD to an email address 

where you will be able to print on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, 

if you consent to receiving notices and disclosures exclusively in electronic format as described 

herein, then select the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’ before 

clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system. 

By selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’, you confirm 

that: 

 You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and 

 You can print on paper this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure, or save or send 

this Electronic Record and Disclosure to a location where you can print it, for future 

reference and access; and 

 Until or unless you notify CliftonLarsonAllen LLP as described above, you consent to 

receive exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures, authorizations, 

acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP during the course of your relationship with 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP. 

https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements
https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements


EXHIBIT B 
TO 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 
(Form of Project Fund Requisition) 

 
Requisition No. 20 

 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 
DATED OCTOBER 22, 2021 

GENERAL OBLIGATION (LIMITED TAX CONVERTIBLE TO UNLIMITED TAX) 
REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2021 

 
The undersigned District Representative (capitalized terms used herein shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto by the above Indenture) hereby makes a requisition from the Project 
Fund held by UMB Bank, n.a., as Trustee under the Indenture, and in support thereof states: 
 

1. The amount to be paid or reimbursed pursuant hereto is $93,760.71. 
 

2. The name and address of the person, firm, or corporation to whom payment is due 
or has been made is as follows: 
 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
 
3. Payment is due to the above person for (describe nature of the obligation): 

 
Payment of capital invoices 
 
4. The amount to be paid or reimbursed pursuant hereto shall be transmitted by the 

Trustee as follows (wire transfer or other transmission instructions): 
 

See previously provided wire instructions 
 

5. The above payment obligations have been or will be properly incurred, is or will be a proper 
charge against the Project Fund and have not been the basis of any previous withdrawal. The 
disbursement requested herein will be used solely for the payment of Project Costs. 
 
6. With respect to this requested disbursement, the District (i) certifies it has reviewed any wire 
instructions set forth in this requisition to confirm such wire instructions are accurate, (ii) to the 
extent permitted by law and without waiting any rights or privileges under the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, as may be amended, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Trustee from and against any and all claim, demand, loss, liability, or expense sustained, 
including but not limited to attorney fees, and expenses resulting directly or indirectly as a result 
of making the disbursement in accordance with this requisition, and (iii) agrees they will not seek 
recourse from the Trustee as a result of losses incurred by it for making the disbursement in 
accordance with this requisition.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 12th day of November, 2024. 
 

_____________________________________ 
District Representative 

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



Bond Requisition Number Invoice number Vendor Name Date Invoice Amount Date Paid

Requisition No. 1 Total 2,641,085.68          1/4/2023

Requisition No. 2 Total 237,457.05              1/6/2023

Requisition No. 3 Total 124,750.00              1/12/2023

Requisition No. 4 Total 47,807.79                1/25/2023

Requisition No. 5 Total 8,347.49                  2/22/2023

Requisition No. 6 Total 7,498.75                  3/17/2023

Requisition No. 7 Total 84,504.79                6/8/2023

Requisition No. 8 Total 110,682.19              6/30/2023

Requisition No. 9 Total 54,211.10                8/31/2023

Requisition No. 10 Total 56,513.29                9/28/2023

Requisition No. 11 Total 53,930.50                11/13/2023

Requisition No. 12 Total 4,736.15                  12/14/2023

Requisition No. 13 Total 47,360.23                1/11/2024

Requisition No. 14 Total 12,734.95                2/13/2024

Requisition No. 15 Total 158,021.85              3/11/2024

Requisition No. 16 Total 62,256.65                5/15/2024

Requisition No. 17 Total 61,727.60                5/30/2024

Requisition No. 18 7910 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7/9/2024 4,710.00                  

Requisition No. 18 7882 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7/23/2024 2,365.00                  

Requisition No. 18 6657 Communication Construction & Engineering Inc. 7/31/2024 9,871.80                  

Requisition No. 18 6658 Communication Construction & Engineering Inc. 7/31/2024 26,910.45                

Requisition No. 18 7925 The Architerra Group, Inc. 8/6/2024 10,145.45                

Requisition No. 18 Total 54,002.70                9/5/2024

Requisition No. 19 7967 The Architerra Group, Inc. 9/10/2024 11,687.07                

Requisition No. 19 Total 11,687.07                10/15/2024

Requisition No. 20 6696 Communication Construction & Engineering Inc. 8/30/2024 5,200.00                  

Requisition No. 20 7994 The Architerra Group, Inc. 10/8/2024 29,078.15                

Requisition No. 20 6760 Communication Construction & Engineering Inc. 10/17/2024 3,754.61                  

Requisition No. 20 11052024 City of Arvada 11/5/2024 1,780.00                  

Requisition No. 20 8020 The Architerra Group, Inc. 11/11/2024 53,947.95                

Requisition No. 20 Total 93,760.71                

Total Requisitioned 3,933,076.54$        

Leyden Rock Metro District

Requisition Summary

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



We appreciate the opportunity to work with you and look forward to doing so again in the future.
Page 1 of 3

Communication Construction & Engineering, Inc.
901 E 73rd Ave

Denver, CO  80229-6816

 

INVOICE
BILL TO
Katie Call
Leyden Rock Metropolitan District c/o Advance HOA Management
17865 W. 83rd Drive
Arvada, Colorado  80007
United States

INVOICE 6696
DATE 08.30.2024
DUE DATE 09.29.2024

SALES REP
Norm

 
 

 
 

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

Pricing below for work at Leyden Rock on West side of Yule way. We will apply for address 
assignment, Electrical permit, Xcel application, coordination for inspections. We will install a 200amp 
meter pedestals w/100amp main breaker panel to supply power to one monument sign & GFCI 
outlet. We will install a plastic pull box next to the sign to extend a connection to the existing 
monument and install a GFCI outlet on the back. Work based on drawings provided.

Yule Way Existing Monument

Electrical labor to install meters panels & hardware 1 1,950.00 1,950.00

Electrical connections to monument & GFCI outlet 1 1,625.00 1,625.00

Assumptions:
Unless stated otherwise, this Estimate does not include permit fees, traffic control, or bonds.
All Engineering plans will be designed to meet the State of Colorado Subsurface Utility Engineering 
specifications for ASCE Quality Level D standards, or no higher than the Quality Level stated. If any 
agency requires a higher Quality Level than bid additional charges will apply.
Wildlife, environmental, or stormwater impact studies are not included in this quote.
Force Majeure- CCE is not responsible for any unforeseen circumstances.
 As-built plans are not included unless specifically mentioned in this Estimate.
Price subject to change due to material cost increases beyond our control such as tariffs, or AHJ fee 
increases implemented after the date of this proposal
CCE will not perform private utility locates and CCE is not responsible for all un-located utilities 
and/or facilities.
Pricing is based on favorable soil conditions. If we encounter difficult soils including but not limited to 
sandy or rocky conditions, or buried debris, there will be additional charges. 
We will make three bore attempts. If we are unsuccessful there will be a $1,700.00 minimum charge 
and we will renegotiate.
All work will be done during normal business hours. If during permitting any unknown work hour 
restrictions are found then there may be additional cost.
If CCE will be utilizing an existing conduit, there will be additional charges for damaged, crushed, or 
contaminated conduit.
All potholes in asphalt will be patched with cold patch only. Any concrete potholes will be restored 
based on AHJ regulations and this will be an additional charge. If the AHJ  requires full panel 
replacement it will be an additional charge.
This estimate is standalone and is for the location listed in the scope of work above and is not to be 
connected with any other projects that have been performed in the past or will be started in the 
future for any other location unless specified by CCE.
This estimate must be signed and also include any customer issued PO's in acceptance to get 
placed on the job board and scheduled. By signing this Estimate the signor understands and agrees 
to the above listed assumptions.

1 0.00 0.00

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



We appreciate the opportunity to work with you and look forward to doing so again in the future.
Page 2 of 3

Pricing below for Leyden Rock on the east side Yule Way. ROW permit, Electrical permit & Traffic 
control to directional bore a 1"UL HDPE pipe across Yule Way 75' and place a new plastic pull box to 
extend wiring to a GFCI outlet & an uplight on rocket post to a future monument.  Specific location to 
be staked by the HOA.

Mobilization 0 130.00 0.00

Obtaining Right of way permit. 0 360.00 0.00

Cost of Right of way permit. 
Note: Permit costs are estimated and additional costs will be pass through.

0 540.00 0.00

Traffic control per day. 0 400.00 0.00

Obtaining Traffic Control Plans per sheet. 0 195.00 0.00

(Labor & Equip.) Directional bore and place a 1" conduit. Does not include spoils control and 
potholing.

0 12.00 0.00

Vac Trailer for utility potholing and spoils control during directional drilling 0 1,920.00 0.00

(Materials) Provide 1" HDPE UL Listed conduit 0 0.79 0.00

Install mule tape in empty conduit. 0 0.75 0.00

Provide Mule Tape (per ft). 0 0.07 0.00

Install a 11"x 18"x 12" plastic Handhole. 0 360.00 0.00

Provide a 11"x 18"x 12" plastic Handhole. 0 70.20 0.00

Electrical connections to Rocket post light & GFCI outlet on east side 1 1,625.00 1,625.00

Project Manager Labor (Per Hour) 0 165.00 0.00

Assumptions:
Unless stated otherwise, this Estimate does not include permit fees, traffic control, or bonds.
All Engineering plans will be designed to meet the State of Colorado Subsurface Utility Engineering 
specifications for ASCE Quality Level D standards, or no higher than the Quality Level stated. If any 
agency requires a higher Quality Level than bid additional charges will apply.
Wildlife, environmental, or stormwater impact studies are not included in this quote.
Force Majeure- CCE is not responsible for any unforeseen circumstances.
 As-built plans are not included unless specifically mentioned in this Estimate.
Price subject to change due to material cost increases beyond our control such as tariffs, or AHJ fee 
increases implemented after the date of this proposal
CCE will not perform private utility locates and CCE is not responsible for all un-located utilities 
and/or facilities.
Pricing is based on favorable soil conditions. If we encounter difficult soils including but not limited to 
sandy or rocky conditions, or buried debris, there will be additional charges. 
We will make three bore attempts. If we are unsuccessful there will be a $3,600.00/day minimum 
charge and we will renegotiate.
All work will be done during normal business hours. If during permitting any unknown work hour 
restrictions are found then there may be additional cost.
If CCE will be utilizing an existing conduit, there will be additional charges for damaged, crushed, or 
contaminated conduit.
All potholes in asphalt will be patched with cold patch only. Any concrete potholes will be restored 
based on AHJ regulations and this will be an additional charge. If the AHJ  requires full panel 
replacement it will be an additional charge.
This estimate is standalone and is for the location listed in the scope of work above and is not to be 
connected with any other projects that have been performed in the past or will be started in the 
future for any other location unless specified by CCE.
This estimate must be signed and also include any customer issued PO's in acceptance to get 
placed on the job board and scheduled. By signing this Estimate the signor understands and agrees 
to the above listed assumptions.

1 0.00 0.00

Thank you for your business. 
To pay via Card please contact the Account Executive you have 
been working with. Note, there is a 3.5% fee on top of the invoice 
amount for a credit card payment.

BALANCE DUE $5,200.00

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



We appreciate the opportunity to work with you and look forward to doing so again in the future.
Page 3 of 3

Invoice terms are net 30. 1.5% interest per month and any attorney 
fees will be charged on invoices not paid in 30 days. 

To pay with a credit card, a 3.4% processing fee will be added. 
Contact your Sales Rep to have this set up.

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



10/8/2024

INVOICE # 7994

BILL TO:

Ms. Megan J. Murphy
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave
Ste 2000
Centennial, CO 80122

PROJECT 2309/Leyden Rock Master Planning

Contract Amount

$452,892.35

Contract Remaining

$272,594.33

11/7/2024

Percent Complete

40%

P.O. #

DUE DATE

THE ARCHITERRA GROUP, INC
5881 S. Deframe St
Littleton, CO 80127
303.948.0766

DATE

DESCRIPTION TOTAL

DESCRIPTION:
Prepared initial city submittal, coordination with project team, and misc. coordination.

LABOR:
J St. George-Schreder - 84 hrs @ $85/hr 7,140.00
L Dominguez - 122 hrs @ $115/hr 14,030.00
M Taylor - 35 hrs @ $155/hr 5,425.00
     Labor Subtotal 26,595.00

EXPENSES:
459 sq ft @ $0.35/sq ft B/W Bond Plotting - Plain Paper 160.65
232 sq ft @ $.75/sq ft Color Plotting - Plain Paper 174.00
50 miles @ $.67/mile 33.50
     Expenses Subtotal 368.15

CONSULTANTS:
Elevation Consulting Group (inv 1819) 2,115.00

The Architerra Group, Inc. thanks you for your business.  Please
indicate the invoice number on your check.

$29,078.15

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



We appreciate the opportunity to work with you and look forward to doing so again in the future.
Page 1 of 2

Communication Construction & Engineering, Inc.
901 E 73rd Ave

Denver, CO  80229-6816

 

INVOICE
BILL TO
Katie Call
Leyden Rock Metropolitan District c/o Advance HOA Management
17865 W. 83rd Drive
Arvada, Colorado  80007
United States

INVOICE 6760
DATE 10.17.2024
DUE DATE 11.16.2024

SALES REP
Norm

 
 

 
 

DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

C/O for additional costs incurred due to City of Arvada requirements.  Extra SUE engineering costs 
to provide Plan & Profile drawings & bore logs to the City. Provide Concrete Flow fill materials and hot 
patch asphalt into core holes done in the street.

(Labor) Right of way engineering of proposed utility-one call quality level "B". Potholing for 
engineering and mobilization for survey are listed on separate line items.

1 1,650.00 1,650.00

Additional Cost of Right of way permit. 1 886.509 886.51

Concrete Flow fill & Hot Patch asphalt Materials 1 1,218.10 1,218.10

Assumptions:
-Unless stated otherwise, this Estimate does not include permit fees, traffic control, or bonds.
-All Engineering plans will be designed to the ASCE Quality Level and to meet the requirements listed 
on this Estimate. If any additional engineering is required above what was estimated additional 
charges may be required.
-As-built plans are not included unless specifically mentioned in this Estimate.
-Wildlife, environmental, or stormwater impact studies and mitigation plans are not included in this 
quote.
-Force Majeure- CCE is not responsible for any unforeseen circumstances.
-Price subject to change due to material cost increases beyond our control such as tariffs, or AHJ 
fee increases implemented after the date of this proposal
-Pricing is based on favorable soil conditions. If we encounter difficult soils, including but not limited to 
sand, cobble, rock, or buried debris, there will be additional charges to continue work.
-3 bore attempts will be made to get past any unfavorable soil conditions. If we are unsuccessful 
there will be a $3,600.00/day minimum charge and we will renegotiate.
-All work will be done during normal business hours. If during permitting any unknown work hour 
restrictions are found then there may be additional cost.
-Pricing for utilizing an existing conduit assumes the conduit is not damaged, crushed, contaminated, 
overfull, or any other problems that make the conduit impassable. If these conditions are 
encountered CCE can provide investigation services to identify and repair damages for an additional 
fee. 
-If CCE will be utilizing an existing conduit, there will be additional charges for damaged, crushed, or 
contaminated conduit. CCE can provide investigation services to identify and repair damages.
-All potholes in asphalt will be patched with cold patch only. Any concrete potholes will be patched 
with concrete mortar. All potholes will be filled with sand or squeegee. If the AHJ requires additional 
remediation, full panel replacement, flowfill, or anything above a simple patch there will be an 
additional charge.
-CCE will not perform private utility locates and CCE is not responsible for all un-marked utilities and 
other facilities. Signor accepts responsibility for any damages un-marked private infrastructure.
-CCE Payment terms are Net30 with payment made by check or ACH only. If a longer payment term 
or a different payment method is required it must be noted on this estimate or else additional charges 
and fee will incur.

1 0.00 0.00

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



We appreciate the opportunity to work with you and look forward to doing so again in the future.
Page 2 of 2

This estimate is standalone and is for the location and project listed in the scope of work above and 
is not to be connected with any other projects or locations that have been performed in the past or 
will be started in the future.
This estimate must be signed and also include any customer issued PO's to get placed on the job 
board and then scheduled. 
By signing this Estimate the signor understands and is agreement with the above listed assumptions 
and also agrees that this agreement shall supersede and replace all prior agreements and 
understandings, oral or written.

Thank you for your business. 
To pay via Card please contact the Account Executive you have 
been working with. Note, there is a 3.5% fee on top of the invoice 
amount for a credit card payment.
Invoice terms are net 30. 1.5% interest per month and any attorney 
fees will be charged on invoices not paid in 30 days. 

To pay with a credit card, a 3.4% processing fee will be added. 
Contact your Sales Rep to have this set up.

BALANCE DUE $3,754.61

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



Outlook

[External] FW: City of Arvada Project Accepted - Payment by Leyden Rock Due within next 10 days

From Megan J. Murphy <mmurphy@wbapc.com>
Date Tue 11/5/2024 1:30 PM
To Pangindian, Gigi <Gigi.Pangindian@claconnect.com>; Williams, Allison L <Allison.L.Williams@claconnect.com>
Cc Marissa Peck <mpeck@wbapc.com>; Leyden Rock Metro District <katie.call@advancehoa.com>; Lesanne

Dominguez <ldominguez@architerragroup.com>

Think Security – This email originated from an external source.  Be cautious with any links or attachments.

Hi Gigi and Allison,

Please make a payment from the Capital Projects Fund for $1,780 to the City of Arvada.

Information on payment is in the email below. Payment needs to be made within the next 10 days to
keep the project moving forward.

Thanks,
Megan

MEGAN J. MURPHY
SHAREHOLDER
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON
P: 303.858.1800 | F: 303.858.1801 | D: 720.866.8028
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?
url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnec
t.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0
%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLC
JBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04R
m7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0

CONFIDENTIALITY AND PRIVILEGE NOTICE: The information contained in this email message, and any
files transmitted with it, may be privileged, confidential, and exempt from disclosure under applicable
law. This email message is intended only for the use of the individual(s) or entity(ies) to whom it is
addressed. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, or the employee or agent
responsible to deliver it to the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination,
distribution or copying of this email is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please
notify us immediately by telephone or by reply email and delete the message and any copies from your
computer.

-----Original Message-----
From: Lesanne Dominguez <ldominguez@architerragroup.com>
Sent: Tuesday, November 5, 2024 1:17 PM

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3

https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.whitebearankele.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAllison.L.Williams%40claconnect.com%7C0059925b9e804d55e80308dcfdd8b5ba%7C4aaa468e93ba4ee3ab9f6a247aa3ade0%7C0%7C0%7C638664354429960652%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lj2pOC6v25HRdLa41J%2BVNt5z87miOL04Rm7%2Fh4cOcD8%3D&reserved=0


To: Megan J. Murphy <mmurphy@wbapc.com>
Subject: FW: City of Arvada Project Accepted

Megan - can coordinate this review fee to be paid in the next week or so?

Thank you!

- Lesanne

Lesanne Dominguez, PLA, ASLA
(303) 948-0766 o
(720) 371-6193 m

-----Original Message-----
From: hvangieson@arvada.org <hvangieson@arvada.org>
Sent: Friday, November 1, 2024 4:56 PM
To: Lesanne Dominguez <ldominguez@architerragroup.com>; sgreenburg@arvada.org
Subject: City of Arvada Project Accepted

The application for Leyden Rock - Community Improvements, DA2024-0086 has been accepted. Please
go to arvadapermits.org to download your acceptance letter and to pay application fees. If your project
is for a Master Development Plan, Site Plan or Minor Subdivision Final Plats you will be required to send
a Notice of Administrative Application. In the attachments for the case, you will have a mailing
notification template and a mailing affidavit. Mailing notification must be sent within the next 5 days to
be in compliance with LDC 8-2-3-8, the acceptance letter will have the exact date for the letter to be
sent, failure to send this notice may result in denial of your application.
The application fee for your project is $1780. If you prefer to use a different method other than credit
card please mail full payments to Arvada City Hall 8101 Ralston Rd Arvada, CO 80002. Please make your
payment within the next 10 days to reduce the risk of delaying your project.
If you have questions about the fees or your application please contact Shane Greenburg at 720-898-
7435.

Thank you,
Rob Smetana, Planning Manager
City of Arvada

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



11/11/2024

INVOICE # 8020

BILL TO:

Ms. Megan J. Murphy
White Bear Ankele Tanaka & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave
Ste 2000
Centennial, CO 80122

PROJECT 2309/Leyden Rock Master Planning

Contract Amount

$452,892.35

Contract Remaining

$218,646.38

12/11/2024

Percent Complete

52%

P.O. #

DUE DATE

THE ARCHITERRA GROUP, INC
5881 S. Deframe St
Littleton, CO 80127
303.948.0766

DATE

DESCRIPTION TOTAL

DESCRIPTION:
Developed 75% construction documents, final development plan amendment and site plan
amendment, obtained trails survey and prepared basemap, uploaded submittal to City and
subsequent coordination with City staff, and misc. coordination.

LABOR:
J St. George-Schreder - 88.75 hrs @ $85/hr 7,543.75
D Pearson - 18 hrs @ $180/hr 3,240.00
L Dominguez - 83.75 hrs @ $115/hr 9,631.25
M Taylor - 12.25 hrs @ $155/hr 1,898.75
A Geoghegan - 16 hrs @ $85/hr 1,360.00
     Labor Subtotal 23,673.75

EXPENSES:
867 sq ft @ $0.35/sq ft B/W Bond Plotting - Plain Paper 303.45
181 sq ft @ $.75/sq ft Color Plotting - Plain Paper 135.75
     Expenses Subtotal 439.20

CONSULTANTS:
Bailey Professional Solutions, LLC (inv LS-24-050) 9,900.00
Elevation Consulting Group (inv 1841) 19,935.00
     Consultants Subtotal 29,835.00

The Architerra Group, Inc. thanks you for your business.  Please
indicate the invoice number on your check.

$53,947.95

Docusign Envelope ID: 90F59BEF-1AD0-4945-A230-4448A2850EC3



Certificate Of Completion
Envelope Id: 90F59BEF1AD04945A2304448A2850EC3 Status: Completed

Subject: Complete with Docusign: 2021 Project Fund Requisition No. 20.pdf

Client Name: Leyden Rock MD

Client Number: 011

Source Envelope: 

Document Pages: 12 Signatures: 1 Envelope Originator: 

Certificate Pages: 5 Initials: 0 CLA Operations

AutoNav: Enabled

EnvelopeId Stamping: Enabled

Time Zone: (UTC-08:00) Pacific Time (US & Canada)

220 S 6th St Ste 300

Minneapolis, MN  55402-1418

Holly.Hayes@claconnect.com

IP Address: 47.186.212.78  

Record Tracking
Status: Original

             11/12/2024 12:47:23 PM

Holder: CLA Operations

             Holly.Hayes@claconnect.com

Location: DocuSign

Signer Events Signature Timestamp
Brett Vernon

brett.vernon@leydenrocklife.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Signature Adoption: Pre-selected Style

Using IP Address: 97.118.159.78

Sent: 11/12/2024 12:48:22 PM

Viewed: 11/12/2024 1:59:13 PM 

Signed: 11/12/2024 2:00:11 PM

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Accepted: 11/12/2024 1:59:13 PM
      ID: b8a51cdc-1249-43cf-83c2-fa3f9a012bb2

In Person Signer Events Signature Timestamp

Editor Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Agent Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Intermediary Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Certified Delivery Events Status Timestamp

Carbon Copy Events Status Timestamp
Allison L. Williams

allison.l.williams@claconnect.com

Security Level: Email, Account Authentication 
(None)

Sent: 11/12/2024 12:48:22 PM

Viewed: 11/12/2024 3:08:14 PM 

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure: 
      Not Offered via DocuSign

Witness Events Signature Timestamp

Notary Events Signature Timestamp

Envelope Summary Events Status Timestamps
Envelope Sent Hashed/Encrypted 11/12/2024 12:48:22 PM

Certified Delivered Security Checked 11/12/2024 1:59:13 PM

Signing Complete Security Checked 11/12/2024 2:00:11 PM

Completed Security Checked 11/12/2024 2:00:11 PM



Payment Events Status Timestamps

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure



ELECTRONIC RECORD AND SIGNATURE DISCLOSURE  

From time to time, CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (we, us or Company) may be required by law to 

provide to you certain written notices or disclosures. Described below are the terms and 

conditions for providing to you such notices and disclosures electronically through the DocuSign 

system. Please read the information below carefully and thoroughly, and if you can access this 

information electronically to your satisfaction and agree to this Electronic Record and Signature 

Disclosure (ERSD), please confirm your agreement by selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to 

use electronic records and signatures’ before clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign 

system. 

 

Getting paper copies  

At any time, you may request from us a paper copy of any record provided or made available 

electronically to you by us. You will have the ability to download and print documents we send 

to you through the DocuSign system during and immediately after the signing session and, if you 

elect to create a DocuSign account, you may access the documents for a limited period of time 

(usually 30 days) after such documents are first sent to you. After such time, if you wish for us to 

send you paper copies of any such documents from our office to you, you will be charged a 

$0.00 per-page fee. You may request delivery of such paper copies from us by following the 

procedure described below. 

 

Withdrawing your consent  

If you decide to receive notices and disclosures from us electronically, you may at any time 

change your mind and tell us that thereafter you want to receive required notices and disclosures 

only in paper format. How you must inform us of your decision to receive future notices and 

disclosure in paper format and withdraw your consent to receive notices and disclosures 

electronically is described below. 

 

Consequences of changing your mind  

If you elect to receive required notices and disclosures only in paper format, it will slow the 

speed at which we can complete certain steps in transactions with you and delivering services to 

you because we will need first to send the required notices or disclosures to you in paper format, 

and then wait until we receive back from you your acknowledgment of your receipt of such 

paper notices or disclosures. Further, you will no longer be able to use the DocuSign system to 

receive required notices and consents electronically from us or to sign electronically documents 

from us. 

 

All notices and disclosures will be sent to you electronically  

Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure created on: 2/12/2019 6:04:21 AM
Parties agreed to: Brett Vernon



Unless you tell us otherwise in accordance with the procedures described herein, we will provide 

electronically to you through the DocuSign system all required notices, disclosures, 

authorizations, acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you during the course of our relationship with you. To reduce the chance of you 

inadvertently not receiving any notice or disclosure, we prefer to provide all of the required 

notices and disclosures to you by the same method and to the same address that you have given 

us. Thus, you can receive all the disclosures and notices electronically or in paper format through 

the paper mail delivery system. If you do not agree with this process, please let us know as 

described below. Please also see the paragraph immediately above that describes the 

consequences of your electing not to receive delivery of the notices and disclosures 

electronically from us. 

 

How to contact CliftonLarsonAllen LLP:  

You may contact us to let us know of your changes as to how we may contact you electronically, 

to request paper copies of certain information from us, and to withdraw your prior consent to 

receive notices and disclosures electronically as follows: 

To contact us by email send messages to: BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com 

 

To advise CliftonLarsonAllen LLP of your new email address  

To let us know of a change in your email address where we should send notices and disclosures 

electronically to you, you must send an email message to us 

at BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request you must state: your 

previous email address, your new email address.  We do not require any other information from 

you to change your email address.  

If you created a DocuSign account, you may update it with your new email address through your 

account preferences.  

 

To request paper copies from CliftonLarsonAllen LLP  

To request delivery from us of paper copies of the notices and disclosures previously provided 

by us to you electronically, you must send us an email 

to BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request you must state your 

email address, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We will bill you for any fees at 

that time, if any. 

 

To withdraw your consent with CliftonLarsonAllen LLP  

To inform us that you no longer wish to receive future notices and disclosures in electronic 

format you may: 



i. decline to sign a document from within your signing session, and on the subsequent page, 

select the check-box indicating you wish to withdraw your consent, or you may; 

ii. send us an email to BusinessTechnology@CLAconnect.com and in the body of such request 

you must state your email, full name, mailing address, and telephone number. We do not need 

any other information from you to withdraw consent..  The consequences of your withdrawing 

consent for online documents will be that transactions may take a longer time to process.. 

 

Required hardware and software  

The minimum system requirements for using the DocuSign system may change over time. The 

current system requirements are found here: https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-

signing-system-requirements.  

 

Acknowledging your access and consent to receive and sign documents electronically  

To confirm to us that you can access this information electronically, which will be similar to 

other electronic notices and disclosures that we will provide to you, please confirm that you have 

read this ERSD, and (i) that you are able to print on paper or electronically save this ERSD for 

your future reference and access; or (ii) that you are able to email this ERSD to an email address 

where you will be able to print on paper or save it for your future reference and access. Further, 

if you consent to receiving notices and disclosures exclusively in electronic format as described 

herein, then select the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’ before 

clicking ‘CONTINUE’ within the DocuSign system. 

By selecting the check-box next to ‘I agree to use electronic records and signatures’, you confirm 

that: 

 You can access and read this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure; and 

 You can print on paper this Electronic Record and Signature Disclosure, or save or send 

this Electronic Record and Disclosure to a location where you can print it, for future 

reference and access; and 

 Until or unless you notify CliftonLarsonAllen LLP as described above, you consent to 

receive exclusively through electronic means all notices, disclosures, authorizations, 

acknowledgements, and other documents that are required to be provided or made 

available to you by CliftonLarsonAllen LLP during the course of your relationship with 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP. 

https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements
https://support.docusign.com/guides/signer-guide-signing-system-requirements


  

RESOLUTION 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
Establishing Guidelines for the Processing and Collection of Delinquent Fees and Covenant 

Enforcement Charges 
       

WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-municipal 
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., the Board of Directors of the District 
(the “Board”) is authorized to fix and from time to time increase or decrease, fees, rates, tolls, 
penalties, or charges for services, programs, or facilities furnished by the District (collectively, the 
“Fees”) to properties within and without (each property individually referred to herein as the 
“Property”) the District’s boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, , pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Covenants and Restrictions of 
Leyden Rock recorded in the real property records of the Clerk and Recorder of Jefferson County, 
Colorado at Reception No. 2012033713, on March 29, 2012, (the “Covenants”) and the District’s 
Resolution Regarding Policies, Procedures and Penalties for the Enforcement of the Governing 
Documents, dated ____________, 2024, the District is permitted to send demand letters and 
notices, levy and collect fines and interest, impose liens, and negotiate, settle and take any other 
actions with respect to any violations or alleged violations of the Covenants and/or the District’s 
rules and regulations (any such fines imposed or other applicable charges or expenses incurred by 
the District in relation to any covenant or rule enforcement with respect to any owner collectively 
referred to herein as “Covenant Charges”; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., until paid, the Fees and Covenant 
Charges shall constitute a perpetual lien on and against the property served; and  

WHEREAS, any such lien for Fees may be foreclosed in the same manner as provided by 
the laws of the State of Colorado for the foreclosure of mechanics’ liens; and 

WHEREAS, by this Resolution (the “Resolution”), the District desires to set forth 
guidelines for the processing and collection of unpaid and/or delinquent Fees and Covenant 
Charges imposed by the District, together with any and all Late Fees, Interest, Penalties and Costs 
of Collections (each defined separately in this Resolution, and collectively, the “Delinquency 
Charges”); and 

 WHEREAS, notwithstanding anything in this Resolution to the contrary, the guidelines set 
forth in this Resolution are intended to create orderly and fair procedures for the processing and 
collection of delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges, and Delinquency Charges and any deviation 
from the guidelines shall not affect the status of the Lien (as defined below) in any way; and 
 

WHEREAS, on February 15, 2022 the Board adopted the Resolution of the Board of 
Directors of the Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Establishing Guidelines for the Processing and 



 2 

Collection of Delinquent Fees and Charges (the “Prior Policy”), and the Board desires to adopt 
this Resolution to amend and restate the Prior Policy in its entirety. 

 NOW THEREFORE, the Board hereby adopts this Resolution and the following policies 
and procedures: 
 

1. Statement of Lien Guidelines: 

a. Perpetual Lien.  Pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., all delinquent 
Fees, Covenant Charges, and Delinquency Charges shall constitute a perpetual lien on and against 
the Property served by the District (the “Lien”).  All such Liens shall, to the fullest extent permitted 
by law, have priority over all other liens of record affecting the Property and shall run with the 
Property and remain in effect until paid in full.   Liens imposed for delinquent Fees and 
Delinquency Charges related to such delinquent Fees contemplated herein may be foreclosed as 
authorized by law at such time as the District, in its sole discretion, may determine.  

i. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the guidelines set forth in this 
Resolution are intended to create orderly and fair procedures for the processing and collection of 
delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges, and Delinquency Charges and to provide additional notice to 
interested parties, including, but not limited to, title companies and the Property owner.  In the 
event any or all of the guidelines set forth in this Resolution are not followed, such deviation shall 
not affect the status of the Lien in any way.  Further, the Board may waive any guidelines set forth 
in this Resolution and may amend them from time to time as it deems necessary.  

b. Manager Procedures.  The District’s manager, accountant or billing agent 
(any of which are referred to herein as the “Manager”) is responsible for collecting Fees and 
Covenant Charges imposed by the District against the Property.  In the event payment of Fees or 
Covenant Charges is delinquent, the Manager may perform the procedures listed below.  Fees are 
considered delinquent when they have not been paid by their corresponding due date and Covenant 
Charges are delinquent when they have not been paid with thirty (30) days of being imposed (the 
“Delinquent Account”): 

i. Fifteen (15) Calendar Days Past Due: A delinquent payment 
“Reminder Letter” may be sent to the address of the last known owner of the Property according 
to the Manager’s records, which may (1) request prompt payment; (2) notify the Property owner 
that a Reminder Letter Fee and a Late Fee in the amounts set forth in this Resolution have been 
assessed; and (3) reference the url address of the District’s webpage where this Resolution is 
displayed, if available.  In the event the above mailing is returned as undeliverable, the Manager 
may send a second copy of the Reminder Letter to: (1) the Property; (2) the address of the last 
known owner of the Property as found in the real property records of the county Assessor’s Office 
(the “Assessor”) for the county in which the District is located (collectively, the “Property 
Address”). The Manager may deviate from the mailing destinations as included in the Property 
Address if requested by the Property owner in writing. 

Fifteen (15) Calendar Days From the Date of the Reminder Letter: A “Warning Letter” 
may be sent to the Property Address:  (1) requesting prompt payment; (2) notify the Property owner 
that a Warning Letter Fee in the amount set forth in this Resolution has been assessed; (3) warning 



 3 

of further legal action should the Property owner fail to pay the total amount due and owing; and 
(4) referencing the url address of the District’s webpage where this Resolution is displayed, if 
available.  Along with the Warning Letter, a copy of the most recent account ledger reflecting the 
total amount due and owing to the District according to the records of the Manager may also be 
sent. 

ii. Ten (10) Calendar Days from the Date of the Warning Letter:  Once 
the total amount of delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges and Delinquency Charges owing on the 
Property has exceeded $150.00 regardless of whether the Manager has performed the tasks 
outlined in Section 1(b) of this Resolution, the Manager may refer the Delinquent Account to the 
District’s legal counsel engaged for collection matters (“Special Counsel”).  At the time of such 
referral, the Manager may be requested to provide Special Counsel with copies of all notices and 
letters sent pursuant to Section 1(b), if any, as well as a copy of the most recent ledger for the 
Delinquent Account.   

c. Special Counsel Procedures.  Upon referral of a Delinquent Account from 
the Manager, Special Counsel may perform the following: 

i. Upon Referral of the Delinquent Account From the Manager: A 
“Demand Letter” may be sent to the Property Address, notifying the Property owner that the 
Property has been referred to Special Counsel for further collections enforcement, including the 
filing of a statement of lien against the Property.  Along with the Demand Letter, a copy of the 
most recent account ledger reflecting the total amount due and owing the District according to the 
records of the Manager may also be sent. 

ii. No Sooner than Thirty (40) Calendar Days from the Date of the 
Demand Letter:  A Notice of Intent to File a Statement of Lien, along with a copy of the statement 
of lien to be filed, may be sent to the Property Address of the Delinquent Account notifying the 
Property owner that a statement of lien will be recorded with the clerk and recorder of the county 
(the “Clerk and Recorder”) within no sooner than ten (10) days from the postmark date of the 
Notice of Intent to File a Statement of Lien.   

iii. No Sooner than Ten (10) Calendar Days from the Date of the Notice 
of Intent to File a Statement of Lien:  A Statement of Lien for the total amount due and owing as 
of the date of the Statement of Lien may be recorded against the Property with the Clerk and 
Recorder no sooner than ten (10) days from the postmark date of the Notice of Intent to File a 
Statement of Lien is sent to the Property.  Notwithstanding the amount due and owing reflected on 
the Statement of Lien, all delinquent Fees and related Delinquency Charges will continue to accrue 
on the Delinquent Account and will run with the Property until the total amount due and owing 
the District is paid in full. 

d. Foreclosure or Bankruptcy.  In circumstances where the Property is being 
foreclosed upon or where the owner of the Property has declared or is declaring bankruptcy and 
notice of such bankruptcy action has been provided to the District, the Manager may be permitted, 
in his or her discretion, to refer the Delinquent Account directly to Special Counsel in order to 
avoid unnecessary, costly and time-consuming procedures.  Upon referral of the Delinquent 
Account to Special Counsel, Special Counsel may, in his or her discretion, immediately file a 



 4 

Statement of Lien on the Property.  Further, when a Delinquent Account consisting of delinquent 
Fees and related Delinquency Charges has a balance of one thousand dollars ($1,000) or greater, 
Special Counsel may submit the account to the Board for consideration of a foreclosure action.  
Special Counsel shall not proceed with a foreclosure action unless such action is authorized by the 
Board.  The District may, at its option, forward a copy of the foreclosure warning letter to any and 
all deed of trust holders and/or counsel for any and all deed of trust holders of record.  

2. Late Fees:  

a. Late Fees are assessed on the Property for failure to make timely payments 
of Fees or Covenant Charges.  Late Fees are applied, regardless of whether the Fees are assessed 
on a one-time, monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, annual, or any other basis. 

b. Late Fees are assessed on the Property Fifteen (15) calendar days from 
the payment due date.  Pursuant to § 29-1-1102, C.R.S., such Late Fee may be charged by either 
of the following two methods, whichever is greater:  

i. One Late Fee of Fifteen Dollars ($15.00) may be assessed on the 
Property per each assessment or installment of Fees or Covenant Charges not fully paid prior to 
the Fifteenth (15) calendar day following the payment due date; or 

ii. In lieu of Section 2(b)(i) above, a Late Fee of Five Percent (5%) per 
month, commencing on the Fifteenth (15) calendar day following the payment due date, and each 
month thereafter, may be charged on unpaid Fees or Covenant Charges until the Late Fee equals 
Twenty Five Percent (25%) of all outstanding Fees or Covenant Charges, as applicable. 

c. Partial payment of any outstanding delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges, or 
Delinquency Charges will not prevent the imposition of Late Fees pursuant to this Section 2. 

d. Payments received will be applied to the balance due in the following order 
of priority: (1) Late Fees; (2) Interest; (3) Costs of Collections; (4) Legal Fees and Costs; (5) the 
earliest imposed and unpaid Fees or Covenant Charges; (6) any successive unpaid Fees or 
Covenant Charges in chronological order from the earliest unpaid Fees or Covenant Charges to 
the most recently imposed Fees or Covenant Charges.  

e. No penalty will be assessed on the Property for a credit balance resulting 
from the prepayment and/or overpayment of Fees.  Such credit balances will be carried forward 
on the account with all subsequent Fees and related Delinquency Charges being deducted until 
such time as the credit balance is depleted.  A Property carrying a credit balance may be assessed 
Late Fees as provided herein at such time as the credit balance is insufficient to pay the entire 
amount of Fees due and owing the District. 

3. Interest:  Interest charges accrue on all delinquent Fees and Covenant Charges at 
the maximum statutory rate of Eighteen Percent (18%) per annum.  Interest shall not accrue and 
be charged on Late Fees, Interest or Costs of Collections.  § 29-1-1102, C.R.S. 



 5 

4. Penalties: “Penalties” may be charged on Delinquent Accounts at a rate 
determined by the Board and may include, but are not limited to, pro-rated costs associated with 
collection efforts on behalf of the District for all Delinquent Accounts combined.  

5. Costs of Collections: “Costs of Collection” include, but are not limited to, 
attorneys’ fees and all other costs, fees and charges associated with the processing and/or collection 
of delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges, including fixed and/or hourly rates imposed by the 
management company for associated work and hourly and fixed fees imposed by Special Counsel. 
In accordance with § 29-1-1102(8), C.R.S., nothing in this Resolution shall be construed to prohibit 
the District from recovering all Costs of Collections whether or not outlined above. 

6. Waiver of Late Fees, Interest and Costs of Collections: 

a. The Manager and Special Counsel each have authority and discretion to 
waive or reduce portions of the Delinquent Account attributable to Late Fees and Interest.  Such 
action is permitted if either the Manager or Special Counsel, in its discretion, determines that such 
waiver or reduction will facilitate the payment of delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges and/or 
Delinquency Charges.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Manager nor Special Counsel 
shall have the authority to waive Late Fees and Interest which, in the aggregate, exceed One 
Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00).  In such case, the person or entity owing in excess of One Thousand 
Dollars ($1,000.00) in Late Fees and Interest combined and requesting such a waiver shall first 
submit a request, in writing, to the Board, and the Board may make the determination in its sole 
discretion.   

b. Neither the Manager nor Special Counsel is authorized to waive any portion 
of the Fees, Covenant Charges, or Costs of Collections.  Should the Property owner desire a waiver 
of such Fees, Covenant Charges, and/or Costs of Collections, s/he may submit a written request to 
the Board and the Board may make the determination in its sole discretion. 

c. Any waiver or reduction of Late Fees or Interest granted pursuant to 
Sections 6(a) or (b) hereof shall not be construed as a waiver or reduction of future Late Fees and 
Interest, or as the promise to waive or reduce future Late Fees or Interest.  Nor shall any such 
waiver or reduction be deemed to bind, limit, or direct the future decision-making power of the 
Board, Manager, the District’s general legal counsel (“General Counsel”) or Special Counsel, 
whether related to the Property in question or other properties within the District. 

7. Payment Plans:  The Manager and Special Counsel each have the authority to enter 
into or establish payment plans for the repayment of a Delinquent Account.  Should the Manager 
or Special Counsel elect not to enter into a payment plan with the Property owner, the Property 
owner may submit a written request to the Board and the Board may make the determination in its 
sole discretion. 

8. Certification of Covenant Charges and Related Delinquency Charges to 
County Treasurer: Pursuant to § 32-1-1004.5(3)(b)(III), C.R.S., the Board may elect to certify 
any delinquent Covenant Charges and related Delinquency Charges satisfying the criteria 
established therein to the county Treasurer’s Office for collection with the District’s ad valorem 
property taxes.  The certification process may be performed by the Manager, Special Counsel or 



 6 

General Counsel in addition to or in lieu of any procedures set forth in this Resolution in the 
Board’s sole discretion.  The fees for the certification process shall be in accordance with Colorado 
law and the county’s policy. 

9. Acceleration and Decelerations of Fees:  The District reserves the right to 
accelerate and call due an entire unpaid annual Fee on any Delinquent Account.  Such acceleration 
shall result in the entire unpaid annual Fee being due to the District immediately.  The District also 
reserves the right to decelerate any accelerated Fee. 

10. Ratification of Past Actions:  All acts, omissions, waivers and/or payment plans 
heretofore undertaken by the Manager or Special Counsel that would otherwise have been 
authorized by or not required by this Resolution are hereby affirmed, ratified and made effective 
as of the date said acts, omissions, waivers and/or payment plans occurred. 

11. Additional Actions:  The Board directs its officers, staff and consultants to take 
such additional actions and execute such additional documents as are necessary to give full effect 
to the intention of this Resolution. 

12. Deviations:  The District may deviate from the procedures set forth in this 
Resolution if in its sole discretion such deviation is reasonable under the circumstances. 

13. Prior Outstanding Fees:  Any fees, rates, tolls, penalties or charges due under the 
Prior Policy, to the extent outstanding and unpaid, shall remain in effect until fully paid and shall 
not be eliminated hereby  

14. Supersedes Prior Resolutions:  This Resolution shall supersede and replace in 
their entirety all prior resolutions addressing the processing and/or collection of delinquent Fees , 
Covenant Charges, and Delinquency Charges, including the Prior Policy.  To the extent that any 
term or provision in this Resolution conflicts with any term or provision in a previously enacted 
and valid resolution of the District, the term or provision in this Resolution shall prevail. 

15. Severability:  If any term, condition or provision of this Resolution shall, for any 
reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such term, 
condition or provision shall not affect any other provision contained in this Resolution, the 
intention being that such provisions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or 
unenforceable provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Resolution a provision 
similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed 
provision is legal, valid and enforceable. 

16. Savings Provision:  The failure to comply with the procedures set forth herein shall 
not affect the status of any delinquent Fees, Covenant Charges, and/or Delinquency Charges as a 
perpetual Lien subject to foreclosure in accordance with law.  Failure by the Manager, General 
Counsel or Special Counsel or other authorized representative to take any action in accordance 
with the guidelines provided herein shall not invalidate subsequent efforts to collect the delinquent 
Fees, Covenant Charges, and/or Delinquency Charges.   

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank, signature page follows.]



 7 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this _______ ___, 20__. 

 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-
municipal corporation and political subdivision 
of the State of Colorado 
 
 

By:  
 Officer of the District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
General Counsel to the District 
 
 
 

Attest: 
  
  
By:  
  



RESOLUTION  
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
Regarding Policies, Procedures and Penalties for the Enforcement of the Governing 

Documents  
       

 
 WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-

municipal corporations and political subdivisions of the State of Colorado; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Covenants and Restrictions of 
Leyden Rock recorded in the real property records of the Clerk and Recorder of Jefferson County, 
Colorado at Reception No. 2012033713, on March 29, 2012, (the “Covenants”), the District is 
permitted to send demand letters and notices, levy and collect fines and interest, impose liens, and 
negotiate, settle and take any other actions with respect to any violations or alleged violations of 
the Governing Documents (as defined below); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the District is authorized to promulgate 
adopt, enact, modify, amend, repeal, and re-enact rules and regulations concerning and governing 
the Property (as that term is defined in the Covenants); and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., the Board is authorized to fix and from 
time to time increase or decrease, fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges for services, programs, or 
facilities furnished by the District; and 
 

WHEREAS, such fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges, until paid, shall constitute a perpetual 
lien on and against the property served; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to set establishing policies, procedures and penalties for 
violations of the Covenants, any guidelines, rules and regulations, and other policies and 
procedures of the District, as the same may be adopted, amended and supplemented from time to 
time (collectively, the “Governing Documents”). 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 5, 2016 the Board adopted the Resolution of the Board of 
Directors of the Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Regarding Policies, Procedures and Penalties 
for the Enforcement of the Governing Documents (the “Prior Policy”), and the Board desires to 
adopt this Resolution to amend and restate the Prior Policy in its entirety. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, the Board hereby adopts this Resolution and the following policies 
and procedures: 
 

1. Intent of District.  This Resolution is adopted to ensure the protection of the health, 
safety and welfare of the residents and property owners of the District, to preserve property values, 
enhance the quality of life for all District residents, and provide a fair and consistent enforcement 
process of the Governing Documents.   

 



 2 

2. Enforcement Policy.  The District may enforce the Governing Documents through 
administrative proceedings or judicial action. Any non-compliance with the Governing Documents 
by any owner, renter or guest will be the responsibility of the owner of the respective property 
subject to this Resolution (the “Owner”).  This Resolution is intended to serve as guidance to the 
Board and the District’s authorized representative(s) (the “District Representative”) and does not 
limit or restrict the authority of the Board.  The Board may intervene at any time with respect to 
any authority granted to or action undertaken by the District Representative.  In addition, this 
Resolution shall not supersede the procedures for approval, disapproval, or notice of 
noncompliance related to improvements as set forth in the Governing Documents.   

 
3. Investigative Procedure.  Upon receipt of a written complaint alleging a violation 

of the Governing Documents, the District Representative will conduct an investigation to 
determine whether a violation of the Governing Documents has occurred. The submitter of the 
complaint shall provide a statement describing the alleged violation, shall identify themselves, the 
alleged violator, if known, the date on which the violation exists or occurred, and provide any other 
pertinent information. Non-written complaints or written complaints failing to include any 
information required by this provision may not be investigated or prosecuted at the discretion of 
the District. 

 
4. Enforcement Process for Continuous Violations. Upon determining that a 

“Continuous Violation” (defined as a violation that is ongoing, uninterrupted by time and may 
take time to cure, such as installing an unapproved structure on a property or neglecting to maintain 
the exterior appearance of a property) has occurred, the District Representative and the Board shall 
take the following steps: 

 
 a. Continuous Violation Warning Letter.  If the District Representative 
determines that a Continuous Violation of the Governing Documents exists, either through 
the investigative process as set forth above, or through independent inspections or 
observations of the District Representative, the District Representative will send an 
“Continuous Violation Warning Letter” via first-class United States mail to the last 
known Owner of the Property according to the District’s records notifying the Owner of: 
(i) the restriction violated and the nature of the violation, (ii) that the Owner must have the 
Continuous Violation corrected within 15 calendar days of the date of the Continuous 
Violation Warning Letter, and (iii) that failure to timely cure the Continuous Violation may 
result in potential fines or other sanctions.  If, in the discretion of the District 
Representative, the Continuous Violation requires more than 15 days to cure, the District 
Representative may extend the cure period or require the Owner to commence such cure 
within 15 days of the date of the Continuous Violation Warning Letter and diligently 
prosecute the same to completion.  In the event the above mailing is returned as 
undeliverable, the District may send a second copy of the Continuous Violation Warning 
Letter to: (1) the Property; and (2) the address of the last known owner of the Property as 
found in the real property records of the county Assessor’s Office for the county in which 
the District is located (collectively, the “Property Address”). The District Representative 
may deviate from the mailing destinations as included in the Property Address if requested 
by the Owner in writing. Upon receipt of any notice regarding a Continuous Violation, an 
Owner may propose arrangements to cure the violation to the District Representative. A 



 3 

District Representative may approve or deny arrangements to cure a Continuous Violation 
based on what is reasonable under the circumstances.  If a District Representative denies 
arrangements for curing a Continuous Violation they must provide the Owner notice in 
writing prior to imposing any fines (“Denial Letter”). The Denial Letter shall further state 
the reasoning for the denial and that the Owner is entitled to a hearing on the merits of the 
matter provided that such hearing is requested in writing by the Owner within 15 days of 
the date of the Denial Letter. 
  
 b. Notice of Complaint and Opportunity to Be Heard.  If the Owner has not 
cured the Continuous Violation or made arrangements to cure the Continuous Violation 
and communicated such arrangements to the District Representative in writing within 15 
days of the Continuous Violation Warning Letter this shall be considered a second violation 
for which a fine may be imposed.  The District Representative shall send a notice of 
complaint and opportunity to be heard (“Fine Notice”) to the Owner at the Owner’s address 
notifying the Owner of the Continuous Violation and that a fine will be imposed on the 
Owner’s account pursuant to the fine schedule set forth in Paragraph 10 if the violation is 
not cured or no hearing is requested as set forth below.  The Fine Notice shall further state 
that the Owner is entitled to a hearing on the merits of the matter provided that such hearing 
is requested in writing by the Owner within 15 days of the date of the Fine Notice. The 
District may impose additional fines with each notice sent after the Fine Notice without the 
necessity of providing the Owner with the opportunity for additional hearings thereafter. 

    
 c. Notices of Ongoing Violation and Fine.  If the Owner has not requested a 
hearing, cured the Continuous Violation or made arrangements to cure the Continuous 
Violation and communicated such arrangements to the District Representative in writing 
within 15 days of the Fine Notice, the first fine set forth in Paragraph 10 shall then be 
imposed, and this shall be considered a third violation for which a fine will be imposed. 
The District Representative shall send a notice of ongoing violation (“Ongoing Violation 
and Fine Notice”) to the Owner at the Owner’s Address demanding that the Owner cure 
the ongoing Continuous Violation and providing notice that the first fine has been imposed, 
and that an additional fine is being imposed on the Owner’s account pursuant to the fine 
schedule set forth in Paragraph 10 below. If the Continuous Violation remains uncured 15 
days after the date of the first Ongoing Violation and Fine Notice or the Owner has not 
made arrangements to cure the Continuous Violation and communicated such 
arrangements to the District Representative in writing within 15 days of the first Ongoing 
Violation and Fine Notice, this shall be considered a fourth violation for which an 
additional fine will be imposed. A second Ongoing Violation and Fine Notice shall be sent 
to the Owner and shall advise the Owner of the imposition of an additional fine, pursuant 
to the fine schedule set forth in Paragraph 10 of this Resolution. 
 
 d. Continuous Violation Daily Fines.  In the event that a Continuous Violation 
continues to exist uninterrupted 15 days after the date of the second Ongoing Violation and 
Fine Notice, the District may in its discretion, in addition to any other remedy, send the 
Owner a notice of daily fines (“Daily Fine Notice”) and thereafter impose a fine of up to 
$100 for each day that a Continuous Violation so continues.   

 



 4 

5. Enforcement Process for Repetitious Violations.  Upon determining that a 
“Repetitious Violation” (defined as a violation that occurs at a set point in time and does not 
require time to cure, such as the parking of a restricted vehicle in the community or leaving trash 
cans out beyond the time allowed) has occurred, the District Representative and Board shall take 
the following steps: 

 
 a. Repetitious Violation Warning Letter.  If the District Representative 
determines that a Repetitious Violation of the Governing Documents has occurred, either 
through the investigative process as set forth above, or through independent inspections or 
observations of the District Representative, the District Representative will send an 
“Repetitious Violation Warning Letter” via first-class United States mail to the last 
known owner of the Property according to the District’s records notifying the Owner of: 
(i) the restriction violated and the nature of the Repetitious Violation, and (iii) that any 
subsequent violations of the same restriction within 180 days of the date of the Repetitious 
Violation Warning  Letter may result in the imposition of fines.  In the event the above 
mailing is returned as undeliverable, the District may send a second copy of the Repetitious 
Violation Warning Letter to the Property Address.  

 
 b. Notices of Repetitious Violations.  If an Owner subsequently violates the 
same covenant or rule within 180 days of date of the Repetitious Violation Warning Letter, 
each such instance shall constitute a separate Repetitious Violation for which fines may be 
imposed pursuant to the fine schedule set forth in Paragraph 10.  Upon the occurrence of 
each subsequent Repetitious Violation, the District Representative shall send the Owner a 
notice advising the Owner of the Repetitious Violation and of the fine to be imposed 
(“Repetitious Violation and Fine Notice”).  The first such Repetitious Violation and Fine 
Notice shall further state that the Owner is entitled to a hearing on the merits of the matter 
provided that such hearing is requested in writing by the Owner within 15 days of such 
first Repetitious Violation and Fine Notice.  The District may impose additional fines with 
each Repetitious Violation and Fine Notice sent after the first Repetitious Violation and 
Fine Notice without the necessity of providing the Owner with the opportunity for a hearing 
thereafter. 

 
 6. Impartial Decision Maker. Pursuant to Colorado law, an Owner has the right to be 
heard before an "Impartial Decision Maker".  An Impartial Decision Maker is defined under 
Colorado law as a person or group of persons who have the authority to make a decision regarding 
the enforcement of the District’s Governing Documents, including architectural requirements, and 
does not have any direct personal or financial interest in the outcome. A decision maker shall not 
be deemed to have a direct personal or financial interest in the outcome if the decision maker will 
not, as a result of the outcome, receive any greater benefit or detriment than that of other owners 
subject to the same Governing Documents. Unless otherwise disqualified pursuant to the definition 
of Impartial Decision Maker, the Board may appoint to act as the Impartial Decision Maker the 
entire Board, specified members of the Board, any other individual or group of individuals. 
 
 7. Hearing on Violation.  If a hearing is requested by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 
4.a, 4.b or 5.b above, the District Representative shall notify the Owner of the date, time and place 



 5 

of the hearing at least 10 days prior to the hearing.  Hearings regarding violations of the Governing 
Documents shall be conducted by an Impartial Decision Maker.   
  
 8. Failure to Attend or Request Hearing.  In the event any Owner fails to request a 
hearing within 15 days of the date of the Fine Notice or the first Repetitious Violation and Fine 
Notice, no hearing shall be required.  Failure to request a hearing or to appear at a requested hearing 
will result in the Owner being deemed to have admitted and acknowledged the violation and the 
Owner will thereafter be subject to all fines and penalties assessed in connection with the violation.  
After offering an Owner the opportunity for a hearing in the Fine Notice or the first Repetitious 
Violation and Fine Notice, as applicable, regardless of whether the Owner then requests a hearing 
or not, the District need not offer the opportunity for a hearing for any additional fines to be 
imposed for failure to cure a Continuous Violation or for subsequent instances of a Repetitious 
Violation 
 
 9. Decision.  After the District has taken the hearing steps as outlined above, and in 
the event a hearing is requested and held, upon a finding being reached, the District Representative 
shall send notice of determination (“Notice of Determination”) to the Owner’s Address informing 
the Owner of the Impartial Decision Maker’s findings.  If the Impartial Decision Maker finds the 
Owner is in violation of the Governing Documents the District may revoke or suspend the Owner’s 
privileges, impose fines in accordance with the fine schedule set forth in Paragraph 10 below and 
take such other actions as it may deem necessary or appropriate to assure compliance with the 
Governing Documents. 
 
 10. Fine Schedule.   The following fine schedule is adopted for any and all violations 
of the Governing Documents.    

 
Continuous Violations 
 
First Violation (Continuous Violation Warning Letter):  $ 0.00 
Second Violation (Fine Notice):      $ 25.00 
Third Violation (First Ongoing Violation and Fine Notice):  $ 50.00 
Fourth Violation (Second Ongoing Violation and Fine Notice): $ 100.00 
Daily Fine Notice:     Up to $100.00 per day 
 
Repetitious Violations: 
 
First Violation  (Repetitious Violation Warning Letter):  $ 0.00 
Second Violation (First Repetitious Violation and Fine Notice):  $ 25.00 
Subsequent Violations (Repetitious Violation and Fine Notice):  $ 50.00 per offense 
 
11. Perpetual Lien. Pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., the Board is authorized to 

fix and from time to time increase or decrease, fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges for services, 
programs, or facilities furnished by the District. Until paid such fees, rates, tolls, penalties, or charges, 
until paid, shall constitute a perpetual lien on and against the property served. 
 



 6 

 12. Violations or Offenses that Constitute a Present Danger.  If a violation concerns a 
serious or immediate risk to the health, safety, or welfare of person or property, the District 
Representative shall seek to obtain prompt action by the Owner to correct the violation and avoid 
any reoccurrence, and the procedural requirements under this Resolution may be waived by the 
Board and a hearing scheduled as soon as possible.  The Board may impose sanctions as necessary 
to abate any threat to health, safety or welfare of any person or property. 
  
 13. Waiver of Fines and Other Amounts.  The District may determine enforcement 
actions on a case by case basis, and take other actions as it may deem necessary or appropriate to 
assure compliance with the Governing Documents.  The District Representative and/or the Board 
may, either in its sole discretion, waive all or any portion of any fines and other amounts levied 
under this Resolution.  Additionally, the District Representative and/or the Board may condition 
waiver of any fine or other amount(s), upon the Owner coming into and staying in compliance 
with the Governing Documents. 

 
 14. Other Enforcement Means.  The provisions of this Resolution shall be in addition 
to all other enforcement means which are available to the District through the Governing 
Documents, or by law.  Application of this Resolution does not preclude the District from using 
any other enforcement means, including, but not limited to the recording of liens, certification to 
the county Treasurer’s Office of delinquent fees, rates, tolls, fines, penalties, charges and/or 
assessments related specifically to covenant enforcement and design review services and any other 
legal or equitable remedies available to the District. 

 
 15. Legal Action. Any violation of the Governing Documents may, in the discretion of 
the Board, be turned over to legal counsel engaged for covenant enforcement matters (“Special 
Counsel”) to take appropriate legal action either in lieu of, or in addition to, the imposition of any 
fines or other penalties under this Resolution, and Owners shall be responsible for all attorneys’ 
fees and costs incurred in enforcing this Resolution and in collecting amounts due and owing the 
District. 
 
 16. Certification of Account to County Treasurer. Pursuant to § 32-1-1004.5(3)(b)(III), 
C.R.S., the Board may elect to certify any delinquent fees, rates, tolls, fines, penalties, charges, 
and/or assessments made or levied specifically for covenant enforcement and design review services 
satisfying the criteria established therein to the county Treasurer’s Office for collection with the 
District’s ad valorem property taxes.  The certification process may be performed by the District 
Representative, Special Counsel or general counsel to the District in addition to or in lieu of any 
procedures set forth in this Resolution in the Board’s sole discretion.  The fees for the certification 
process shall be in accordance with Colorado law and the county’s policy. 
 
 17. Disputes. In the event of any dispute involving the District and an Owner related to 
the enforcement of any covenants or design review services, the Owner may request to meet with 
the Board to resolve the dispute informally and without the need for additional enforcement 
actions.  If the Owner requests to meet with the Board, the Board shall make a reasonable effort to 
comply with the Owner's request. 
 



 7 

Nothing in this Section shall be construed to require any specific form of alternative dispute 
resolution, such as mediation or arbitration, or require the parties to meet.  Neither the District nor 
the Owner waives any right to pursue whatever legal or other remedial actions available to either 
party. 
 
 18. Deviations.  The District may deviate from the procedures set forth herein if, in its 
sole discretion, such deviation is reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
 19. Amendment.  The policies, procedures and fine schedule set forth in this Resolution 
may be supplemented and/or amended from time to time by the District, in its sole and absolute 
discretion. 
 
 20. Payment.  Payment for all fines shall be by check or equivalent form acceptable to 
the District, made payable to Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, c/o Advance HOA Management, 
P.O. Box 370390, Denver, CO 80237.  The District may change the payment address from time 
and time and such change shall not require an amendment to this Resolution. 
 
 21. Severability.  If any portion of this Resolution is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining 
portion of this resolution, which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such 
void or unenforceable provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Resolution a 
provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting 
reformed provision is legal, valid and enforceable. 
  
 22. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately and shall 
supersede in its entirety any prior resolution. 

 
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank, signature page follows.]



8 

 ADOPTED ____________________, 2024.  
 
 

DISTRICT: 
 
 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, 
a quasi-municipal corporation and political 
subdivision of the State of Colorado 

 
 
      By:        
            Officer of the District 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:_____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
                                                                     
General Counsel to the District 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Invoice Date Payment Date Vendor Invoice Number Amount

07/31/24 10/17/24 White, Bear & Ankele PC 36130        $                     8,895.23

08/07/24 10/28/24 Keesen Landscape BRO 257252 516.93          

08/31/24 10/17/24 CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP L241643374       3,904.16

08/31/24 10/17/24 Winzenburg, Leff, Purvis & Payne, LLP 703415 714.00          

09/10/24 10/17/24 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7967 11,687.07    

09/23/24 10/17/24 Dazzio & Associates, PC 715 6,600.00       

09/30/24 10/17/24 White, Bear & Ankele PC 37101 5,580.03       

11/05/24 11/12/24 City of Arvada 11052024 1,780.00       

39,677.42$  

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District

Interim Claims 10/10/24 - 11/25/24



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024



General Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects Total

Assets
Checking Account $ 195,844.89 $ - $ - $ 516.93 $ 196,361.82
Checking Account - AHM - 23,764.75 - - 23,764.75
Petty Cash/Debit Card - AHM - 3,555.46 - - 3,555.46
CSAFE 569,100.50 - 6,047.25 - 575,147.75
CSAFE Reserve 40,032.84 - - - 40,032.84
UMB Bond Fund - - 1,772,457.81 - 1,772,457.81
UMB Project Fund - - - 4,032,945.36 4,032,945.36
Accounts Receivable - 19,864.25 - - 19,864.25
Receivable from County Treasurer 10,335.64 - 13,442.16 - 23,777.80

Total Assets $ 815,313.87 $ 47,184.46 $ 1,791,947.22 $ 4,033,462.29 $ 6,687,907.84

Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 30,914.96 $ 81,396.23 $ - $ 17,404.00 $ 129,715.19
Prepaid assessments - 2,545.32 - - 2,545.32

Total Liabilities 30,914.96 83,941.55 - 17,404.00 132,260.51

Fund Balances 784,398.91 (36,757.09) 1,791,947.22 4,016,058.29 6,555,647.33

Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 815,313.87 $ 47,184.46 $ 1,791,947.22 $ 4,033,462.29 $ 6,687,907.84

Leyden Rock Metro District
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and the statement
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 1



Amended Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Property taxes $ 1,765,484.00 $ 1,765,484.00 $ 1,760,600.14 $ 4,883.86
Specific ownership taxes 123,584.00 92,687.94 85,442.00 7,245.94
Interest Income 19,500.00 14,625.00 33,307.32 (18,682.32)
Other Revenue 10,000.00 7,499.97 65,108.54 (57,608.57)

Total Revenue 1,918,568.00 1,880,296.91 1,944,458.00 (64,161.09)

Expenditures
Accounting 55,000.00 41,249.97 33,445.69 7,804.28
Auditing 7,000.00 7,000.00 6,600.00 400.00
County Treasurer's Fee 26,634.00 26,634.00 26,808.34 (174.34)
Directors' fees 7,200.00 5,400.00 1,200.00 4,200.00
Dues and Membership 2,000.00 2,000.00 534.96 1,465.04
Insurance 36,000.00 36,000.00 35,105.00 895.00
Legal 160,000.00 119,999.97 96,527.41 23,472.56
Miscellaneous 2,000.00 1,499.94 211.20 1,288.74
Election - - 63.04 (63.04)
Contingency 22,166.00 22,166.00 - 22,166.00

Total Expenditures 318,000.00 261,949.88 200,495.64 61,454.24

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers to other fund (1,782,000.00) (1,336,500.00) (1,226,229.51) (110,270.49)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,782,000.00) (1,336,500.00) (1,226,229.51) (110,270.49)

Net Change in Fund Balances (181,432.00) 281,847.03 517,732.85 (235,885.82)

Fund Balance - Beginning 214,855.00 214,855.00 266,666.06 (51,811.06)
Fund Balance - Ending $ 33,423.00 $ 496,702.03 $ 784,398.91 $ (287,696.88)

Leyden Rock Metro District
General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 2



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Tract K Filing Fee $ 1,488.00 $ 1,488.00 $ 1,488.00 $ -
Transfer Fees 15,250.00 11,437.47 14,640.00 (3,202.53)
Interest Income 300.00 225.00 56.41 168.59
Other Revenue - - 920.00 (920.00)
Rental income 15,000.00 11,250.00 11,797.68 (547.68)
Design Review Fee 6,000.00 4,500.00 5,850.00 (1,350.00)
Social Events 4,000.00 2,999.97 300.00 2,699.97
Sponsorship Income 10,000.00 7,499.97 19,200.00 (11,700.03)
Pool Income 4,000.00 2,999.97 7,670.00 (4,670.03)

Total Revenue 56,038.00 42,400.38 61,922.09 (19,521.71)

Expenditures
Dues and Membership 2,500.00 1,874.97 3,557.38 (1,682.41)
Miscellaneous - - 2,489.23 (2,489.23)
Management Fees 288,000.00 216,000.00 188,774.88 27,225.12
Irrigation repairs 40,000.00 29,999.97 45,267.25 (15,267.28)
Pool parts & supplies 12,000.00 9,000.00 17,283.84 (8,283.84)
Pool repairs and maintenance 10,000.00 7,499.97 7,728.05 (228.08)
Trash & debris clean up 16,000.00 11,999.97 - 11,999.97
Lifeguard contract service 96,500.00 72,374.94 94,097.52 (21,722.58)
Dog waste stations 25,000.00 18,749.97 17,870.00 879.97
Cleaning supplies 5,000.00 3,749.94 3,396.97 352.97
Landscape replace/enhance 200,000.00 149,999.94 122,245.77 27,754.17
Holiday lighting 6,500.00 4,874.94 6,306.30 (1,431.36)
Landscape other (weed control) 70,000.00 52,499.97 64,952.28 (12,452.31)
Landscape maintenance 197,000.00 147,749.94 155,359.00 (7,609.06)
ARC design review 4,000.00 2,999.97 3,285.00 (285.03)
Landscape tree care maintenance 135,000.00 101,250.00 142,697.04 (41,447.04)
Fence/walls 38,000.00 28,499.94 41,066.00 (12,566.06)
Social Events 63,000.00 47,250.00 37,606.93 9,643.07
Cleaning/janitorial 31,000.00 23,249.97 23,780.21 (530.24)
Locks & keys 1,200.00 900.00 897.08 2.92
Common Area R&M 7,000.00 5,249.97 681.26 4,568.71
Building R&M - CLUB 7,000.00 5,249.97 11,692.90 (6,442.93)
Pest control 10,000.00 7,499.97 5,180.00 2,319.97
Snow removal 55,000.00 41,249.97 36,487.48 4,762.49
Electric/gas 20,000.00 14,999.94 19,862.13 (4,862.19)
Garbage removal 258,500.00 193,874.94 200,899.89 (7,024.95)
Water and sewer 30,000.00 22,500.00 42,354.98 (19,854.98)
Telephone/Wi-Fi/Cable 8,000.00 5,999.94 4,084.57 1,915.37
Administration costs - - 60.00 (60.00)
Postage, printing, copies 1,200.00 900.00 2,085.82 (1,185.82)
Water/sediment sampling 10,000.00 7,499.97 10,000.00 (2,500.03)
Mileage/auto 1,300.00 974.97 552.25 422.72
Office equipment rental 2,600.00 1,949.94 1,452.71 497.23
Office Supplies 5,600.00 4,199.94 5,364.70 (1,164.76)
Meeting expense 1,200.00 900.00 1,579.73 (679.73)
Website 3,600.00 2,700.00 1,988.34 711.66
Pool service 22,000.00 16,499.97 16,147.64 352.33
Contingency 4,000.00 4,000.00 - 4,000.00
Reserve funding 40,000.00 40,000.00 - 40,000.00

Leyden Rock Metro District
Special Revenue Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 3



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Total Expenditures 1,727,700.00 1,306,773.89 1,339,135.13 (32,361.24)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,781,136.00 1,335,852.00 1,075,000.00 260,852.00

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,781,136.00 1,335,852.00 1,075,000.00 260,852.00

Net Change in Fund Balances 109,474.00 71,478.49 (202,213.04) 273,691.53

Fund Balance - Beginning 134,479.00 134,479.00 165,455.95 (30,976.95)
Fund Balance - Ending $ 243,953.00 $ 205,957.49 $ (36,757.09) $ 242,714.58

Leyden Rock Metro District
Special Revenue Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 4



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Property taxes $ 2,296,131.00 $ 2,296,131.00 $ 2,289,779.19 $ 6,351.81
Specific ownership taxes 160,729.00 120,546.72 111,122.86 9,423.86
Interest Income 34,000.00 25,499.97 27,902.28 (2,402.31)

Total Revenue 2,490,860.00 2,442,177.69 2,428,804.33 13,373.36

Expenditures
County Treasurer's Fee 34,442.00 34,442.00 34,866.42 (424.42)
Paying agent fees 6,000.00 6,000.00 - 6,000.00
Bond interest - Series 2021A 1,726,100.00 863,050.00 863,050.00 -
Bond principal - Series 2021A 570,000.00 - - -
Contingency 10,458.00 10,458.00 - 10,458.00

Total Expenditures 2,347,000.00 913,950.00 897,916.42 16,033.58

Net Change in Fund Balances 143,860.00 1,528,227.69 1,530,887.91 (2,660.22)

Fund Balance - Beginning 253,478.00 253,478.00 261,059.31 (7,581.31)
Fund Balance - Ending $ 397,338.00 $ 1,781,705.69 $ 1,791,947.22 $ (10,241.53)

Leyden Rock Metro District
Debt Service Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 6



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Interest Income $ 108,500.00 $ 81,374.94 $ 162,612.07 $ (81,237.13)
Other Revenue 12,999.00 9,749.25 - 9,749.25

Total Revenue 121,499.00 91,124.19 162,612.07 (71,487.88)

Expenditures
Capital outlay 4,489,501.00 3,367,125.72 367,803.32 2,999,322.40
Club house refurbish - - 150,279.51 (150,279.51)
Contingency 12,999.00 12,999.00 - 12,999.00

Total Expenditures 4,502,500.00 3,380,124.72 518,082.83 2,862,041.89

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds - - 151,229.51 (151,229.51)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - - 151,229.51 (151,229.51)

Net Change in Fund Balances (4,381,001.00) (3,289,000.53) (204,241.25) (3,084,759.28)

Fund Balance - Beginning 4,381,001.00 4,381,001.00 4,220,299.54 160,701.46
Fund Balance - Ending $ - $ 1,092,000.47 $ 4,016,058.29 $ (2,924,057.82)

Leyden Rock Metro District
Capital Projects Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 7



General Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects Total

Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

First Bank - Checking 
Balance as of 09/30/24 195,844.89$        -$  -$  516.93$  196,361.82$        
Subsequent activities:

10/02/24 Transfer to AHM (150,000.00)         - - - (150,000.00)         
10/15/24 Requisition No. 19 - - - 11,687.07             11,687.07             
10/17/24 Bill.com Payments (25,693.42)           - - (11,687.07)           (37,380.49)           
10/25/24 ADP Wage Pay (645.90) - - - (645.90)
10/28/24 Bill.com Payments - - - (516.93) (516.93)
11/01/24 Transfer from CSAFE 150,000.00          - - - 150,000.00          
11/04/24 Transfer to AHM (150,000.00)         - - - (150,000.00)         

Anticipated activities:
Anticipated Requisition No. 20 - - - 93,760.71            93,760.71            
Anticipated Transfer from CSAFE 35,000.00            - - - 35,000.00            
Anticipated Bill.com Payments (42,192.54)           - - (93,760.71)           (135,953.25)         

Anticipated Balance 12,313.03            - - - 12,313.03            

Advanced HOA Management - Checking
Balance as of 09/30/24 -$  23,764.75$         -$  -$  23,764.75$          
Subsequent activities not recorded. 

Anticipated Balance -$ 23,764.75$        -$ -$ 23,764.75$          

Advanced HOA Management - Petty Cash/Debit Card
Balance as of 09/30/24 -$  3,555.46$           -$  -$  3,555.46$             
Subsequent activities not recorded. 

Anticipated Balance -$ 3,555.46$          -$ -$ 3,555.46$            

CSAFE
Balance as of 09/30/24 569,100.50$        -$  6,047.25$             -$  575,147.75$        
Subsequent activities:

10/10/24 Property/SO tax 10,335.64             - 13,442.16 - 23,777.80 
10/31/24 Interest Income 2,501.72               - - - 2,501.72 
11/01/24 Transfer to First Bank (150,000.00)         - - - (150,000.00)         

Anticipated activities:
Anticipated Transfer to First Bank (35,000.00)           - - - (35,000.00)           
Anticipated Pledged Revenue Transfer - - (19,489.41)           - (19,489.41)

Anticipated Balance 396,937.86$        -$ -$ -$ 396,937.86$        

CSAFE - Reserve
Balance as of 09/30/24 40,032.84$          -$  -$  -$  40,032.84$          
Subsequent activities:

10/31/24 Interest Income 169.18 - - - 169.18 
Anticipated Balance 40,202.02$          -$ -$ -$ 40,202.02$          

UMB - 2021 Bond Fund
Balance as of 09/30/24 -$  -$  $1,772,457.81 -$  1,772,457.81$     
Subsequent activities:

10/31/24 Interest Income - - 7,328.16 - 7,328.16 
Anticipated activities:

Anticipated Pledged Revenue Transfer - 19,489.41            - 19,489.41 

Anticipated Balance -$ -$ 1,799,275.38$     -$ 1,799,275.38$     

UMB - 2021 Project Fund
Balance as of 09/30/24 -$  -$  -$  $4,032,945.36 4,032,945.36$     
Subsequent activities:
Subsequent activities:

10/15/24 Requisition No. 19 - - - (11,687.07)           (11,687.07)           
10/31/24 Interest Income - - - 16,703.34             16,703.34             

Anticipated activities:
Anticipated Requisition No. 20 - - (93,760.71)           (93,760.71)           

Anticipated Balance -$ -$ -$ 3,944,200.92$     3,944,200.92$     

Anticipated Balances 449,452.91$        27,320.21$        1,799,275.38$     3,944,200.92$     6,220,249.42$     

Yield information (as of 09/30/24):
CSAFE - 5.19%
UMB invested in Goldman Sachs Govt Fund - 4.79%

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
Schedule of Cash Position

September 30, 2024
Updated as of November 12, 2024

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 8



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
Property Taxes Reconciliation

2024

Delinquent Taxes, Specific Net Total
Property Rebates & Ownership Treasurer's Amount Cash

Taxes Abatements SB Backfill Taxes Interest Fees Received Monthly Y-T-D Received Monthly Y-T-D

January -$ -$ -$ 25,905.72$  -$ -$ 25,905.72$  0.00% 0.00% 29,920.11$              0.19% 0.19%
February 1,813,889.67              - - 21,914.66 - (27,208.35) 1,808,595.98              44.66% 44.66% 1,647,357.13           45.52% 45.71%
March 147,975.11 - - 20,599.39 17.12 (2,219.88) 166,371.74 3.64% 48.30% 111,848.63              2.49% 48.20%
April 176,438.69 2,150.76 60,085.00 21,253.15 24.02 (3,580.48) 256,371.14 4.40% 52.70% 211,807.18              5.40% 53.61%
May 209,536.15 - - 17,603.17 240.92 (3,146.66) 224,233.58 5.16% 57.86% 264,115.83              6.74% 60.35%
June 1,674,255.71              - - 23,244.16 238.41 (25,117.41) 1,672,620.87              41.22% 99.08% 1,411,588.01           38.94% 99.29%
July 19,459.74 - - 22,754.66 431.86 (298.37) 42,347.89 0.48% 99.56% 34,942.84 0.38% 99.67%
August 4,706.22 - - 21,527.44 154.89 (72.92) 26,315.63 0.12% 99.67% 30,114.08 0.14% 99.81%
September 1,967.28 - - 21,762.51 78.70 (30.69) 23,777.80 0.05% 99.72% 23,495.43 0.06% 99.87%
October - - - - - - - 0.00% 99.72% 24,346.97 0.03% 99.91%
November - - - - - - - 0.00% 99.72% 25,881.46 0.08% 99.98%
December - - - - - - - 0.00% 99.72% 16,025.77 0.00% 99.98%

4,048,228.57$            2,150.76$  60,085.00$  196,564.86$               1,185.92$  (61,674.76)$               4,246,540.35$            99.72% 99.72% 3,831,443.44$         99.98% 99.98%

 Taxes Levied  % of Levied 
 Property Taxes 

Collected 
 % Collected to 
Amount Levied 

Property Tax
General Fund 23.256 1,765,484.00$            43.47% 1,761,816.01$            99.79%
Debt Service Fund 30.246 2,296,131.00              56.53% 2,288,563.32              99.67%

53.502 4,061,615.00$            100.00% 4,050,379.33$            99.72%

Specific Ownership Tax
General Fund 123,584.00$               43.47% 85,442.00$  69.14%
Debt Service Fund 160,729.00 56.53% 111,122.86 69.14%

284,313.00$               100.00% 196,564.86$               69.14%

Treasurer's Fees
General Fund 26,482.00$  43.47% 26,826.57$  101.30%
Debt Service Fund 34,442.00 56.53% 34,848.19$  101.18%

60,924.00$  100.00% 61,674.76$  101.23%

Current Year Prior Year
% of Total Property % of Total Property

Taxes Received Taxes Received

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 9



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

The District, a quasi-municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, was organized 
(originally as Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 10) by order and decree of the District Court for the 
County of Jefferson on January 5, 2012, and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special 
District Act (Title 32, Article 1, Colorado Revised Statutes).  

The District was established to provide financing for the operations and maintenance and design, acquisition, 
installation, construction and completion of public improvements and services, including water, sanitation, 
street, safety protection, park and recreation, transportation, fire protection, security, television relay and 
translation and mosquito control improvements and services. The District provides covenant control and was 
organized in conjunction with nine other related Districts – Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 
5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. The District serves as the Operating and Financing District which will pay all vendors, issue 
debt, levy ad valorem taxes on taxable properties within each District and assess fees, rates and other 
charges as authorized by law. The District’s service area is located entirely within the City of Arvada, 
Jefferson County, Colorado. District Nos. 1-9 have been dissolved.  

The District is not authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, 
operate or maintain fire protection facilities or services, unless such facilities and services are provided 
pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. The District is not authorized to plan for, design 
acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain television relay and translation 
facilities and services, other than for the installation of conduit as part of a street construction project, unless 
such facilities and services are provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. 

On November 1, 2011, the District’s voters authorized total indebtedness of $80,000,000 for each of the 
above listed facilities, $80,000,000 for intergovernmental agreements and $80,000,000 for refunding of debt. 
Collectively, the Districts shall not issue debt over the amount of $80,000,000. Additionally, the maximum 
debt mill levy is 40.000 mills, subject to adjustment, which shall not be imposed for longer than 40 years from 
the first year the debt service mill levy is imposed unless a refunding of the Debt has been voted upon. The 
election also approved an annual property tax of $5,000,000 without limitation of rate, to pay the District’s 
operation and maintenance costs.  

The District has no employees and all administrative functions are contracted. 

The District prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the 
requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of the date of the 
budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its expected course of actions. The 
assumptions disclosed herein are those that the District believes are significant to the budget. There will 
usually be differences between the budget and actual results, because events and circumstances frequently 
do not occur as expected, and those difference may be material.

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 10



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Revenues 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the District’s Board of Directors. The levy is based on assessed valuations 
determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy is normally set by 
December 15 by certification to the County Commissioners to put the tax lien on the individual properties as 
of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects the determined taxes during the ensuing 
calendar year. The taxes are payable by April or, if in equal installments, at the taxpayer’s election, in 
February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and, generally, sale of the tax liens on 
delinquent properties are held in November or December. The County Treasurer remits the taxes collected 
monthly to the District. 

The calculation of the taxes levied is displayed on the property tax summary information page of the budget. 

For property tax collection year 2024, SB22-238 and SB23B-001 set the assessment rates and actual value 
reductions as follows: 

Category Rate Category Rate  
Actual Value 

Reduction Amount 
Single-Family 
Residential 6.70% Agricultural Land 26.40% 

Single-Family 
Residential 

$55,000 

Multi-Family 
Residential 6.70% 

Renewable 
Energy Land 26.40% 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

$55,000 

Commercial 27.90% Vacant Land 27.90% Commercial $30,000 
Industrial 27.90% Personal Property 27.90% Industrial $30,000 
Lodging 27.90% State Assessed 27.90% Lodging $30,000 

Oil & Gas 
Production 87.50%

Operations Fee 

The District will collect a fee of $372 per year from homeowners located within Filing 6, Tract K, of the District 
to pay for the District’s costs of operations, payable on January 1 of each year or in quarterly installments. In 
addition, the District receives $305 from each new homeowner. 

Specific Ownership Taxes 

Specific ownership taxes are set by the State and collected by the County Treasurer, primarily on vehicle 
licensing within the County as a whole. The specific ownership taxes are allocated by the County Treasurer 
to all taxing entities within the County. The budget assumes that the District’s share will be equal to 
approximately 7% of the property taxes collected. 

Interest Income 

Interest earned on the District’s available funds has been estimated based on prior year's earnings.

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 11



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Expenditures 

Administrative and Operating Expenditures 

Administrative and operating expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain the District’s 
administrative viability such as legal, management, accounting, insurance and meeting expense. Estimated 
expenditures related to landscaping and utilities are included in the Fee Operations Fund budget. 

County Treasurer’s Fee 

County Treasurer’s collection fees have been computed at 1.5% of property taxes. 

Debt Service 

Principal and interest payments in 2024 are provided based on the debt amortization schedule from 
the Series 2021 Bonds (discussed under Debts and Leases). 

Debt and Leases 

The District issued its 2021 Bonds (the Bonds) on October 22, 2021, in the amount of $45,840,000. The 
proceeds from the sale of the Bonds were used to: (i) pay the costs of refunding the 2016A, 2016B and 
2017C Bonds; (ii) funding and reimbursing a portion of the costs of constructing and installing certain public 
improvements benefiting the District; (iii) paying the costs of issuing the costs of issuance of the Bonds, 
including premium for the Insurance Policy and the Reserve Policy. 

The Bonds bear interest at 3.00%-5.00%, payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, beginning on 
December 1, 2021. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the District, as a 
whole or in part by lot in integral multiples of $1,000 on December 1, 2031, and on any date thereafter upon 
payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, without redemption premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2046 also are subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal 
amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption 
premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2051 also are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption 
prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption premium. 

The Bonds are secured by and payable solely from and to the extent of the Pledged Revenue, which includes 
monies derived from the following, net of costs of collection: (i) the Required Mill Levy; (ii) the portion of the 
Specific Ownership Tax which is collected as a result of the imposition of the Required Mill Levy and (iii) any 
other legally available amounts that the District determines, in its absolute discretion to transfer to the trustee 
for application as Pledge Revenue. 

The Bonds are also secured by amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund in the amount of $2,739,400, which 
is funded by the Reserve Policy. The Reserve Policy, issued by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (AGM) is 
a policy of insurance guaranteeing the payment, when due, of the principal and interest on the Bonds. The 
insurance extends over the life of the issue and cannot by canceled by AGM as further provided in the policy. 

The District has no operating or capital leases. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 12



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Emergency Reserves 

The District has provided for an Emergency Reserve equal to at least 3% of fiscal year spending, as defined 
under the TABOR Amendment. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 13



Year Ended
December 31, Principal Amount Interest Amount Annual Total

2024 570,000$             1,726,100$          2,296,100$          
2025 665,000               1,697,600            2,362,600            
2026 745,000               1,664,350            2,409,350            
2027 780,000               1,627,100            2,407,100            
2028 865,000               1,588,100            2,453,100            
2029 910,000               1,544,850            2,454,850            
2030 1,005,000            1,499,350            2,504,350            
2031 1,055,000            1,449,100            2,504,100            
2032 1,155,000            1,396,350            2,551,350            
2033 1,200,000            1,350,150            2,550,150            
2034 1,300,000            1,302,150            2,602,150            
2035 1,350,000            1,250,150            2,600,150            
2036 1,455,000            1,196,150            2,651,150            
2037 1,515,000            1,137,950            2,652,950            
2038 1,610,000            1,092,500            2,702,500            
2039 1,660,000            1,044,200            2,704,200            
2040 1,745,000            994,400               2,739,400            
2041 1,795,000            942,050               2,737,050            
2042 1,850,000            888,200               2,738,200            
2043 1,925,000            814,200               2,739,200            
2044 2,000,000            737,200               2,737,200            
2045 2,080,000            657,200               2,737,200            
2046 2,165,000            574,000               2,739,000            
2047 2,250,000            487,400               2,737,400            
2048 2,340,000            397,400               2,737,400            
2049 2,435,000            303,800               2,738,800            
2050 2,530,000            206,400               2,736,400            
2051 2,630,000            105,200               2,735,200            
Total 43,585,000$        29,673,600$        73,258,600$        

3.00% - 5.00%
June 1 and December 1

Beginning December 1, 2021

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DEBT SERVICE
REQUIREMENTS TO MATURITY

$45,840,000

 2021 General Obligation Limited Tax Convertible to 
Unlimited Tax Refunding and Improvement Bonds 

Principal Payable December 1

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 14



 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 

COMMUNITY: MANAGER: REPORT DATE: 
Leyden Rock Metro District Katie Call November 14, 2024 

 

2024 Regular Board Meeting Schedule: 
Capital Projects Discussion on the First Tuesday of 
each month 
 
 January 2 
 February 6 
 March 5, canceled 
 April 2, canceled 
 May 7 
 June 4 
 July 2, canceled 
 August 6, canceled 
 September 3, canceled 
 October 1, canceled 
 November 5, rescheduled 
 November 7 
 December 3 

2024 Regular Board Meeting Schedule:  
Regular Business on the Third Tuesday of each 
month 
 
 January 16 
 February 20 
 March 19 
 April 16 
 May 21 

 June 18 
 July 16- ANNUAL MEETING 
 August 20 
 September 17 
 October 15- BUDGET HEARING 
 November 19, rescheduled 
 November 20 
 December 17 

Last Reserve Study: 2020 
 
Operating Fee:   $0.00/year 
Tract K Filing Fee: $372/year 
 
Current mill levy (2023), for collection 
in 2024 
23.256 mills - (general fund)  
30.246 mills - (debt service fund)  

Board of Directors: 
 Brett Vernon, President 

Term to May 2027 
 Scott J. Plummer, Secretary 

Term to May 2027 
 Christian Ardita, Assistant Secretary 

Term to May 2025 
 Jen Langhals, Assistant Secretary 

Term to May 2025 
 Jeff Cunningham, Treasurer 

Term to May 2025 
District Services: Residential Trash, 
Common Area Landscape Maintenance, 
Common Area Snow Removal, Pet 
Waste Removal, Pool Maintenance & 
Staffing, Social Events 

Dates to Note: 
 District Office Closed- Thanksgiving Holiday 

Wednesday November 27th- early closure 
Thursday November 28th – closed 
Friday November 29th- closed 

Landscape Committee: 
Tanis Batsel-Stewart 
Carolyn Rowe 
Thu Koelling 
Diane Mangam 
Lisa Coleman 
Pam Hill 

Additional Information: 
 E-newsletter Performance: 

     Total Contacts: 2,135 
     Email Open Rate: 71% 
 



 

 
COMPLIANCE INSPECTIONS 

 
Inspector: Pam Mitchell 

Schedule: Inspections occur weekly, April- October  
        Seasonal schedule- biweekly, November-March 
Trash day: Monday 
 
Week 1: Filing 1 & 2 
Week 2: Filing 3 & 4 
Week 3: Filing 5 
Week 4: Filing 6 
Every drive re-inspects existing violations that are flagged for inspection 

Ways of Working: Katie to review report violation report weekly: 
- Courtesy Notices auto-send from inspector findings 
- Identify addresses that require additional support by Pam. 
- Close violations as needed. 
- Send violations to the attorney as needed. 

 
Katie to flag any items to Pam for the following week by Wednesday. 
 
Inspector may close a violation before compliance date if cured but cannot 
escalate to next step before the compliance date. 
 
Inspector to email or text Katie potential exterior modification that may 
require approval (such as painting or major landscape renovation taking place) 
and note vehicles driving through common areas to access their units and any 
construction/project activity. 

Priorities: Landscaping: 
- Lawn – brown / dead grass: June through September 

 – Lawn Maintenance- mowed & trimmed. 
- Weeds in lawn and rock beds: June through September 
- Dead shrubs/trees: May through September 

Other Items: 
- Trash can storage: all year 
- Basketball hoops: all year 

 – must be stored halfway up driveway when not in use 
 – prohibited to be attached to the home 

- General disrepair (fences, shingles, shutters) 
 – Begin sending notifications, Fence Staining tentatively Feb 2025 
 – Begin sending notifications, Painting tentatively Mar/Apr 2025 

- Unsightly conditions (exterior storage of landscaping materials & 
equipment, oil stains, un-stored items): all year 

Seasonal: 
- Holiday lighting, including clips- after January 15 
- Snow removal 

 – owners are responsible for removing snow on driveways & sidewalks 

 



 

CURRENT PROJECTS / ACTION ITEMS  
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION STATUS 
Budget Season Requesting 2025 proposals Complete 
Guideline Updates Lighting, Fence Stain Color, Handrails Pending WLPP 
Clubhouse Refresh Table replacement In progress 
Clubhouse Network Strengthening network connections In progress 
Main Entry Monument 
Tower Door 

Replacement In progress, with Christian Ardita 

Community FAQ Compile FAQ questions from Board 
members and create location on 
website 

On hold, website placement 

Pool Plaster Resurfacing the pool On Hold 
Concrete Repairs Identifying concrete repair needs 

around the community 
On Hold 

Column Stone Replacement Stone has come off on of the fence 
columns in the community 

On Hold 

Wayfinding Sign Stain Stain the wood on the wayfinding signs 
and Ping Pong Park sign 

On Hold 

Tower Storage Room Seeking shelving options to better 
utilize storage space 

On hold 

Parking Lot Lighting Adding lighting to the parking lot at the 
clubhouse 

On Hold 

Landscape Project Planning Project planning for landscape projects 
with Board liaisons 

Ongoing 

Lifestyle  Event planning/execution Ongoing 
Sponsorship Management Community Partnerships Ongoing 
Weekly Community E-
Newsletter 

Content creation Ongoing 

District Website 
Management 

Updates to website Ongoing 

Wayfinding Signs/Message 
Board 

Updates to current information Ongoing 

Reservation Calendar Managing private rental and clubhouse 
use 

Ongoing 

Vendor Management Ongoing vendor maintenance and 
meetings 

Ongoing 

Board Meeting Prep Management Report and memo prep Ongoing 
Financials Invoice Review Ongoing 
Resident Support Homeowner inquiries Ongoing 
Violations Inspection review and follow up Ongoing 
Architectural Review Application review and follow up Ongoing 
Surveillance Monitoring Review of surveillance camera footage Ongoing 



 

and follow up  
Hybrid Meeting Prep Support from Mountain Media 

Productions for Board meeting 
Ongoing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

ANNUAL CALENDAR - 2024 
 

January 
 

 District Office Closed - New Years Day 
 Domain Auto Renewal - January 5, 2024 (next payment due 2026) 
 District Office Closed – MLK Day 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance – Visit 1 

February  District Office Closed - February 19, 2024 

March   

April  Board Email Auto Renewal - April 8, 2024 (next payment due 2026) 
 Pool Forms/FOB Distribution begins 

May  Pet Waste- 3x Weekly Starts 
 Community Meeting (Arvada Fire & Arvada PD)- May 13, 2024 
 District Office Closed – Memorial Day 
 Snow Contract Expires 
 Irrigation Start-up / Spring Clean-up 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance – Visit 2 
 Pool Shade Installation 
 Phase 2 Fence Staining – May 31- June 10, 2024 

June  Backflow Inspection 
 District Office Closed - Juneteenth 

July  District Office Closed – Independence Day 
 District Office Closed - July 5, 2024 
 Annual Town Hall Meeting 
 Request Holiday Lighting Proposal 

August  Budget Season Begins, Request Proposals 
 Budget Working Session #1 
 AED Pad Expiration- 2026 

September  District Office Closed – Labor Day 
 Pool Closing Date – Labor Day, Extension to be determined based on weather 
 Renew Snow Contract 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance – Visit 3 

October  Pet Waste- 2x Weekly Starts 
 Final Draft Budget Due to CLA- October 1 
 District Office Closed – October 14, 2024 
 Budget Submitted to Board by CLA- October 15 
 Irrigation Shutdown / Fall Clean-up 
 Pool Shade Removal 

November  Final Budget Changes to CLA- November 1, 2024 
 Budget Hearing 
 District Office Closed – Veteran’s Day 
 District Office Closed - November 27, half day 
 District Office Closed- Thanksgiving & Black Friday 

December  District Office Closed – Christmas Eve & Christmas Day 
 District Office Closed- New Year’s Eve & New Year’s Day 



 

 
LIFESTYLE COMMUNITY CALENDAR- 2024 

Events This Month 
Turkey Trot Saturday, November 16, 2024 

Community Floral Workshop Tuesday, November 26, 2024 

Upcoming Events Next Month 

Farvada Holiday Market  Saturday, December 7, 2024 

Santa Visits 
Saturday, December 14, 2024 

Sunday, December 15, 2024 

Community Floral Workshop Sunday, December 22, 2024 

Monthly Events 

Arvada Story Time First Wednesday AM of the month 

Sound Bath First Wednesday PM of the month 

Mobile Groomer Second Tuesday of the month 

Toddler Time Third Wednesday of the month 

Empty Nesters Last Friday AM of the month 

Trivia Night Last Friday AM of the month 

Mobile Barber Rotating Dates, 1x monthly 

Signature Events 

Easter Saturday, April 5, 2025 

Pool Opening Party TBD 2025 

Fourth of July TBD 2025 

Fall Fest TBD 2025 

Adults Night Out- 2 times Saturday, November 9, 2024 

Turkey Trot Saturday, November 16, 2024 

Holiday Market 
First weekend in December,  
Saturday, December 7, 2024 

Santa Visits 

Saturday, December 14, 2024 

Sunday, December 15, 2024 

Club Activity 

Mahjong Club* Weekly meetups 

Running Club Weekly meetups 

Chess Club Bi-weekly meetups 

Book Club Monthly meetups 

Hiking Club Monthly meetups 

Bunco Club Monthly meetups 

Craft Club Monthly meetups 

Give Back Club Monthly meetups 

 



 

CURRENT CONTRACTS 
 

SERVICE COMPANY RATE EXPIRATION 
TERMINATION 

CLAUSE 
     

Landscaping (including 
pond maintenance) Keesen Landscape $196, 450 

See scope for fees December 31, 2024 30 days 

Snow Removal Keesen Landscape T&M 
See scope for fees May 31, 2025 30 days 

Weed & Pest Control Weed Wranglers 
$73,500 

$4,500/pest control 
visit (2x/year) 

December 31, 2024 30 days 

Pet Waste Removal Poop 911 

$2,060/ 3x week per 
month 

$1,610/ 2x week per 
month 

+ $10.00 per roll for 
bags 

December 31, 2024 30 days 

Trash Removal Republic Services $256,170 December 31, 2024 30 days 

Janitorial Services Done & Dusted  
$200.00/ clubhouse 

cleaning 
$95.00/pool cleaning 

December 31, 2024 30 days 

Pool Maintenance Peak One Pool & Spa $110.00/weekday visit 
+ $7,000 chemicals December 31, 2024 30 days 

Pool Monitors Mile High Pools $96,448 September 4, 2024 30 days 

HVAC Timberline 
Mechanical 

$105/ PM visit 
+ materials December 31, 2024 30 days 

Design Review Lee Design Group 
$55/ application 

$75/custom exterior 
painting submission 

December 31, 2024 30 days 

Fence Staining Neighborly Fence 
Staining, LLC $33,741/ phase December 31, 2024 30 days 

Tree Care Services Preservation Tree 
Care 

See scope for fees December 31, 2024 30 days 

Pest Control Advantage Pest 
Control $95/month December 31, 2024 

December 31, 2025* 30 days 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

FACILITY MAINTENANCE HISTORY 

ELEMENT 
MAINTENANCE 

APPROACH MAINTENANCE / INSPECTION HISTORY NOTES 
AED Annual • Inspection for expiration of pads & battery  
Backflows Annual Testing 

Required by COA 
• Completed in in May/June 2024 23 backflow locations 

Fencing Each fence 
staining phase 
completed once 
every 5 years 
 
Repairs, as 
needed 

• Phase 1- 2023, Complete 
• Phase 2- 2024, Complete 
• Phase 3- 2025 
• Phase 4- 2026 
• Phase 5- 2027 
Restart 
• Phase 1 – 2028 
• Phase 2 – 2029 
• Phase 3- 2030 
• Phase 4 – 2031 
• Phase 5- 2032 

 

HVAC 3 preventative 
maintenance 
visits per year 

• Complete for 2024  

Window Washing & 
Deck Power Wash 

Annual • Cancelled for 2024  

Pool Grill Cleaning Annual • Complete  
Pest Control Monthly • Ongoing  

 
 
CLUBHOUSE RENTAL HISTORY 

MONTH RESIDENT NON-RESIDENT 

NON-PAYING 
RENTALS 

(501c3, clubs, 
HOA) 

Total 

          

January 5 1 19 25 
February 5 - 19 24 
March 3 1 17 21 
April - - - - 
May 5 - 18 23 
June 8 2 9 19 
July 3 0 12 15 
August 8 2 20 30 
September 5 1 15 21 
October 4 0 13 17 
November 2 0 14 16 
December         

 



 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Board of Directors 
 
From: Katie Call, Community Manager 
 
Date: November 15, 2024 
 
Re: Recommendation for Changing Pet Waste Station Vendor 
 
 
After careful evaluation of our current pet waste station services, it is recommended that the community 
transition to Pet Scoop for the 2025 service year. While there have been no major issues with the current 
vendor, a series of minor concerns over time suggest that a change may better serve the community's needs. 
Following a thorough review process, including meetings and proposals from four companies, Pet Scoop has 
been identified as the most suitable option. This vendor has been in the Denver area for over 30 years and 
comes highly recommended by fellow managers in the industry, consistently praised for their reliability and 
quality of service. 
 
Key benefits of transitioning to Pet Scoop include: 

1. Station Mapping and Numbering: Pet Scoop will map all pet waste station locations in their system 
and physically number each station, reducing confusion and improving efficiency. 

2. Enhanced Reporting: After each visit, a detailed report will be provided, summarizing the service 
provided and noting any required repairs. 

3. Streamlined Communication: Consistent and professional communication ensures timely responses 
and transparency. 

 
The proposed rates are comparable to those of our current vendor, ensuring this change remains cost-effective 
while providing improved service.  
 
 

  
Monthly Cost- 
3x Weekly 

Monthly Cost- 
2x Weekly 

CURRENT VENDOR  $           2,400.00   $          1,600.00  
PET SCOOP  $           2,457.00   $          1,630.00  

 
 



Katie Call
Leyden Rock Metro District
17685 W. 83rd Dr.
Arvada, CO 80007

Your Property Estimate for Leyden Rock Metro District at 17685 W. 83rd Dr.

3 Simple Steps to Get Started

Step 1

Review Estimate & Terms

Step 2

Digitally Sign & Accept

Step 3

Enjoy your clean property

ESTIMATE DETAILS

Date: 9/18/2024

Valid Until: 10/19/2024

Estimate Code: W9G4X67A

Call Us Anytime: 303-781-7667

PRICING

Please check the box(s) of desired services and sign below...

Estimate Description Quantity Rate Amount

Twice per Week - Dog Station Maintenance - (includes: stocking
rolled doggie bags as needed, replace trash liners, dispose of
waste) - rate is per dog station per visit

20 8.75 175.00

Weekly - Empty Trash Containers - rate is per container per
visit

5 5.95 29.75

Refill Dog Station Bags Only as needed 5 5.95 29.75

WHY PET SCOOP

Since 1994, Pet Scoop has been keeping managed communities safe and clean...   

Largest and oldest pet waste management company in Colorado
Dedicated team of employed, Commercial technicians
More service options, faster response to issues and less hassle for you and your staff
No long-term contracts or up front payments
Fully Insured with Liability and Workers Comp

GUARANTEE

We will provide you and your residents a safer and cleaner environment to live and work.  With our RE-
DOO GUARANTEE, we promise to provide you with the best service possible and if you are ever not
completely satisfied, we'll make it right.  

TERMS OF SERVICE



1. PET SCOOP INC shall perform the above selected services as an independent contractor and provide all necessary labor
and equipment
2. Services will begin: on mutually agreed upon date and will continue until terminated (see #6 below) 
3. Billing dates will be: 1st of every month after service is completed
4. Invoices are payable on receipt. Any balance due not received within forty five (45) days will be charged a $15.00 late fee
per invoice.
5. Natural circumstances such as inclement weather may make it hazardous or impossible to make our regular service. In
this event, we will be responsible for servicing the property as soon as possible. If we are unable to make-up that particular
cleanup, a charge of 3/4 the regular fee will apply due to the additional time required on the next cleanup.
6. Either party may terminate this agreement if the contractor is unable to comply with the terms of this agreement or if the
client wishes to terminate services for any reason. A thirty (30) day notice is required for termination.
7.  Any additional fees regarding 3rd party compliance or invoicing services, required by the client/property, will be invoiced
to the client/property.
8.  For those utilizing Station Maintenance services, all station components, including receptacles and dispensers, must be in
proper working condition and fully serviceable.
9. PET SCOOP INC shall indemnify and save the "client" harmless from any and all claims against the "client" arising out of
performance of the services under this agreement.
10. The terms of this agreement may only be amended in writing and signed by both parties.
11. This agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Colorado.

SIGNATURE

How To Accept Proposal/Agreement:
1. Selected your desired service options by selecting the box(s) above
2. Click the "Sign Estimate" link below
3. Draw your Signature and then type name in the "Print Name" box
4. Click the "Accept Proposal" link
5. We'll contact you to setup your Initial service date

Signature of Client
 
By signing you agree to all the terms and conditions set forth in this estimate/agreement document.

-------------------------------------------------------------------

_______________________________        9/18/2024
Signature of Contractor
 
Sam Johnson
President, Pet Scoop, Inc.



 
 
  

Thank you for taking an interest in partnering with the Leyden Rock Metropolitan District for 2025! Your 
contribution and participation are vital to the success of our community events! 

 
2025 COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP APPLICATION 

 
Company Name:   

Company Representative: Phone Number:     

Address:      

City:  State: Zip:   

Email:  

Website Address for Use in Electronic and Print Advertising:      

 
PARTNERSHIP LEVEL: 

*Please see the Partnership Program Details Document attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A for benefits 

PLATINUM ($1500) 

SILVER ($1000) 

BRONZE ($500)  

 
 
 
A LA CARTE OPTIONS: 
Platinum receives access to all A La Carte Options no cost – Silver receives access to 2 A La Carte Options no cost 

Table/Booth/Tent set-up during Signature Community Event (per event) ($150) 
              (may substitute prize, same value instead of $150 pmt) 

 
Booth set-up during non signature event (per event) ($50) 

  (may substitute prize, same value instead of $150 pmt) 
 

Provide Business Swag and/or Discount Coupons for 250 Welcome Bags (distributed by the District) ($50) 
 

Host a Community Event, sponsor responsible for all aspects of event, the district will help promote. ($50) 
 

Host an Educational Event sponsored by the District (host provides snacks & drinks), 5 minute Company intro, leave business 
swag ($50) 

 
Provide Business Cards for 250 Welcome Bags (distributed by the District) ($25) 

 
 
Total Paid:   
 
 



Please make checks payable and send along with this completed application to: 

Leyden Rock Metro District  

 c/o   Advance HOA 

PO Box 370390 

Denver, CO 80237 

 

 

Community Partner Agreement 
I agree as a Community Partner of the Leyden Rock Metropolitan District (the “District”) that I will be entitled to the various sponsorship benefits 
from the date this application is approved and executed by the District below and as more fully set forth on the Community Partnership Program 
Details Document attached hereto until December 31, 2025. I understand and agree that the District may need to cancel, postpone, or change 
the format of events due to COVID-19 or for any other reason and that community partners will be not be granted refunds in part or in whole. 

 
• It is my responsibility to provide the District with my company logo in a format as required by the District for use in electronic and 

print advertising as set forth in the Community Partnership Program Details Document. 

• It is the Partner’s responsibility to provide the District with the Business Blurb for the  District newsletters, subject to any deadlines as 
established by the District.  Such Business Blurbs shall not exceed 200 words. 

• In relation to company branded business items and discount coupons to be distributed in Welcome Bags and at Community Events 
hosted by the Partner, I agree to provide a reasonable amount of the same to the District, and will replenish the same as needed. 

• If the Platinum or Silver option is chosen, I acknowledge that I am entitled to display my company signage or banner at 5 signature 
community events during the term of this agreement. The display of the same will be in such locations and for such duration as 
determined by the District. It is my responsibility to erect or hang the sign or banner prior to the event and to remove it at  the 
conclusion of the event. The District may also place restrictions on the size of such signs or banners to be displayed. The District shall 
not be responsible for any signs or banners which are lost, stolen or damaged during the display of the same at any community event. 

• If the Platinum or Silver option is chosen, I acknowledge that I am entitled to set up a table, booth or tent at community events during 
the term  of this agreement. The set-up of such table, booth or tent will be in such locations and for such duration as determined by the 
District. It is my responsibility to set up such table, booth or tent prior to the event and to remove it at the conclusion of the event. The 
District may also place restrictions on the size of such tables, booths or tents that may be used. The District shall not be responsible for 
any tables, booths, tents or other materials or property which are lost, stolen or damaged during the display of the same at any 
community event. 

• It is my responsibility to provide the District with a donation with a minimum value of $50 in a format as required by the District for 
resident giveaways as set forth in the Community Partnership Program Details Document. This must be received in our District office 
(please see address below) within 4 weeks of our acceptance of your Community Partner Agreement. 

• I represent that my business is in good standing with the Colorado Secretary of State, as evidenced by the attached Certificate of Good 
Standing. 

 
Company Representative Signature: Date:  

District Representative Signature: Date:    

 

Please retain a copy of this form as your receipt of payment and record of acceptance. 
 
 
 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District │ 17685 W 83rd Dr, Arvada, CO 80007 │ 303-423-0270 



Platinum
$1500

Silver
$1000

Bronze
$500

Minimum of 
10 spotlights 

per year

Minimum of 6 
spotlights per 
year

Minimum of 2 
spotlights per 
year

New Homeowner Welcome Bags

5 events 2 events

Resident Giveaways

Platinum receives access to all  A La Carte Options no cost - Silver receives accesss to 2 A La Carte Options no cost
Cost

$150

$50

$50

Host a Community Event, sponsor responsible for all aspects of event, the district will help promote. $50

$50

$25

Community Website: Logo & Listing (www.leydenrocklife.com)
      - 1,400+ Resident Subscribers

Company Branded Business Items and Discount Coupons Distributed In All New Homeowner Welcome Bags

Additional Company Spotlight and Thank You included in electronic newsletter announcement of resident giveaway 
winner
     - Company will donate a gift card, gift basket, or similar prize with a minimum value of $50 that we will give away 
to residents throughout the year.

Community Partnership Program
Packages Listed Reflect a One-Year Calendar Year Agreement for 2025 (January 1 through December 31, 2025)

Community Partnership Packages

Electronic Advertising

Community Event Participation

Company Logo & Website Link on District eNewsletters
     - 2216 Contacts on District Email List
     - Minimum 2x/month electronic newsletter communications with contact list
     - Additional  Lifestyle/Sponsor focused electronic newsletter communication

Company Spotlight with Business Blurb Lifestyle/Sponsor focused electronic Community Newsletter
Company Spotlights are limited  one per newsletter.

Provide Business Cards for 250 Welcome Bags (distributed by the District)

Table/Booth/Tent set-up during Signature Community Event (per event) (may substitute prize, same value instead of $150 pmt)

Option

Table/Booth/Tent Set-up at  Signature Community Events
     - Talk with neighbors
     - Distribute Company Branded Items & Discount Coupons

A La Carte/Add On Partnership Options

Community  Event Host
  - Company logo on all Community Event Signage( ex. Ping pong tourney, back to school, trivia night, etc)

Host an Educational Event sponsored by the District (host provides snacks & drinks), 5 minute Company intro, leave business swag

Provide Business Swag and/or Discount Coupons for 250 Welcome Bags (distributed by the District)

Booth set-up during non signature event (per event)(may substitute prize, same value instead of $50 pmt)


	2024-11-20 Agenda
	2024-10-15 Minutes
	2024-11-07 Minutes
	Agreement with Lee Design Group 
	Agreement with Bedrock LLC 
	Agreement with Peak One Pool 
	First Amendment to Agreement with Weed Wranglers, Inc.
	Second Amendment to Agreement with AdvanceHOA
	Third Amendment to Agreement with Mile High Pools
	Agreement with Pinnacle Consulting Group 
	Agreement with Moon Hopper Inflatables
	Agreement with Diann Smith d/b/a The Smithsonian 
	Agreement with Amaezing Entertainment LLC
	Agreement with Broken Spoke LLC
	Agreement with Keesen Landscape
	Agreement with Preservation Tree Care
	Agreement with Tashmo Ko., Co. d/b/a Serendipity Catering 
	Agreement with Republic Services/Allied Waste
	Agreement with Timberline Mechanical
	Agreement with Done & Dusted d/b/a Helping Hand
	Requisition No. 19
	Requisition No. 20
	Resolution Establishing Guidelines for the Processing and Collection of Delinquent Fees and Covenant Enforcement Charges
	Resolution Regarding Policies, Procedures and Penalties for the Enforcement of Governing Documents
	Payables
	Financials
	District Manager's Report
	Pet Waste Station Vendor
	Agreement with Pet Scoop
	2025 Sponsorship Program



